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TEN-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

Consolidated income Statement Summary

tor the year ended 31st December

HK$ million 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998
Group turnover 1,865 1,822 2,247 2,507 2468 2,533 2900 3,160 3,085 3,291
Share of turnover of jointly
controlled entities 4,024 ¢ 2977 2,503 1,953 1,841 1,723 1,522 778 124 81
Profit attnibutable to {
shareholders , 4,772 ' 3670 6,007 3,523 32717 3,199 3081 3,128 3,043 2,770
Dividends ' !
Interim dividend paid 609 : 564 541 496 485 485 473 451 293 27
Proposed final dividend + 1,81 : 1,680 1,596 1,285 1,127 1,048 g47 802 654 586
, 2,480 l 2,254 2,137 1,781 1612 1,533 1,420 1,353 947 857
Consolidated Balance Sheet Summary
as at 31st December
HK$ mulhon 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002 2000 2000 1999 1998
Property, plant and equipment 1,121 I Y 9t9 1,864 1,410 1,587 1,721 1,840 1,890 1,887
Investment properties 160 130 59 - - - - - - -
Leasehold land ! 292 f 301 326 383 394 405 416 427 438 449
Interests tn associates 30,389 i 29,382 26,911 25261 23334 22,012 17,863 18466 10,831 B388
Interests in joinily controlled E
entities | 3,176 | 4238 4337 4,801 4836 4538 4606 4,791 2,591 2,276
Interests in infrastructure project ! |
Investments 377 450 579 1,855 1,948 2,465 3,469 4,294 6,280 7,056
Investments in securities ' 4,187 ! 3,064 2092 1,188 2,091 803 759 754 676 -
Dervative financial instruments 55 | 38 447 - - - - - - -
Goodwill 209 , 205 175 257 - - - - - -
Deferred tax assets 5 E - - - - - - - - -
Other non-current assets 19 13 9 14 36 43 43 39 " 6
Current assets . 9,452 , 8770 8701 10,070 8077 8121 5193 4034 3171 2838
Total assets 49,442 : 47,622 44555 45693 42,126 39974 34070 34645 25938 23400
Current liabilities (4,802)) (5,648) (1,221) (1,314) (2,009) (2,939) (4,726) (4,526) (609) (686)
Non-current habilities (5,183), (6,109) (9,798) (13,399) (1 1,230) (10,487) (4,591) (7,087) (4,055) (3,203)
Total habilities (9,985)' (11,757) {(11,019) (14,713) (13,239} (13426) (9.317) (11.613) (4,664) (3,889)
Minonity interests {48) a1) (38) {206) (209) {219) (224) (256) {293)  (256)
Equrty attnbutable to
shareholders 39,409 ' 35824 33,498 30,774 28678 26,329 24529 22,776 21,021 19255
Per Share Data
HK$ 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998
Earmings per share 212 163 266 156 145 142 137 139 135 123
Dwvidends per share 1100 1000 0948 0790 0715 0680 0630 0600 0420 0380
Shareholders equity
- net book value per share 1748 1589 1486 1365 1272 1168 1088 1010 933 854
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CHAIRMAN'S LETTER

' HIGHLIGHTS
o Profit increased by 30% to reach HKS4,772 million

e Total dividend for 2007 of HKS$1 10 per share,
an increase of 10%

° Strong operating performance in all businesses
—Hongkong Electrnic — up 9%
— China portfolto — increased by 78%
— Australia portfoho — 352% rise
- UK portfolio — up 45%
- Materials business — increased by 30%

s Milestones in 2007:
— Commussioning of Jinwan Phase 1 Power Plant in
Mainland China
— Extension of Jinwan Phase 2 Power Plant
— Acquisttion of TransAlta Power in Canada
— Acquisition of strategic stake in UK Southern Water

» Strong balance sheet, cash on hand of
HK$8,217 million, ready for future acquisitions
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Cheung Kong Infrastructure Holdings Limited (“CKI" or the “Group”) reached
new heights in 2007

For the year ended 31st December, 2007, CKI's group turnover and its share of
turnover of jointly controlled entities was HK$5 9 billion, an increase of 23 per cent
over the same period last year Audited profit attnbutable to shareholders was
HK$4 8 billion, a significant increase of 30 per cent over 2006 Earnings per share
were HK$2 12

CKI continues to have a very strong balance sheet Cash on hand amounted to
HK$8 2 billion as at 31st December, 2007, while debt was HK$7 6 billion, resulting
in no net debt at the corporate level Our “A-" rating from Standard and Poor's
has been maintained for the 11th consecutive year since hsting

The Board of Directors of CKI {the “Board") has recommended a final dvidend of
HK$0 83 per share Together with the intenm dvidend of HK30 27 per share, this
will bring the total dividend for the year to HK$1 10 per share, a 10 per centincrease

over last year This represents 11 years of dividend growth every year since the Group's
listing in 1996 The proposed dividend will be paid on 20th May, 2008 following
approval at the Annual General Meeting, to shareholders whose names appear

on the Register of Members of the Company on 15th May, 2008
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CHAIRMAN'S LETTER

6

Several new projects were concluded in the year adding to the robust portfolio of
businesses CKI has built up over the years, which now compinse

- A power generation portfohio in Hong Kong, Maintand China and Canada that
exceeds 10,000 MW,

- Electnaity distribution networks in Hong Kong and Australia,
- Gas distribution businesses in the United Kingdom and Australia,
- Water assets in the United Kingdom and Austrakia, and

- Toll roads and bridges that cover approximately 400 kilometres in varous provinces
throughout Mainland China

2007 OPERATIONS REVIEW

Hongkeng Electric

Profit contribution from Hongkong Electric Holdings Limited (*Hongkong Electnic™)
recorded growth of 9 per cent, amounting to HK$2 9 billion in 2007 Hongkong Electnic
entered into a new Scheme of Control Agreement with the Hong Kong Government
which provides for a fixed permitted return on average net fixed assets for ten years
from lanuary 2009, with a Government option to extend the agreement for a further
term of five years This agreement removes uncertainties surrounding the electricity
industry In Hong Kong and under this long-term stable regulatory framework, Hongkong
Electric will continue to make a steady profit contnbution to CKI

International Infrastructure Investments

Mainland China
Profit contribution from CK¥'s China portfolio in 2007 was HK$1 6 billion, an increase

of 78 per cent over the same perod last year

The Group's energy Investments reported solid performance on the back of increasing
electricity demand in Mainland China
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Zhuhat Power Plant continued to be a solid performer in our China portiolio in 2007
An extension to the Zhuhal Power Plant, Jinwan Phase 1 Power Plant project, was
commussioned in February 2007 This project added 1,200 MW of electricity generation
capacity, providing additional profit contribution to the Group In October 2007,

CKl signed an agreement o develop the Jinwan Phase 2 Power Plant project, which
will comprise two new power plant units wath total installed capacity of 2,000 MW

CKlI's Siping Cogen Power Plants in Jilin also performed well duning the year

The Group’s portfolio of tolf roads in Mainland China achieved stable performance
In 2007 A one-off gain of HK$815 mullion was recorded arising from the sale of our
stake in the Guangzhou East-South-West Ring Road to our joint venture partner

Austraha
Profit contnbution from the Group’s Australian businesses increased over three-fold

to HK$289 milhion

The electricity distrtbution businesses delivered good operating results in 2007 ETSA
Utilhties, CitiPower [ Pty Ltd and Powercor Australia Limited recorded enhanced returns
through both increased regulated revenue and expanded non-regulated business activities

Qur strategic investments in two listed energy companies in Australia, namely Envestra
timited and Spark Infrastructure Group, performed well durning the year

In early 2007, the Group divested 21 per cent of its 40 per cent stake in the Lane Cove
Tunnet In Sydney, Australia, bnnging its shareholding down to 19 per cent Subsequently,
after tunnel opening in March 2007, traffic levels have been significantly lower than
expected As a result, full provision has been made against the remaining carrying

value of this investment

United Kingdom
In the United Kingdom, a 45 per cent increase was reported by our water and gas

businesses, with a total profit contnbution of HK$458 million

Strong growth was achieved by Northern Gas Networks Limited (“Northern Gas
Networks®) The regulatory reset for the period 2008-2013 was completed in
December 2007 This will provide Northern Gas Networks with a high degree of
incorne certanty for the next five years
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CHAIRMAN'S LETTER

In the water business, stable cash and profit returns were generated by Cambridge Water
PLC dunng the penod under review

Our portfolio of investments in the United Kingdom was extended with the acquisition
of a stake in Southern Water Group {“Southern Water"} in the fourth quarter of 2007
Southern Water 1s a requlated water and sewage company in the United Kingdom, with
an enterprise value of approximately HK$66 billion (GBP 4 2 billion) Qur 4 75 per ¢ent
stake in Southern Water provides immediate earming accretion and good returns

New Market - Canada
2007 marked our first electricity generation investment in North America CKI acquired

and subsequently privatised TransAlta Power, L P (“TransAlta Power”), which was
previously listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange TransAlta Power has stakes in six
Canadian power plants with a total generating capacity of 1,362 MW The total cost
of acquisition was HK$5 billion (C$630 rillion) CKI subsequently divested 50 per cent
of s interest to Hongkong Electric The acquisition represents a springboard for CKI
into the Canadian electricity market and provides an immedtate cashflow stream and
profit contnibution to the Group in 2008

Matenals business

Our matenals business performed well in 2007 With the resurgence of the property
and nfrastructure markets, the demand for the matenals business improved and
generated a profit contnibution of HK$143 million, up 30 per cent from last year

PROSPECTS
CKl1s 1n a formidable posttion to capitalise on development opportunities which are

generally expected to arise in the near term

The regulatory settlements for Hongkong Electric and Northern Gas Networks have been
completed and uncertamties resolved
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The strong recurring cashflow generated from our requlated businesses underpin the
Group's long-term stability, while contributions frorm our global portfolio continue to
grow The prospects for CKI's infrastructure investments are bnght, with the pace of
arganic growth experienced to date expected to continue

At present, our cash on hand stands at HK$8 2 hilhon, while debt stands at HK$7 6 billion,
resulting in no net debt at the corporate level With the Group’s sold balance sheet, we
are well-positioned to pursue new expansion opportunities

The ongoing global credit crisis means that ready cash 15 a vital commodity CKi's
strong recurring cashflow and ample cash reserves should prove to be very tmely in
such crcumstances We look forward to leveraging on our positien of strength to take
advantage of potential opportunities for further expansion and dwersification

| would like to take this opportunity to thank the Board, management and staff of CK)
for their dedication and efforts, as well as our shareholders for their unwavenng support
of the Group

Li/'l'zar Kuoi, Victor

Chairman

Hong Kong, 17th March, 2008
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In 2007, CKI achieved a strong performance, both in terms of
finanaial and operating results

Profit attributable to shareholders reached HK$4,772 million
for the penod under review, representing a 30% nise over last
year As well as sustaining profit growth, we have delivered a
consistent trend of dividend growth to our shareholders for

11 consecutive years since histing In 2007, the tota! dividend
for the year was HK$1 10 per share, up by 10% over last year
CKI has built a solid financial foundation, with cash on hand of
HK$8,217 miliion and no net debt at corporate level

Qur diverse portfolto of quahty infrastructure assets has
performed well over the past year, achieving continued organic
growth In addition, we made three new investments across
three continents that have further expanded our business scope




during the year Through diversification and globalization, CKI has evolved from being a
Hong Kong and Mainland China focused company into a leading infrastructure player on

the world stage

NEW MILESTONES IN 2007
In 2007, CKI made considerable strides in further expanding our portfolio of infrastructure
mnvestments, with new milestones n three different countries

We signed an agreement in October with our Mainland partner to invest around RMB 6 8

biflion to build two new power plants — Jinwan Phase 2 Power Plant project — in Zhuha i
They will have a total installed capacity of 2,000 MW This development 1s poised to ‘
further enhance the power generating capabilities of our electneity investments in Zhuhat

to a total installed capacity of 4,600 MW With the demand for power 1n the Pearl River

Delta region continuing to mount, our electncity operations in Zhuhat have been a major

profit contributor in our Mainland portfolio for a number of years now and we expect this

trend to continue

In the United Kingdom, we extended our investment portfolio with the acquisition of

a stake in Southern Water Group A regulated water and sewage company with an
renterprise value of approximately HK$66 billion (GBP 4 2 billion), Southern Water provides

service to the South of England CKl holds a 4 75% interest in this asset This investment

generates immediate earnings accretion and good returns

[

% Dunng the course of 2007, we also made our first electricity generation investment
in North Amenca CKI successfully acquired and privatized TransAlta
Power, L P, a company that was prewously I|sted on the Toronto Stock
Exchange It has stakes i six Canad|an power plants wnth a total ' . " .
generatmg capacity of 1,362 MW The‘total tost of the acquus:tlon R
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GROUP MANAGING DIRECTOR'S REPORT
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was approximately HK$5 bulion (C$630 million) 50% of CKI's shareholding was
subsequently divested to Hongkong Electric We expect that this acquisition will provide
immediate cashflow stream and profit contnbution to the Group In the coming year

These new developments represent more hughlights i our story of diversification,
globalization and expansion As well as extending our reach in different markets and
industries, these acquisitions will strengthen our financral foundation for continued
growth

A DIVERSIFIED PORTFOLIO OF QUALITY ASSETS

Following the fruitfu! business developments of 2007, CKI has enhanced our position as

a leading global infrastructure player We now have built a strong portfolio of businesses
that comprises a power generation portfolto in Hong Kong, Manfand China and Canada
with a total installed capaaity that will exceed 10,000 MW, an electrioty distribution
netwaork that covers Hong Kong and Australia, gas businesses in the United Kingdom and
Australia, water assets in the United Kingdom and Australia, approximately 400 kilometres
of toll roads and bridges in vanious provinces in Mainland China, and cement, concrete
and quarry operations in Hong Kong, Mainland China and the Philippines

Over the years, our quality investments have delivered steady income streams to CKI Qur
portfohio of infrastructure assets, comprising a high proportion of regulated businesses,
has achieved robust organic growth over the years We expect that this trend of positive
and certamn profit contribution will be sustained by these businesses in the years to come

CHEUNG KONG INFRASTRUCTURE HOLDINGS LIMITED




PLANS FOR CONTINUED EXPANSION

The current economic cimate and ongoing credit cnisis presents real opportunity for
companies with financial depth and strong cash reserves CKI's solid balance sheet, with
! cash on hand of HK$8,217 milion, 15 a real competitive edge in this environment

The Group will aggressively pursue new acquisition opportunries that will further enhance
our portfolio Given the capital intensive nature of the industry, we are regarded as one

of the few ready, willing and able players We are keeping 2 close eye on developments

in the Astan, North Amernican, Australlan and European markets for opportunities for
continued diversification

At the same time, we will also nurture the organic growth of cur existing businesses and
maximize the performance of our guality infrastructure portfolio

We are very optimistic about our prospects as a leading infrastructure company in the . '
global market and look forward to generating even better returns for our shareholders '

;( .
H L Kam

Group Managing Director

Hong Keng, 17th March, 2008
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Inttiatives to raise awareness and promote public understanding of renewable energy in
Hong Kong were also successful The 800 kW Lamrma Winds wind turbine and exhibition
centre has continued to be a popular renewable energy attraction

In earty 2008, a new Scheme of Control Agreement was signed by Hongkong Electric

and the Hong Kong Government for ten years commencing 1 January 2009, with a
Government option to extend the agreement for a further term of 5 years The agreement
provides for a 9 99% permitted rate of return on average net fixed assets other than for
renewable energy fixed assets for which the permitted return 1s 11% The new Scheme

of Control Agreement provides a certain and stable long-term regulatory framework for
Hong Kong's electricity industry

INTERNATIONAL OPERATIONS
The overseas energy businesses of Hongkong Electric performed well duning the year to
enhance overall profitability

The Australian electricity distribution businesses in South Australia and Victoria delivered
good results, with htgher revenue recorded

In the United Kingdom, Hongkong Electric holds a 19 9% stake in Northern Gas Networks
Limited Very satisfactory growth was recorded by this business during the year, in excess
of intial forecasts

Construction of the 1,400 MW gas fired Ratchabur Power Station in Thalland 15
progressing well The first 700 MW umit commenced commercial operation in early
March 2008, while the second unit 1s scheduled for commissioning in June 2008

In Canada, Hongkong Electnic acquired a 50% stake in Stanley Power Inc at the end of
2007 Stanley Power holds a 49 99% interest in TransAlta Cogeneration, L P, which
has interests in six power plants in Canada

ANNUAL REPORT 2007 U7/
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BUSINESS REVIEW

INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENTS

ENERGY

t

1 I
' i

ETSA Utihities the electnaty CitiPower supplies electncrty to Melbourne’s central business distnct and mner suburbs

distnbution business for the state
of South Austraha, recorded strong

performance AUSTRALIAN ENERGY
CKi, together with Hongkong Electric, 1s the largest electricity distnbutor in Austrahia, with
operations In the states of South Australia and Victoria CKl 1s also a strategic shareholder

in Australia's largest listed natural gas distrbution company

ETSA Utilities

ETSA Utities, which employs about 1,700 people, 1s the electricity distribution business
for the state of South Austraha The primary role of ETSA Utilities 1s the safe and rehable
detvery of electnaity from high voltage transmission network connection peints to
residential and business customers throughcut the state Serving over 792,000 custorners,
ETSA Utllities supports a network comprising 382 zone substations and powerlines

covening a route length of 85,500 kilometres

In 2007, ETSA Utilities recorded a strong performance through enhanced regulated
revenue and an increase in the scope of 1ts non-requlated businesses

CKI together with Hongkong Electric own a 51% stake in this electricity distribution
business

CHEDHA Holdings Pty Ltd

CHEDHA Holdings 1s the holding company of Powercor and CitiPower, n which CKI
and Hongkong Electric hold a combined 51% stake During the year, these electricity
distribution businesses generated strong cash returns to CKI, exceeding projections




western Victonia and Melbourne’s outer suburbs

Powercor Australta Limited

Powercor 15 Victoria's largest electriaity distributor, supplying electniaty to regional and
rural centres in centrai and western Victona, and Melbourne’s outer western suburbs
Powercor services approximately 673,000 customers It also has three successful non-
regulated businesses Powercor Network Services, Powercor IT and Customer Services

CittPower ! Pty Ltd

CitiPower, which operates the most rehable electricity network in Austraha, supplies
electricity to approximately 300,000 customers in Melbaurne's central business district and
inner suburbs

Spark Infrastructure Group

Spark Infrastructure 1s a leading Australian utifity infrastructure investment group with a
portfoho that comprises 49% interests in each of CrtiPower, Powercor and ETSA Utiities
CKlI holds an 8 7% stake in Spark [nfrastructure, as well as is a joint asset manager of this
infrastructure investment group During the year, Spark Infrastructure performed well on
the back of good results from its infrastructure investments

Envestra Limited

Envestra 1s Australia’s largest natural gas distribution company It owns about 20,000
kilometres of natural gas distnbution pipelines and 1,000 kilometres of transmission
pipelines, serving areund ene million consumers In South Australia, Victora, Queensland,
New South Wales and the Northern Terrnitory Revenue 1s generated by charging retailers
for the transportation of natural gas through these netwarks In 2007, the company
celebrated its 10th year of listing on the Australian Stock Exchange

The Group holds a 16 8% stake in Envestra, a distribution asset that continues
to generate double-digit cash yields for CK!

ANNUAL REFORT 2007,
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BUSINESS REVIEW

INVESTMENT IN

HONGKONG ELECTR

Hongkong Electric recorded a stable performance in 2007 Consolidated net profit after
tax was HK$7,448 million, an increase of 8 3% over the previous year Earrings from
Hong Kong operations were HK$6,727 million, a nse of 9 0% as a result of higher unit
sales of electricity, the impact of no speaial rebate in 2007 and hugher interest income
Earnings from Hongkong Electric’s international operations were HK$721 million, a 7 8%
increase over 2006 primarily due to higher earnings from its Australian energy businesses

HONG KONG OPERATIONS

In 2007, Hongkong Electric’s unit sales of electricity grew by 1 1%, an improvement as
compared with 0 2% growth recorded in 2006 The period under review saw the number
of domestic and commercial customers increase shightly, while the number of industria!
sector customers recorded a shght decrease

Supply rehability was maintained at over 99 999% n 2007, a standard consistently
achieved by Hongkong Electric since 1997

Hongkong Electric's emission reduction programme at the Lamma Power Station
progressed well in 2007, as the company steadily moves towards achieving the Hong Kong
Government's emussion targets The first gas fred combined cycle unit, Unit 9, generated
17% of the electnicity sent out from the Lamma Power Station This has helped to reduce
Hongkong Electric’s overalt emission levels




a total population of 6 7 million

UK GAS

Northern Gas Networks Limited 1s responsible for distributing gas to homes and businesses
across the North of England, an area covering West, East and North Yorkshire, as well as
the North East and Northern Cumbna Its network comprises 36,000 kilometres of gas
pipes and its network area comprises large cities such as Newcastle, York, Sunderland,
teeds, Hull and Bradford and a sigrificant rural area including North Yorkshire and
Cumbria, with a total population of 6 7 milhon

CKl holds a 40% stake in this business Returns to date have exceeded the Group's tnitial
forecasts Following the satisfactory conclusion of the tanff reset in December 2007,
Northern Gas Networks 15 expected to provide secure and predictable returns to CK|

for the ensuing regulatory period 2008-2013 Duning the year, Northern Gas Networks
was named the most efficient gas network by the United Kingdom's gas and efectnicity
regulator, setting new benchmarks for the entire industry

ELECTRICITY IN CANADA

TransAlta Power, L P owns a 49 99% interest in TransAlta Cogeneration, L P, which
has stakes in six Canadian generating plants They include five natural-gas powered
cogeneration plants in Alberta, Saskatchewan and Ontario, and a coal-fired
generation plant in Alberta The plants have a total generating capacity of 1,362 MW
of electrnc power

In 2007, CKi acquired and privatized TransAlta Power, which was previously listed on the
Toronto Stock Exchange This marked the Group’s first electncity generation investment

in North America The bustness 1s now jointly owned by CKI and Hongkong Electric, and 1s
expected to provide immediate cashflow and attractive returns to CKI

ANNUAL REFORT 2007







BUSINESS REVIEW

INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENTS

ENERGY

CHINA POWER
Amidst strong economic growth and an indefatigable appetite for power in Mainland
China, the Group’s energy portfalio performed very well

The Zhuhai Power Plant remains a key project in CKI's power portfolio in Mainland China,
delivering an outstanding performance in 2007 Achieving over 6,000 operating hours,
this represented excess generation of more than 25% over the Annual Minimum Quantity
In addition, the flue gas desulfunization plant was put into cornmercial operation at the
beginning of 2007

As an extension 10 the Zhuhai Power Plant, Jinwan Phase 1 Power Plant project was
commussioned and has provided profit contribution since February 2007 It has added
1,200 MW of generating capacity to CKi's operations in Zhuhai Beth units generated

6 2 billion kwh of power during the year, representing a very satisfactory utlization rate
for a newly commussioned power generation plant Equipped with an advanced flue gas
desulfurization system, the efficiency of Jinwan Phase 1 Power Plant project has complied
with all relevant regulations

tn Cctober 2007, CKi signed an agreement to develop the Jinwan Phase 2 Power Plant
project, which will compnse two new power plant units with total installed capaaty of
2,600 MW The project feasibility report, evaluation of major equipment bids and contract
negotiation, as well as preliminary plant design, are all in progress Following the requisite
government approvals, construction will begin on Jinwan Phase 2 Power Plant project and
operations are expected to commence in 2010

Given the strong growth of power demand in the Pear! River Delta region, the power plant
operations in Zhuha are expected to play a key role in CKI's Mainland China portfolio for
many years 1o come

CKi also holds a 45% stake in the Stping Cogen Power Plants in Jilin, which have a total
capacity of 200 MW The output of the Siping Plants achieved a record performance

in 2007, with about 1 4 billion kWh of electricity generated Heat sold dunng the year
increased to 2 89 million G), an increase of 18% over last year




AUSTRALIAN PROJECT
In early 2007, the Group reduced 1ts 40% stake in the Lane Cove Tunnel to 19%
Subsequently, following its opening in March 2007, traffic levels for the tunnel have been
lower than expected in light of this, a full proviston has been made against the remaining
carrying value of this investment




~ With'investments in the United Kingdom and Aust
KI'S.water businesses have delivered stable returns::
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CAMBRIDGE WATER PLC
Supplying fresh water to customers in an area of 1,175 sq km in South Cambridgeshire in
the Untted Kingdom, Cambndge Water serves a population of approximately 300,000

During the year, Cambridge Water achieved a satisfactory performance and generated
good returns for CKI




BUSINESS REVIEW

INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENTS

WATER

CAMBRIDGE WATER PLC
Supplying fresh water to customers in an area of 1,175 sq km in South Cambridgeshire in

the United Kingdom, Cambridge Water serves a population of appraximately 300,000

Dunng the year, Cambridge Water achieved a sausfactory performance and generated

good returns for CK!




BUSINESS REVIEW

INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENTS

TRANSPORTATION

CHINA TRANSPORTATION

CKI's portfolio of toll roads in Mamland China achieved a stable performance in 2007 As
a result of strong growth in Guangdong Province, both the Shen-Shan Highway (Eastern
Section) and Shantou Bay Bridge delivered good performances during the year Toll road
Income increased, with double-digit growth in revenue as compared with last year A
one-off gain of HK$815 mullion was recorded from the sale of the Group’s stake in the
Guangzhou East-South-West Ring Road ta its Chinese partner

B



SOUTHERN WATER GROUP

Southern Water 15 a reguiated business which supphies water to approximately

2 3 million people and wastewater services to 4 3 mithon peopie 1n the United Kingdom
its geographical reach covers an area of 10,550 sq km in the counties of Kent, Fast and
Wast Sussex, Hampshire, and the Isle of Wight, as well as a part of Wiltshire,

Berkshire and Surrey

Following s acquisition n 2007, CKI now has a 4 75% stake in Southern Water, taking
advantage of a strategic Investment opportunity that will provide immediate earnings
accretion and cashflow to the Group

AQUATOWER PTY LINITED
AguaTower 1s the exclusive patable water supplier of four regianal towns in Victona,
Australia The company provides an essential service to around 25,000 people

CKl holds a 49% nterest in AguaTower This project has generated stable contributions
during the year




The Group is Hong Kong's leading infrastructure materials company
in cement, concrete and aggregates businesses.




BUSINESS REVIEW

INFRASTRUCTURE
RELATED BUSINESS

Overall, the performance of CKI's matenals businesses improved as compared to the
previous few years Profit contribution from matenals operations in Hong Kong and
Marniand Cha increased by 30% over the same period n 2006 as a result of effective
cost savings, higher selling prices and improved margins Cutiook for the construction
industry in Hong Kong 1s more optimistic as a result of the Government's plan to develop
more mator infrastructure projects in the coming few years

CEMENT
in 2007, desprte the rising cost of coal and mounting freight charges, Green Island
Cement Company Limited achieved a stable performance



in Mainland China, benefiting from the growing cement demand ansing from increasing
construction activity in the Guangdong region, the Group’s cement operations in Yunfu
recorded a continual improvement in profit margin

CONCRETE AND AGGREGATES

Alllance Construction Materials Limited, a 50/50 joint venture between CKI and Hanson
PLC, maintained its market leadership position tn Hong Kong's concrete industry The
company reported a satisfactory performance in 2007, with increased profit contnbution
through disciplined pricing and cost management

In support of its concrete business, Alliance 1s also engaged in the supply of aggregates

It holds an interest In all three quarries in Hong Kong and 1s one of the largest suppliers of
aggregates In the terntory Alliance 1s explonng future reserve opportunities in the Pearl
River Delta region to expand its sources of aggregates supply
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

FINANCIAL RESOURCES, TREASURY ACTIVITIES AND GEARING
RATIO

The Group's capital expenditure and investments were funded from cash on hand, internal
cash generation, syndicated loans, notes 1ssued and other project loans

As at 31st December, 2007, total borrowangs of the Group amounted to HK$7,579 million,
which are all denominated in foreign currencies Of the total borrowings, 39 per cent were
repayable In 2008, 33 per cent were repayable between 2009 and 2012 and 28 per cent
repayable beyond 2012 The Group's finanaing activities continue to be well recetved and
fully supported by its bankers

The Group adopts conservative treasury policies in cash and finanaial management To
achieve better risk control and minimuse the cost of funds, the Group's treasury activities
are centralised Cash 1s generally placed in short-term deposits mostly denominated in

U'S dollars, Hong Kong dollars, Australian dollars or Pounds Sterling The Group's hquidity
and financing requirements are reviewed regularly The Group will continue to maintain

a strong capital structure when considering financing for new investments or maturity of
bank Ioans

As at 31st December, 2007, the Group has changed to a net cash position from the
4 per cent gearing of net debt to shareholders’ equity at the year end of 2006 Such
change was mainly due to proceeds from divestment of interests in certain projects in
Mainland China and Australia during the current year

To minimse currency nisk exposure In respect of its investments in other countries, the
Group generally hedges those investments with the appropriate level of borrowings
denominated in the local currencies of those countnies The Group also entered into
certain Interest rate and currency swaps to mitigate interest rate and other currency
exposure risks As at 31st December, 2007, the notional amounts of these denvative
instruments armounted to HK$9,569 million
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CHARGE ON GROUP ASSETS

As at 31st December, 2007, the Group's mterests in an affihated company with carrying
value of HK$2,082 million were pledged as part of the secunty to secure bank borrowings
totalling HK$2,231 million granted 1o the affilated company The Group's obligations
under finance leases totaling HK$49 million were secured by charge over the leased
assets with carrying value of HK$263 million Moreover, certain plant and machinery of
the Group with carrying value of HK$67 million were pledged to secure bank borrowings
totalling HK$44 million granted to the Group

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 31st December, 2007, the Group was subject to the following contingent habilities

Guarantee in respect of a bank loan drawn by an affiliated company 2522

Performance bonds . 59t

i

! Total ; 2,581 !
EMPLOYEES

The Group, including its subsidiartes but excluding affiliated companies, employs a total
of 1,020 employees Employees’ cost (excluding directors’ emocluments) amounted to
HK$274 milhon The Group ensures that the pay levels of 1ts employees are competitive
and that 1ts employees are rewarded on a performance related basis within the general
framework of the Group's salary and bonus system

Preferential subscription of 2,978,000 new shares of the Company was given to
those employees who had subscribed for shares of HK$1 00 each in the Company
at HK$12 65 per share on the flotation of the Company n 1996 The Group does not
have any share option scheme for employees
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'i"!]'LI :Tzar Ku0| Vlctor aged 43 ghas been the Chalrman of the Company since its

' S “wa -a‘r :
- ne %

i i
coe- uncorporatmn |n May 1996 18 15 the., Chalgman of the Remuneration Commuttee of

A *‘:z‘,, the Caﬁﬁzﬂny He_ [‘s,qlsg‘thigcé:;;i;n?n@oftk Life Scnences Int'l, (Holdings) Inc, the
Mtxf;{%éﬂp ‘azag:ng Dlrectonand Deputy;Chalrmamof Cheung Kong {Holdings) Limited, Deputy
; e SN Cﬁ@rman of Hutc,hlfon Whampoa lelted an Executive Director of Hongkong Electric
;:: '\;; - '«"L:‘} mg 1‘:‘ i’?é; ¥ ‘Haldlvn‘g_s le!tEd fEe Co Chalrman of Husky Energy Inc and a Director of The Hongkeng
‘,,‘%;gy‘f qés‘i‘?t%‘&?ﬁ}ib;fgﬁ e 'and Shanghal Banklng Corporatlon lelted Mr Victor Li serves as a member of the
i%%h;ﬁgf}%ﬁ%}%;“ *; o Standmg Commlttee of the 11th Natlonal Commuttee of the Chinese Peopie's Pohtical
AR A R Consultatlve Conference of the People’s Republic of China He 1s also a member of the
-1_‘.1 o TR i Commussion on Strategic Development of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region

He acts as a director of the substantial shareholders of the Company within the meaning
of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO™), namely Cheung Kong (Holdings)
Limited, Hutchison Whampoa Limited and Hutchison International Limited He holds a
Bachelor of Science degree in Civil Engineering and a Master of Saence degree in
Structural Engineering Mr Victor Liis son of Mr Li Ka-shing, a substantral shareholder of

the Company wrthin the meaning of Part XV of the SFQ, and nephew of Mr Kam Hing Lam,

the Group Managing Director of the Company
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KAM Hing Lam, aged 61, has been the Group Managing Director of the Company
since Its incorporation I May 1996 He has aiso been the Deputy Managing Director

of Cheung Kong {Holdings) Limited since February 1993 He is also the President and
Chief Executive Officer of CK Life Scrences Int’l, {(Holdings) Inc , an Executive Director of
Hutchison Whampoa Limited and Hongkong Electric Holdings Limited, and a Non-executive
Director of Spark Infrastructure Group He acts as a director of the substantial shareholders
of the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO, namely Cheung Kong (Holdings)
Limited, Hutchison Whampeoa Limited and Hutchison International imited Mr Kam

1s a member of the Beijing Commuttee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference of the People’s Republic of China He holds a Bachelor of Science degree in
Engineering and a Master's degree in Business Administraton Mr Kam is uncle of

Mr s Tzar Kuol, Victor, the Chairman of the Company

IP Tak Chuen, Edmond, aged 55, has been an Executive Director of the Company
since its ncorporation in May 1996 and Deputy Chairman of the Company since
February 2003 He I1s also Deputy Managing Director of Cheung Kong (Holdings) Limited,
which 1s a substantial sharehelder of the Company withun the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO In addition, he is the Senior Vice President and Chref Investment Officer of CK Life
Sciences Int'l, {Holdings} Inc, a Non-executive Director of TOM Group Limited and ARA
Asset Management Limited, and a Director of ARA Asset Management {Singapore)
Limited and ARA Trust Management {Suntec) Limited He holds a Bachelor of Arts
degree In Economics and a Master of Sctence degree in Business Administration

FOK Kin Ning, Canning, aged 56, has been an Executive Director and Deputy
Chairman of the Company since March 1997 He is currently the Group Managing
Birector of Hutchison Whampoa Limited and a Non-executive Director of Cheung

Kong (Holdings) Limited, both being substantial shareholders of the Company within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO In addition, Mr Fokis the Chairman of Hutchison
Harbour Ring Limited, Hutchison Telecommunications International Limited, Hutchison
Telecommunications {Australia) Limited, Hongkong Electric Holdings Limited and Partner
Communications Company Ltd and the Co-Chairman of Husky Energy Inc He also acts
as a director of Hutchison International Limited, which 1s also a substantial shareholder
of the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO He holds a Bachelor of Arts
degree and a Diploma in Financial Management, and 1s a member of the Australian

Institute of Chartered Accountants
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DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION (CONT’D)

Andrew John HUNTER, aged 49, has been an Executive Director and Chief Operating
Officer of the Company since December 2006 Mr Hunter is currently the Chief Financial
Officer of Cheung Kong (Holdings) Limited, which 1s a substantial shareholder of the
Company within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO Mr Hunter 1s also an Executive
Director of Hongkong Electric Holdings Limited and a Non-executive Director of Spark
Infrastructure Group Prior to the appointment to the board of Hongkong Electric
Holdings Limited in 1999, Mr Hunter was the Finance Director of the Hutchison
Property Group He holds a Master of Arts degree and a Master’s degree in Business
Administration He 1s a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Scotland
and of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants He has over 25 years

of experience \n accounting and financial management

CHOW WOO Mo Fong, Susan, aged 54, has been an Executive Director of the
Company since March 1997 She 1s the Deputy Group Managing Director of Hutchison
Whampoa Limited, which is a substantial shareholder of the Company within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO She 1s also an Executive Director of Hutchison Harbour
Ring Lirmited and Hongkong Electric Holdings Limited, a Non-executive Director

of Hutchison Telecommunications international Limited and TOM Group Limited

and a Director of Hutchison Telecommunications (Australia) Limited and Partner
Communications Company Ltd She also acts as a director of Hutchison Infrastructure
Holdings Limited, and Hutchison International Limited, which are also substantial
shareholders of the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO She s a
salicitor and holds a Bachelor's degree in Business Admiristration
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Frank John SIXT, aged 56, has been an Executive Director of the Company since its
(ncorporation n May 1996 He 15 a Non-executive Director of Cheung Kong {Holdings)
Lirnited and the Group Finance Director of Hutchisan Whampoa Limited, both being
substantial shareholders of the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO
He 15 also the Chairman of TOM Group Limited, an Executive Director of Hongkong
Electric Holdings Limited, a Non-executive Director of Hutchison Telecommunications
International Limsted and a Director of Hutchison Telecommunications {Australia)
Limited, Husky Energy Inc and Partner Communications Company Ltd He also acts as
a director of Hutchison Infrastructure Holdings Limited, Hutchuson International Limited,
LI Ka-Shing Unity Trustee Company Limited as trustee of The Li Ka-Shing Unity Trust,
L1 Ka-Shing Unity Trustee Corporation Limited as trustee of The Li Ka-Shing Unity
Discretionary Trust and Lt Ka-Shing Unity Trustcorp Limited as trustee of another
discretionary trust, all being substantial shareholders of the Company within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO He holds a Master's degree in Arts and a Bachelor’s
degree in Civil Law, and 1s a member of the Bar and of the Law Society of the
Provinces of Quebec and Ontanio, Canada

TSO Kar Sum, aged 76, has been an Executive Director of the Company since
March 1997 He 1s also the Group Managing Director of Hongkong Electric Holdings
Limited Mr Tso initially worked with the Hangkong Electric Group from 1966 to 1981,
holding the positions of Chief Project Engineer of The Hongkong Electric Company,
Limited and Executive Director of Associated Technical Services Umited In 1981, he
joined International City Holdings Limited as an Executive Director In 1987, he joined
the Hutchison Whampoa Group as the Group Managing Director of Hutchison
Whampoa Properties In 1997, he re-joined the Hongkong Electric Group as Group
Managing Director Mr Tso holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Civil Engineering
and is also a Chartered Engineer He 1s a member of the Institute of Civil Engineers
and the Institute of Structural Engineers in the United Kingdom
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DIRECTORS' BIOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION (CONT'D)

CHEONG Ying Chew, Henry, aged 60, has been an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company since its incorporation In May 1996 He has been a member of
the Audit Commitiee of the Company since December 1998 and acted as the Chairman
of the Audit Committee fram December 1998 to December 2006 Mr Cheong 1s also

a member of the Remuneration Commuttee of the Company He holds a Bachelor of
Science degree in Mathematics and a Master of Science degree in Operational Research
and Management He Is also an Independent Non-executive Director of Cheung Kong
(Holdings) Limited, which 1s a substantial shareholder of the Company within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO In addition, he Is an Independent Non-executive Director of Excel
Technology International Holdings Limited, New World Department Store China Limited,
SPG Land (Holdings) Limited and TOM Group Limited, all being listed companies in
Hong Kong, and FFP Golden Asia Fund Inc (formerly known as Jade Asia Pacific Fund

Inc ), a hsted company 1n Ireland

KWOK Eva Lee, aged 65, has been an Independent Non-executive Director of the

Company since September 2004 She 1s also an Independent Non-executive Director

of CK Life Sciences Int’l , (Holdings) Inc and a Drector of Li Ka Shing (Canada)

Foundation She currently serves as Chair and Chief Executive Officer of Amara |
International Investment Corporation Mrs Kwok alse acts as an Independent Director ,
for Husky Energy Inc and Bank of Montreal Mrs Kwok currently sits on the Audit

Committee and Pension Fund Society of the Bank of Mantreal, the Compensation

Committee and Corporate Governance Commuttee of Husky Energy Inc, and the Audit

Committee and the Remuneration Committee of CK Life Sciences Int’l, (Holdings) Inc

and the Audit Committee of the Company She Is also a member of the Conference

Board of Canada's Advisory Board for the National Awards in Governance In addition,

she previously sat on the Nominating and Governance Committee of Shoppers Drug

Mart Corporation, the Independent Committee of Directors and Human Resources

Committee of Telesystems International Wireless (TIW) Inc, the Independent Committee

of Directors and the Corporate Governance Committee of Fletcher Challenge Canada

Ltd , the Audit and Corporate Governance Committees of Clarica Life Insurance Company

and the Corporate Governance Committee of Air Canada ‘
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SNG Sow-mer alias POON Sow Mei, aged 66, has been an Independent
Non-executive Director and a member of the Audit Committee of the Company

since September 2004 She has been an Independent Director of ARA Asset

Management {Singapore) Limited since 23rd June, 2003, an Independent Director

of ARA Trust Management (Suntec) Limited since 28th October, 2004, an Independent
Non-exacutive Director of ARA Asset Management (Prosperity) Limited since

2nd October, 2005 and a director of INFA Systems Ltd since 14th September, 2007

Since 2001, Mrs Sng has been the Senior Consultant (International Business) of |
Singapore Technologies Electronics Ltd Concurrently, she 1s an Adwvisor of InfoWave |
Pte Ltd Prior to her appointment with Singapore Technologies Pte Ltd where Mrs Sng
was the Director, Special Projects {North East Asia) in 2000 and a Consultant in 2001,

Mrs Sng was the Managing Director of Capitaland Hong Kong Ltd for investments in
Hong Kong and the region including Japan and Tawan In Horg Kong from 1983 to 1997,
Mrs Sng was the Centre Director and then as Regional Director of the Singapore
Economic Development Board and Trade Development Board respectively Mrs Sng

was Singapore's Trade Commisstoner (n Hong Kong from 1990 to 1997 Mrs Sng

holds a Bachelor of Arts degree from the Nanyang Uriversity in Singapore and has wide
experience In various fields of industrial investment, business development, strategic and
financial management, especially In property Investment and management In 1996,

Mrs Sng was conferred the title of PPA(P) - Pingat Pentadbiran Awam (Perak), the
Singapore Public Administration Medat (Silver) by the Repubtic of Singapore
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DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION (CONT'D)

Colin Stevens RUSSEL, aged 67, has been an Independent Non-executive Director
and a member of the Remuneration Committee of the Company since January 2005

He has been a member of the Audit Committee of the Company since January 2005

and the Chairman of the Audit Committee of the Company since January 2007 He is |
also an Independent Non-executive Director of CK Life Sciences Int’l, (Holdings} Inc and
ARA Asset Management Limited, a Non-executive Director of Husky Energy Inc, the
Manmaging Director of EMAS (HK) Limited and an Executive Director of China Autoparts
Group Limited and China Auto International Ltd He 1s the founder and Managing
Director of Emerging Markets Advisory Services Ltd , a company which prowides advisory
services to organisations on business strategy and planning, market development,
competitive positioning and risk management He was the Canadian Ambassador to
Venezuela, Consul General for Canada in Hong Kong, Director for China of the
Department of Foreign Affairs, Ottawa, Director for East Asia Trade in Ottawa, Senior
Trade Commussioner for Canada in Hong Kong, Director for Japan Trade in Ottawa, and
was In the Trade Commussioner Service for Canada in Spain, Hong Kong, Marocco, the
Philippines, London and India He was Project Manager for RCA Ltd in Liberia, Nigena,
Mexico and india and electronic equipment development engineer in Canada with

RCA Ltd and 1n Britain with Associated Electncal Industries Mr Russel 1s a Professional
Engineer and Qualified Commercial Mediator He receved his Master’s degree in Business
Administration and a degree In electronics engineering from McGill University, Canada

LAN Hong Tsung, David, aged 67, has been an Independent Non-executive Director
and a member of the Audit Committee of the Company since February 2005 He s also
an Independent Non-executive Director of Hutchison Harbour Ring Limited and ARA
Asset Management (Prosperity) imited He ts currently the Chairman of David H T Lan
Consultants Ltd and holds directorship at Nanyang Commercial Bank Lid as well as
Senior Advisor of Mitsu1 & Co (HK)Ltd Mr Lan was the Secretary for Home Affairs of
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region Government until his retirement in July 2000
He had served as civil servant In various capacities for 39 years He was awarded the Gold
Bauhinia Star Medal (GBS) on 1st July, 2000 In January 2003, he was appointed National
Committee Member of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference of the
People’s Republic of China Mr Lan is a Chartered Secretary and a fellow member of The
Hong Kong institute of Chartered Secretaries and The Institute of Chartered Secretaries
and Administrators He received his Bachelor of Arts degree in Economics and Law from
the University of London and completed the Advanced Management Program (AMP)

of the Harvard Business School, Boston
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LEE Pwi Ling, Angelina, aged 59, acted as an Independent Non-executive Director of
the Company from May 1996 to September 2004 and has been a Non-executive Director
of the Company since September 2004 She 15 a practising sohicitor, has a Bachelor of

Laws degree and 15 a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and
Wales She 1s active In public service and 1s a Non-executive Director of the Securities and
Futures Commussian, a Member of the Takeover and Mergers Panel and Takeovers Appeal
Commitiee, and a Non-executive Director of the Mandatory Provident Fund Management
Board She 15 also an Independent Non-executve Director of Great Eagle Holdings Limited
and a Non-executive Director of Henderson Land Development Company Limited and TOM
Group bimited, all being listed companies In Hong Kong

Barrie COOK, aged 65, acted as an Executive Director of the Company from 2000 to
September 2003 and has been a Non-executive Director of the Company since
October 2003 He 15 the Honorary Chairman of the Hong Kong Construction Matenals
Assoaation and a member of the Hong Kong Government’s Counail on Sustainable
Development Mr Cook Is a past Chairman of the East Asian Cement Forum, the Hong
Kong Cernent Assocration, the Hong Kong Government’s Waste Reduction Committee
He was prevtously a member of the Hong Kong Government's Advisory Counal on

the Enviranment and was the Convenor of the Hong Kong Business Coalition on the
Environment Mr Cook was very active in community affairs through his work with
the Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce Mr Cook holds a bachelor of Scence
Degree in Civil Engineering, and he 1s a Member of the Institution of Civil Engineers of
the United Kingdom and a Fellow of the Chartered Management Institute of the United
Kingdom
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DIRECTORS' BIOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION (CONT'D)

George Colin MAGNUS, aged 72, acted as an Executive Director and Deputy Chairman
of the Company from May 1996 to October 2005 and has been a Non-executive Director
of the Company since Novemnber 2005 He 1s also a Non-executive Director of Cheung
Kong (Holdings) Limited and Hutchison Whampoa Linited, all being substantial
shareholders of the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO In addition, he

is a Non-executive Director of Hongkong Electric Holdings Lirmited He holds a Master’s

degree in Economics

MAN Ka Keung, Simon, aged 50, has been an Alternate Director to Mr Ip Tak Chuen,
Edmond, Deputy Chairman of the Company, since February 2008 He joined the Cheung Kong
Group In December 1987 and has been the Chief Manager of the Accounts Department
of Cheung Kong (Holdings) Limited, which 15 a substantial shareholder of the Company
within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO, since January 1996 He s also Director, Corporate
Strategy Unit of Cheung Kong (Holdings) Limited He has over 27 years of experience

N accounting, taxation, financaing and auditing He holds a Bachelor’s degree in Economics
and s an associate member of The Institute of Chartered Accountant in Australia

Eirene YEUNG, aged 47, Alternate Director to Mr Kam Hing Lam, Group Managing
Director of the Company Ms Yeung joined the Cheung Kong Group n August 1994 and
was the Company Secretary of the Company from May 1996 to February 2008 She Is
also Director, Corporate Strategy Unit and Company Secretary of Cheung Kong {Holdings)
Limited, which 1s a substantial shareholder of the Company within the meaning of Part XV
of the SFO, the Company Secretary of CK Life Sciences Int'l, (Holdings} Inc, and a Drrector
of ARA Asset Management (Singapore) Limited Ms Yeung has extensive experience

in corporate and commercial legal work, listing, regulatory and ongination compliance
and company secretanial field She i1s a member of the Dual Filing Advisory Group of the
Secunities and Futures Commission, a member of the Board of Review (Inland Revenue
Ordinance) and a member of the Companies Ordinance Rewiite Advisory Group, and

was a Part-time Member of the Central Policy Unit of the Government of the Hong

Kong Special Administrative Region ("HKSAR") from 2005 to 2007 She is a solicitor of
the High Court of HKSAR and of the Supreme Court of Judicature in England and

Wales, and a fellow member of The Hong Kang Institute of Chartered Secretanes and

The Institute of Chartered Secretares and Administrators She holds a Master of Science
degree in Finance, a Master's degree in Business Administration and a Bachelor’s degree

In Laws

CHEUNG KOMG INFRASTRUCTURE HOLDINGS LIMITED




SENIOR MANAGEMENT’'S BIOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION

CHAN Kee Ham, Ivan, aged 45, Chief Planning and Investment Officer, has been with
the Cheung Kong Group since September 1993 He has over 21 years of expenence in
investment, banking and finance He holds a Bachelor’s degree in Science, a Bachelor's
degree in Chinese Law and a Master’s degree in Business Administration

CHAN Loi Shun, Dominic, aged 45, Chief Finanaial Officer, joined Hutchison
Whampoa Lirnited in January 1992 and has been with the Cheung Kong Group since
May 1994 He 15 a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and a fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants

CHEN Tsien Hua, loanna, aged 45, Head of Business Development, joined Hutchison
Whampoa Limited in August 1992, and has been with the Company since July 1996
She holds a Bachelor's degree in Social Sciences and a Master's Degree in Business

Admiristration

Donald William JOHNSTON, aged 65, Executive Director of Anderson Asia {Holdings)
Limited, Green Island Cement (Holdings) Limited and Green island International Limited,
has been with the Cheung Kong Group since 1988 He holds a Master’s degree in
Business Admunistration and a Bachelor's degree in Civil Engineenng and 1s a Chartered
Professional Engineer He 1s @ member of the Institute of Engineers (Australia) and a
fellow of the Institute of Quarrying

LAW Kai Chung, Edmund, aged 40, Company Secretary, joined the Cheung
Kong Group in October 2000 He 1s the Assistant Chief Manager, Company Secretarial
Department of Cheung Kong {(Holdings) Limited He has over 14 years of expenence in
the legal field He holds a Bachelor's degree with Honours in Laws He 1s a solicitor of
the High Court of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region and of the Supreme
Court of England and Wales He 1s a member of The Law Society of Hong Kong

LEUNG Ying Wah, Lambert, aged 61, Cheef Executive Officer of Cheung Kong
Infrastructure Maternials Me 15 a fellow of the Association of Chartered Cerufied
Accountants, a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants,

a fellow of the Institute of Quarrying (UK) and the past chairman of the thstitute of

Quarrying, Hong Kong Branch
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S BIOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION (CONT'D)

LUK Sai Hong, Victor, aged 44, Group General Counsel, has been with the Cheung
Kong Group since July 1998 He has over 17 years of experience in the legal field He holds
a Bachelor’s degree in Social Science He was admitted as soliotor of the Supreme Court in
England in 1992 and was admitted as solicitor in Hong Kong in 1993 He 15 a solicitor

of the High Court of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region and 1s a member of
The Law Society of Hong Kong

LUN Pak Lam, aged 50, Head of China Infrastructure, jomned Hutchison Whampoa
Limited and Cheung Kong {Holdings) Lirited in May 1993 and June 1994 respectively
and has been with the Company since July 1996 He holds a Bachelor's and a Master's

degree in Engineenng

TSANG Pak Chung, Eddy, aged 50, Executive Director of Green Island Cement
{Holdings) Limited, Green Island International Lirmited and Andersan Asia (Holdings)
Limited, joined the Cheung Kong Group In January 2005 Prior to this appantment,

he was Vice Chairman of two listed companies He 1s a member of each of the Institute
of Chartered Accountants in Australia, the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the Institute of Chartered Secretares and Admenistrators He holds

a Master’s degree in Commerce and a Bachelor’s degree in Economics

TONG BARNES Wai Che, Wendy, aged 47, Chief Corporate Affairs Officer, joined
the Cheung Kong Group in March 1999 She is also the Chief Corporate Affairs Officer of
Cheung Kong (Holdings} Limited and CK Life Sciences Int’l, (Holdings) inc She has over
23 years of expenence in public relations, marketing communications and corporate affairs

She holds a Bachelor's degree in Business Administration
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RISK FACTORS

The Group’s businesses, financial condition, results of operations or growth prospects may be affected by nisks and
uncertainties pertaining to the Group’s businesses The factors set out below are those that the Group believes could
result in the Group's businesses, financtal condition, resufts of operations or growth prospects differing materially from
expected or historical results These factors are by no means exhaustive or comprehensive, and there may be other
nsks in addivon to those shown below which are not known to the Group or which may not be material now but
could turn out to be matenial in the future In addition, this Annual Report does not constitute a recommendation

or advice for you to Invest in the shares of the Company and investors are advised to make their own judgment or
consult theirr own investment adwisors before making any investment in the shares of the Company

Economic Condition and Interest Rates

The industries in which the Group operates are affected by the economic conditions of the varous places where
the Group’s investments or operations are located, the population growth of these places, mark to market value
of securities investments, the currency environment and interest rates cycles There can be no assurance that the
combimation of the above factors the Group experiences in the future will not adversely affect its financial condition

or results of operations

In particular, income from finance and treasury operations 1s dependent upon the capital market, interest rate and
currency envirenment, and the worldwide economic and market conditions, and therefore there can be no assurance
that changes in these conditions will not adversely affect the Group’s financial condrtion or results of operations The
volatiity and fluctuation in the stock markets, both local and abroad, and the subprime crisis in the United States may
also adversely affect the income to be derived by the Group from its finance and treasury activities

Infrastructure Market

Some of the investments owned by the Group (for example, gas and electricity) are subject to regulatory pricing
and strict adherence must be made to the Licence requirements, codes and guidefines established by the relevant
regulatory authorities from time to time  Failure to comply with these licence requirements, codes or guidelines may
lead to penalties, or, In extreme circumstances, amendment, suspension or cancellation of the relevant licences by

the authonties

The distribution networks of the Group’s utilities Investments are also exposed to supply interruptions If a severe
storm, fire, sabotage, terronst attack or other unplanned event interrupts service, the loss of cash flow resulting from
the interruption and the cost of recovery from network damage could be considerable and potentially cause poor
customer perception and may also lead to dlaims and liigations Moreover, some losses from events such as terronst
attacks may not be recoverable Increases in the number or duration of supply tnterruptions could result in matenal
Increases In the costs associated with the operation of the distribution networks, which could have a materal adverse
effect on the businesses, financial conditions and results of operatrons of the Group

Capital Expenditure

A significant amount of capital expenditure is required for the Group 10 acquire new investments and to maintan the
assets of its exssting businesses While the relevant asset companies have their own asset management plans, there 15 a
nsk that due to unforeseen events, capital expenditure required for the replacement of assets could exceed budgeted
amounts and hence affecting the businesses, financial conditions and results of operations of the Group
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Currency Fluctuations

The results of the Group 1s recorded 1n Hong Kong dollars but its varous subsidianes, associates and joint ventures
may receive revenue and Incur expenses in other currencies Any currency fluctuations on translation of the accounts
of these subsidianies, assoctates and joint ventures and also on the repatnation of earnings, equity investments and
loans may therefore impact on the Group’s performance Although currency exposures had been managed by the Group,
a depreciation or fluctuation of the currencies in which the Group conducts operations relative to the Hong Kong
dollar could adversely affect the Group's financial condition or results of operations

Strategic Parthers

Some of the businesses of the Group are conducted through non wholly-owned subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures in which the Group shares control {in whole or in part) and strategic allances had been formed by the
Group with other strategic or business partners There can be no assurance that any of these strategic or business
partners will continue therr relationships with the Group in the future or that the Group will be able to pursue its
stated strategies with respact to its non wholly-owned subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures and the markets
in which they operate Furthermore, the joint venture partners may (a) have economic or business interests or
goals that are mconsistent with those of the Group, (b) take actions contrary to the Group's policies or objectives,
{c} undergo a change of control, (d) experience financial and other difficulties, or {e} be unable or unwiling to fulft
their obligations under the joint venture, which may affect the Group's financial condition or resuits of operations

Mergers and Acquisitions

The Company has undertaken mergers and acquisitions actvities In the past and may continue to do so If there

are appropriate acquisition opportunities in the market Although due diligence and detailed analysis are conducted
before these actvities are being undertaking, there can be no assurance that these can fully expose all hidden problems,
potential labilities and unresolved disputes that the target company may have In addition, valuations and analyses
on the target company conducted by the Company and by professionals altke are based on numerous assumptions,
and there can be no assurance that those assumptions are correct or appropriate or that they will receive universal
recognition Relevant facts and circumstances of the analysis could have changed over time, and new facts and
crrcumstances may come to light as to render the previous assumptions and the valuations and analyses based
thereon obsolete Some of these mergers and acquisitions activities are subject to regulatory approvals in overseas
countries and there can be no assurance that such approvals will be obtained, and even If granted, that there will be

no burdensome conditions attached to such approvals The Company may not necessarily be able to successfully
Integrate the target business into the Group and may not be able to denve any synergy from the acquisition, leading to
Increase in costs, time and resources For merger and acquisibions activities undertaken in overseas countries, the Company
may also be exposed to different and changing political, social, legal and regulatory requirements at the local, national
and internationat level The Company may also need to face different cultural issues when dealing with local employees,
customers, governmental authorities and pressure groups

impact of Local, National and International Regulations

The local business risks in different countries and cities in which the Group operates could have a matenal impact
on the financial condition, results of operations and growth prospects of the businesses in the relevant market The
Group has investments In different countries and cities around the world and the Group 15, and may Increasingly
become, exposed to different and changing political, socal, fegal, tax, regulatory and environmental requirements
at the local, national or international level Also, new policies or measures by governments, whether fiscal, tax,
regulatory, environmental or other competitive changes, may lead to an increase in additional or unplanned capital
expenditure, pose a risk to the overall nvestment return of the Group’s businesses and may delay or prevent the
commercial operation of a business with resulting loss of revenues and profit
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Impact of New Accounting Standards

The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (*HKICPA") had 1ssued a number of new and revised Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS") which were generally effective on or after 1st January, 2005 HKICPA
may in the future 1ssue new and revised standards and interpretations In addition, interpretations on the application
of the HKFRS will continue to develop These factors may require the Group to adopt new accounting policies The
adoption of new accounting policies or new HKFRS might or could have a significant impact on the Group’s financial
position or results of operations

Outbreak of Highly Contagious Disease

In 2003, there was an outbreak of Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome (”SARS”) 1n Hong Kong, the Mainland and
other places The SARS outbreak had a significant adverse impact on the economies of the affected areas There can
be no assurance that there will not be another significant global outbreak of a severe communicable disease such as
avian influenza If such an outbreak were to occur, it may have a matenal adverse impact on the operations of the
Group and its results of operations may suffer

The Group's Financial Condition or Results of Operations are affected by those of
the Hongkong Electric Group

The Group owns approximately 38 87 per cent of the Hongkong Electric Group which operates in Hong Kong and has
investments in different countries and places Hence the ftnancial condition and results of operations of the Hongkong
Electric Group may be affected by the local market conditions and the economy of Hong Kong as well as the places
where 1ts investments are located The Group's financial condition and results of operations are matenally affected by
the financial condition and results of operations of the Hongkong Electric Group In addition, the core businesses of
the Hongkong Electric Group are different from those of the Group, and as a result, the Group 15 indirectly exposed to

the risks facing the Hongkong Electric Group

Besides, the operations of the Hongkong Electrnic Group are subject to a scheme of control ("SCA”) agreed with the
Hong Kong Government which provides for a permitted level of earnings based pnncipally on a return on therr capital
investment 1n electricity generation, transmission and distribution assets The scheme of control was renewed for a
term of ten years commencing 1st January, 2009 with an option for the Government to extend the new SCA for a
further term of five years There can be no assurance that changes to or abohition of the scheme of control in the
future will not adversely affect the Hongkong Electric Group’s (and hence the Group's) financial condition and results

of operations

Past Performance and Forward Looking Statements

The performance and the results of operations of the Group during the past years as contained in this Annual

Report are historical in nature and past performance can be no guarantee of future results of the Group Ths Annual
Report may contain forward-looking statements and opinions that involve nsks and uncertainties Actual results may
dhffer materially from expectations discussed in such forward-looking statements and opinions Neither the Group

nor the Directors, employees or agents of the Group assume (a) any obligation to correct or update the forward-looking
statements or opinions contaned in this Annual Report, and (b) any liability in the event that any of the forward-looking
staterments or opinions does not materialkse or turns out to be Incorrect
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Birectors are pleased to present shareholders with the annual report together with the audited financial statemenits
of the Group for the year ended 315t December, 2007

Principal Activities

The Group's principal activities dunng the year are development, investment and operation of infrastructure businesses
in Hong Kong, the Mainland, Australia, Canada, Philippines and the United Kingdom

Results and Dividends

Results of the Group for the year ended 31st December, 2007 are set out in the consolidated income statement on |

page 117

The Directors recommend the payment of a final dividend of HK$0 83 per share which, together with the interim
dividend of HK$0 27 per share paid on 28th September, 2007, makes the total dividend of HK$1 10 per share for
the year

Property, Plant and Equipment and Leasehold Land

Movements in the Group's property, plant and equipment and leaseheld land during the year are set out i notes
17 and 19 to the financial statements on pages 143 to 145

Reserves

Detalls of changes in the reserves of the Group are set out in note 34 to the financial statements on page 165

Group Financial Summary

Results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the last ten years are summarised on pages 2 and 3

Properties

Particulars of major properties held by the Group are set out in Appendix 4 on page 176
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Directors

The Directors of the Company in office at the date of this report are listed on page 186 and ther biographical
information 1s set out on pages 38 10 46

Mr Kwan Bing Sing, Enc has retired as Deputy Managing Director and Executive Director wath effect from
31st March, 2007

On 11th February, 2008, Mr Man Ka Keung, Simon was appointed as Alternate Director to Mr Ip Tak Chuen, Edmoend,
Deputy Chairman and Executive Director of the Company, and Ms Eirene Yeung was appointed as Alternate Director
to Mr Kam Hing Lam, Group Managing Director of the Company

In accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws, the Directors of the Company (including Non-executive Directors)
shall be subject to retirement by rotation at each annual general meeting Accordingly, Mrs Kwok Eva Lee,

Mrs Sng Sow-mel altas Poon Sow Mei, Mr Colin Stevens Russel, Mr Lan Hong Tsung, Dawvid, Mrs Lee Pui Ling,
Angelina and Mr George Colin Magnus waill retire from office and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election
at the forthcoming annual general meeting

Each of the Independent Non-executive Directors has made an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to
Rule 3 13 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing
Rules”) The Company is of the view that all Independent Non-executive Directors meet the iIndependence guidelines
set out In Rule 3 13 of the Listing Rules and are independent in accordance with the terms of the guidelines

Directors’ Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures

As at 31st December, 2007, the interests or short positions of the Directors and chief executives of the Company in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning

of Part XV of the Secunities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO")) which were notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited {the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or
short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such prowisions of the SFO), or which were recorded
In the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO, or which were required, pursuant to
the Model Code for Secunties Transactions by Directors adopted by the Company (the “Model Code”), to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange, were as follows
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

Directors’ Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures
{Cont'd)

{1) Long Positions in Shares

Number of Ordinary Shares
Approximata
Name of Name of Personal Family  Corporate Other % of
Company Director Interests Interasts Interests Interests Shareholding
Compzny L1 Tzar Kuow, Beneficiary of trusts - - = 1,912,109,945 1912,109,945 84 82%
Victor {Note 1)
Kam Hing Lam Beneficial owner 100,000 - - - 100,000 0 004%
Hutchison Ls Tzar Kuoi, Interest of controlled - - 1,086,770 2,141,698,773 2,142,785,543 50 26%
Whampoa Victor corporations & {Note 3} (Note 2)
Limited benefiaary of trusts
KamHinglam  Benefical owner 60,000 - - - 60,000 2001%
Fok Kir Ning, Interest of controlled - - 4,310,875 - 4,310,875 0 10%
Canning Corporation (Nate 5)
Chow Woo Beneftcial owner 150,600 - - - 150,000 0003%
#o Fong, Susan
Frank lohn Sixt  Beneficial owner 50,000 - - - 50,000 00M%
Lan Hong Tsung  Beneficiat owner 20,000 - - - 20,000 0 0004%
Dawd
Lee Pui Ling, Beneficial owner 38,500 - - - 38,500 0 0009%
Angelma
George Colin Beneficial owner, interest 40,000 9,900 - 950,100 1,000,000 002%
Magnus of child or spouse & {Note &)
founder & beneficiary of
a discretionary trust
Hongkong L1 Tzar Kuon, Interest of child or spouse & - 151,000 - 829599612 829,750,612 3887%
Electric Holdings  Victor beneficary of tnusts {Note 4)
Limited
Lee Pui Ling, Beneficial owner 8,800 - - - 8,800 0 0004%
Angelina
Hutchison ti Tzar Kuoi, Beneficiary of trusts - - - 6£,399,728,952 4,399,728,952 7151%
Harbour Ring ~ Victor {Note 7}
Limited
Fok Kin Ning, Interest of controlled - - 5,000,000 - 5,000,000 005%
Canning corporation {Note S}
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Number of Ordinary Shares

Approximate

Name of Name of Personal Family  Corporate Other % of
Company Diractor Capacity Interasts Interasts Interests Interasts Total Shareholding
Hutchison Fok XinNing,  Beneficial owner & 4,100,000 - 1,000,000 - 5,100,000 068%
Telecommunications  Canning nterest of controlled {Note 5}
{Australia) Limited corporation

Frank lohn Sixt  Beneficial owner 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 013%
Hutchison Li Tzar Kuoy, Interest of controlled - - 2,519,250 2,889,651,625 2,892,170,875 6047%
Telecommunications  Victor corporations & {Note 3) {Note 8)
International Limited beneficiary of trusts

Fok KinNing,  interest of controlled - - 1,202,380 - 1,202,380 0025%

Canning corporation {Note 5)

Chow Woo Mo Beneficial owner 250,000 - - - 250,000 0005%

Fong, Susan

George Cabn Beneficial owner & 13,201 132 - - 13333 00003%

Magnus interest of chifd or spouse

(2) Long Positions in Underlying Shares

Number of Underlying Shares

Name ot Name of Parsonal Corporate Other

Company Director Interests Interests Interests

Company Li Tzar Kuat, Beneficary of trusts - - - 2 2
Victor (Note 9)

Hutchisan U Tzar Kuor, Benefiary of trusts - - - 8,150,001 8 150,001

Whampoa Victor {Note 10}

Limted '

Hutchison Frank John Sixt Beneficial owner 255,000 T- - - 255,000

Telecommunications (Note 11)

International Lirited

Partner Fok Kin Ning, Interest of controlled - - 225,000 - 225,000

Communicatians Canning corporation (Note 12)

Company Ltd
George Colin Beneficial owner 25,000 - - - 25,000
Magnus {Note 13}
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Directors’ Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures

{Cont'd)

(3)  Short Positions 1n Underlying Shares

Name of

Company Name of Director Capacity
Hutchison Whampoa  t1 Tzar Kuoy, Beneficiary of trusts
Uimited Victor

Personal
Interests

Number of Underlying Shares

Family
Interests

Corporate Other
Interests Interests
- 8,150,001

(Note 10}

8,150,001

(4) Long Positions in Debentures

Amount of Debentures

Name of Name of Personal Family Corporate Other
Company Director Capacity Interests Interests Interests Interests
Hutchison L Tzar Kuoy, Interest of controlled - - U5$12,000,000 - 15512,000,000
Whampoa Victor corporation 7% Notes 7% Notes
International due 2011 due 2011
{01/11) Umited {Note 3)
Hutchison L1 Tzar Kuol, Interast of controlled - - 15$21,000,000 - US$21,000,000
Whampoa Victor corporation 6 5% Notes 6 5% Notes
Intesnational due 2013 due 2013
{03/13) umited {Note 3}
Fok Kin Ning, Interest of controlled - - 15%2,500,000 - Us$2,500,000
Canning corporation 6 5% Notes 6 5% Notes
due 2013 due 2013
(Note 5)
Hutchison Li Tzar Kuel, Interest of controlled - - US$8,000,000 - U5$8,000,000
Whampoa Victor corparation 6 25% Notes 6 25% Notes
International due 2014 due 2014
{03/33) Limited (Note 3)
Interest of controlled - - US$15,000,000 - 1I5§15,000,000
corporation 7 45% Noies 7 45% Notes
due 2033 due 2033
{Note 3)
Fok Kin Ning, Interest of controlled - - 532,500,000 - US$2,500,000
Canning corporation 5 45% Notes 545% Notes
due 2010 due 2010
{Note 5)
Interest of controfled - - US42,500,000 - 552,500,000
corparation 6 25% Notes 6 25% Notes
due 2014 due 2014
(Note 5)
Interest of controlled - - LS$2,000 000 - Us$2 000,000
corporation 7 45% Notes 7 45% Notes
due 2033 due 2033
(Note 5)
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Notes

The 1,912,109,945 shares in the Company comprise 1,906,681,945 shares held by a subsidiary of Hutchison Whampoa
Limited (" HWL*) and 5,428,000 shares held by Li Ka-Shing Unity Trustee Company Limited ("TUT1") as trustee of The
Li Xa-Shing Unity Trust ("UT1")

The discretionary benefiaaries of each of The U Ka-Shing Unity Discretronary Trust {*DF1*) and another discretionary trust
("DT2") are, inter aha, Mr Li Tzar Kuot, Victor, his wife and children, and Mr L Tzar Kai, Richard Each of Lt Ka-Shing Unity
Trustee Carporation Limited (“TDT1", which s the trustee of DT1) and L1 Ka-Shing Unity Trustcorp Limited ("TDT2", which
s the trustee of DT2) halds units in UT1 but 15 not entitled to any interest or share in any particular property comprsing

the trust assets of the said unit trust TUTY as trustee of UT1 and its related companies in which TUT? as trustee of UT1 15
entitled to exercise of control the exerase of one-thurd or more of the voting power at their general meetings ("TUT1 related
companies”) hold more than one-third of the 1ssued share capital of Cheung Kong (Holdings) Limited {(*CKH*) Certain
subsicharies of CKH in turn together hold more than one-third of the issued share caprtal of HWL

The entire issued share capital of TUT1 and of the trustees of DT1 and DT2 are owned by Li Ka-Shing Unity Holdings Limited
(*Untty Holdca™) Each of Mr Lt Ka-shing, Mr Li Tzar Kuoy, Victor and Mr Li Tzar Kai, Richard 15 interested in one-third of
the entire ssued share capital of Unity Holdeo TUT1 s only interested in the shares of CKH by reason only of 1ts obligation
and power to hold interests in those shares in ts ordinary course of business as trustee and, when performing 1ts functions
as trustee, exercises Its power 1o hold interests in the shares of CKH independently without any reference to Unity Holdco
or any of Mr L Ka-shing, Mr Li Tzar Kuon, Victor and Mr Lt Tzar Kay, Richard as a halder of the shares of Unity Holdco as

aforesad

By wirtue of the above and as a discretionary beneficiary of each of DT1 and D72 and as a director of CKH, Mr Lt Tzar Kugi,
Victar 15 taken to have a duty of disclosure in relation to the shares of CKH held by TUT1 as trustee of UT1 and TUT1 related
companies, the shares of HWL held by the subsidianies of CKH and the shares of the Company held by each of the
subsidiary of HWL and TUT1 as trustee of UT1 under the SFO as a Director of the Company Although Mr Li Tzar Kai,
Richard 15 interested n one-third of the entire 1ssued share capital of Unity Holdco and 1s a discretronary beneficiary of each
of DTt and DT2, he 15 not a director of CKH and has no duty of disclosure in relation to the shares of CKH held by TUT1 as
trustee of UT1 and TUT1 related companies under the SFO

The 2,141,698,773 shares in HWL comprise

{a) 2,130,202,773 shares held by certain subsidianies of CKH By wirtue of the interests :n shares of CKH in relation to
which Mr Li Tzar Kuoy, Victor has a duty of disclosure under the SFO in the 1ssued share capital of CKH as described
in Note 1 above and as a Director of the Company, Mr Li Tzar Kuen, Victor Is taken to have & duty of disclosure in
relation to the said shares of HWL under the SFQ, and

(b} 11,496,000 shares held by Lt Ka-Shing Castle Trustee Company Limited {*TUT3") as trustee of The Lu Ka-Shing Castle
Trust ("UT3") The discretionary beneficianies of each of the two discretionary trusts ("DT37 and “DT4”) are, inter
alla, Mr L Tzar Kuo, Vicior, bus wife and children, and Mr L1 Tzar Kay, Richard Each of the trustees of D73 and
DT4 holds units In UT3 but 1s not entitled to any interest or share 1n any particular property comprising the trust assets
of the said unit trust

The entire ssued share capital of TUT3 and the trustees of DT3 and DT4 are owned by U Ka-Shing Castle Holdings
Limited (“Castle Holdco™) Each of Mr Li Ka-shing, Mr L Tzar Kuoi, Victor and Mr Li Tzar Kat, Richard 1s interested
in one-third of the entire 1ssued share capital of Castle Holdco TUT3 1s only interested in the shares of HWL by
reason only of its obligation and power to hold interests in those shares in its ordinary course of business as trustee
ang, when performing is functions as trustee, exercises its power 10 hold interests in the shares of HWL independently
without any reference to Castle Holdco or any of Mr LI Ka-shing, Mr Li Tzar Kuoil, Victor and Mr L Tzar Kat, Richard
as a holder of the shares of Castle Holdco as aforesaid
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Directors’ Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures
{Cont'd)

Notes (Cont'd}

10

58

By wirtue of the above and as a discretionary beneficiary of each of DT3 and DT4 and as a director of HWL,
Mr Li Tzar Kuo, Victor 1s taken to have a duty of disclosure i relation to the said shares of HWL held by
TUT3 as trustee of UT3 under the SFO as a Directar of the Company Although Mr Li Tzar Kai, Richard is
interested 1n one-third of the entire 1ssued share capital of Castle Holdco and 1s a discretionary beneficiary
of each of DT3 and DT4, he 1s not a Dwector of the Company and has no duty of disclosure in relation

to the shares of HWL held by TUT3 as trustee of UT3 under the SFO

Such interests are held by certain companies of which Mr U Tzar Kuo, Victor 1s interested in the entire issued share capital

By virtue of being a Director of the Company and his deerned interest tn those shares of the Company as described in
Note 1 above, Mr L1 Tzar Kuon, Victor 15 taken to have a duty of disclosure in relation to those shares of Hongkong Electric
Holdings Limited held through the Company under the SFO

These interests are held by a company which 15 equally owned by Mr Fak Kin Ning, Canrung and his wife
Such interests are indirectly held by a trust of which Mr George Colin Magnus 15 the settlor and a discretionary beneficiary
Such shares of Hutchison Harbour Ring Limited (“HHR™) are held by certain wholly-owned subsidianes of HWL

By virtue of the interests i the shares of HWL in relation to which Mr L) Tzar Kua, Victor has a duty of disclosure under the
SFQ in the issued share capital of HWL as descnbed in Note 2 above and as a Director of the Company, Mr Ll Tzar Kuol, Victor Is
taken to have a duty of disclosure in relation to the said shares of HHR under the SFO

Such shares of Hutchison Telecommumcations International Limated (“HTIL") comprise

(a) 2,889,498,345 ordinary shares of which 52,092,587 ordinary shares and 2,837,405,758 ordinary shares are held by
certain wholly-owned subsidiaries of CKH and HWL respectively By wirtue of the interests in the shares of CKH and
KWL In relation to which Mr L1 Tzar Kuai, Victor has a duty of disclosure under the SFO in the 1ssued share capital
of CKH and HWL as described In Notes 1 and 2 above and as a Director of the Company, Mr Li Tzar Ko, Victor 15
taken to have a duty of disclosure in relation to the satd shares of HTIL under the SFO, and

o) 153,280 ordinary shares held by TUT3 as trustee of UT3 Mr Li Tzar Kuol, Victor, as a Director of the Company, by
virtue of being a discretionary beneficiary of each of DT3 and DT4 and his deemed iterests in TUT3 as trusiee of
UT3 as described in Note 2(b) above, s taken to have a duty of disctosure in relation to the said shares of HTIL under

the SFO

In addition, according 1o the disclosures made to the Company pursuant tc and solely for the purposes of the SFO,

Mr Li Tzar Kuos, Victor appeared to be taken as being interested n the 680,134,172 ordinary shares of HTIL beneficially
owned by Orascom Telecom Eurasia Limited {“Orascom *), a substantial shareholder of HTIL and controlled exclusively by
Orascom and Orascom Telecom Holding 5 A E {“OTH"), another substantial shareholder of HTIL as a result of the application
of Sections 317 and 318 of the SFO by wirtue of HWL, one of the abovementioned wholly-owned subsidianies of HWL, OTH
and Orascom being parties to a shareholders' agreement dated 2 1st December, 2005 that imposes obligations or festrictions on
any party with respect to thair use, retention or disposa! of their erdinary shares of HTIL even though no ordinary shares of
HTIL have been acquired in pursuance of that agreement

Such underlying shares of the Company are hetd by an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of CKH by virtue of the
HK$300.000,000 capnal guaranteed notes due 2009

By virtue of the interests m the shares of CKH taken to have by Mr LI Tzar Kuos, Victor under the $FO as described In
Note 1 above and as a Director of the Company, Mr L Tzar Kuan, Victor is taken to have a duty of disdlosure in relation
to the said interest in the underlying shares of the Company under the SFO

Such underlying shares af HWL are held by an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of CKH by virtue of the HX Dollar
equity-linked notes due 2008 1ssued under HK$10,000,000,000 retai) note Issuance programme

By wirtue of the interests m the shares of CKH taken to have by Mr Ly Tzar Kuoi, Vicior under the SFO as described in
Note 1 shove and as a Director of the Company, Mr Li Tzar Kuoi, Victor 1s taken to have a duty of disclosure m relation
to the said interest and shert position 1n the underlying shares of HWL under the SFO
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1 Such underlying shares are denved from the 17,000 American Depositary Shares (each representing 15 ordmary shares) in
HTIL beneficially owned by Mr Frank John Sixt

12 Such underlying shares are derived from the 225,000 American Depositary Shares {each representing one ordinary share)
in Partner Communicattons Company Ltd {"Partner Communications”) held by a company which 15 equally owned by
Mr Fok Kin Ning, Canning and his wife

13 Such underlying shares are derved from the 25,000 Amencan Depositary Shares (each representing one ordinary share} in
Partner Communications beneficially owned by Mr George Colin Magnus

Mr L Tzar Kuol, Victor, by virtue of being a Director of the Company and his interests in the share capital of the
Company as a discretionary beneficiary of certain discretionary trusts as described in Note 1 above, 1s deemed to be
interested In those securities of subsidiaries and associated companies of the Company held through the Company
and in those secunities of the subsidianies of HWL held through HWL under the SFO

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or chief executives of the Company had, as at 31st December, 2007,
any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which would have to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Dimisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO {(Including interests or short positions which they
were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFQ), or which were recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the SFQ, or which were required to be notified to the Company and the

Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code

No other contracts of significance to which the Company or a subsidiary was a party and in which a Director of the
Company had a material interest subsisted at the balance sheet date or at any time duning the year

At no time during the year was the Company or subsidiary a party to any arrangements which enabled any Director
of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or of any

other body corporate

None of the Directors of the Company has any service contract wrth the Company or any of 1ts subsidiaries
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Interests and Short Positions of Shareholders

So far as 1s known to any Director or chief executive of the Company, as at 31st December, 2007, shareholders (other
than Directors or chief executives of the Company) who had Interests or short positions in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of
the SFO were as follows

Long Positions of Substantial Shareholders in the Shares and Underlying Shares of the Company

Number ef Approximate

Number of  Underlying % of
Capacity Ordinary Shares Shares Total  Shareholding

Hutchison Infrastructure Holdings Beneficial owner 1:9(56,681,945 - 1,906,681,945 84 58%
Limited ) {Note 1)
Hutchisen International Limited Interest of controlled 1,906,681,945. - 1,906,681,945 84 58%
corporaticn - {Note 1)
Hutchison Whampoa Limited Interest of controlled 1,906,681,945 ! - 1,906,681,945 84 58%
corporations (Note ) '
Cheung Kong (Holdings} Limited Interest of controlled 1,906,681,945 2 - .1,506,681,947 84 58%
corporations (Note m) {Note wi)
L Ka—ShlnguUmty Trustee Company  Trustee ., 1,912,109,945 * 2 1,512,109,947 84 82%
Limited as trustee of . (Note v} {Note wi)

The Li Ka-Shing Unity Trust ,

L1 Ka-Shing Unity Trustee Corporation  Trustee & beneficiary 1,912,109,945 - 2 1,912,109,947 84 82%
Limited as trustee of ofatrust - {Note v) {Notew) "
The LI Ka-Shing Unity N
Discretionary Trust .

U Ka-Shing Unity Trustcorp Limited Trustee & beneficiary. 1,91 2,109,94'5 - 2 1,912,109,947 84 82%
as trustee of another of a trust ] {(Note v) {Note vi)
discretionary trust - . .

LI Ka-shing Founder of 1,912,109,945 2 1,912,108,947 84 82%

discretionary trusts {Note v) (Note i)
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Notes

Vi

1,906,681,945 shares of the Company are held by Hutchison Infrastructure Holdings Limited, a subsidiary of HWL Its
interests are duplicated in the interests of HWL in the Company described i Note 1 below

HWL is deemed to be interested in the 1,906,681,945 shares of the Company referred to 1n Note 1 above as it holds more
than one-third of the 1ssued share caprtal of Hutchison International Limited, which holds more than one-third of the i1ssued
share capital of Hutchison Infrastructure Holdings Limited

CKH 1s deemed to be interested 1n the 1,506,681,945 shares of the Company referred to in Note n above as certain
subsidiaries of CKH hold more than one-third of the 1ssued share capital of HWL

TUT1 as trustee of UT1 1s deemed to be interested in those shares of the Company descnbed in Note i above as TUT1 as
trustee of UT1 and TUT1 related companies hold more than one-third of the 1ssued share capital of CKH and TUT1 as trustee
of UT1 holds 5,428,000 shares of the Company

By virtue of the SFQ, each of Mr Lt Ka-shing, being the settlor and may being regarded as a founder of each DTt and
DT2 for the purpose of the SFO, TDT1 as trustee of DT1 and TDT2 as trustee of DT2 1s deemed to be interested in the
same block of shares TUT1 as trustee of UT1 1s deemed to be mnterested in as referred to in Note v above as all 1ssued
and outstanding units in UT1 are held by TDT1 as trustee of DT1 and by TDT2 as trustee of DT2 More than one-third of the
1ssued share capital of TUT? and of the trustees of the said discretionary trusts are owned by Unity Holdco Mr L Ka-shing
owns one-third of the 1ssued share capital of Unity Holdco

Such underlying shares of the Company are held by an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of CKH by virtue of the
HK$300,000,000 capital guaranteed notes due 2009

By wirtue of the SFO, each of Mr Li Ka-shing, TDT1, TDT2 and TUT1 1s deemed to be interested in the same block of interest
in the said underlying shares of the Company held by CKH as described in Note v above

Save as disclosed above, as at 31st December, 2007, the Company has not been notified by any persons {other than
Directors or chief executives of the Company) who had interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of
the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the prowisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the SFO, or which were recorded In the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO

Continuing Connected Transactions

The following transactions of the Group constituted continuing connected transactions (" Continuing Connected
Transactions”) under the Listing Rules during the financial year ended 31st December, 2007

{a)

A sponsors / shareholders’ undertaking has been provided by each of CKH and HWL in relation to the loan
facilities in relation to the Zhuhal Power Plant Pursuant to the sponsors / shareholders' undertaking, each of
CKH and HWL shall be severally liable for 50 per cent of certain obligaticns of the foreign party (the “Zhuha
Foreign Party”) to the PRC project company undertaking the Zhuhai Power Plant The Zhuhar Foreign Party,
which 1s an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. has a 45 per cent interest in the PRC project
company Pursuant to a deed of counter-indemnity given by the Company in favour of CKH and HWL, the
Company has agreed with each of CKH and HWL to meet all future funding obhigations of each of them which
may be required under such sponsors / shareholders’ undertaking and to counter-indemnify each of CKH and
HWL in respect of any sum provided by each of them and generally in respect of each of their lrabilities and
obligations under such spensors / shareholders' undertaking
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Continuing Connected Transactions (Cont’d)

{b)  On 16th December, 2005, the Company had entered into a tenancy agreement with Turbo Top Limited (" Turbo !
Top"), which I1s a connected person of the Company within the meaning of the Listing Rules by virtue of 1ts !
being a wholly-owned subsidiary of HWL, which in turn is a substantial shareholder of the Company, in respect
of the lease of Office Uit 1202, 12th Floor, Cheung Kong Center, 2 Queen’s Road Central, Hong Keng with
a lettable floor area of approximately 10,079 square feet as the principal business office of the Group 1n Hong
Kong for a term of three years commenang from 1st September, 2005 to 315t August, 2008 at a monthly
rental of HK$360,829, exclusive of Government rates and other charges The aggregate rent and service charges
payable under the tenancy agreement are subject to an annual cap of HK$5,355,000 taking into account of
the possible adjustment on the service charges Duning the year, HK$4,587,969 has been pad / payable by
the Company to Turbo Top pursuant to the aforesard tenancy agreement

On 12th August, 1996, the Stock Exchange granted conditional waivers to the Company from strict compliance

with the disclosure and shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing Rules in respect of the above

transaction in paragraph {a) on, inter alia, a condition that bref detarls of the transaction shall be disclosed in the |
Company’s subsequent annual report for financial years in which the transaction 1s subsisting An announcement

(the “Announcement”) in respect of the above transaction in paragraph (b) was published in the newspapers on

19th Decermnber, 2005 in accordance with the Listing Rules

The Continuing Connecied Transactions have been reviewed by the Independent Non-executive Directors The
Independent Non-executive Directors have confirmed that for the year 2007 the Continuing Connected Transactions
have been entered into {1) I the ordinary and usual course of business of the Company, (1) either on normal commercial
terms ar on terms no less favourable to the Company than terms available to {or from) independent third parties,

and () in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the
Interest of the shareholders of the Company as a whole

Pursuant to Rule 14A 38 of the Listing Rules, the Company has engaged the auditors of the Company to perform
certatn factual finding procedures in respect of the Continuing Connected Transactions of the Group in accordance
with the Hong Kong Standard on Related Services 4400 “Engagements to Perform Agreed-Upon Procedures
Regarding Financial Information” 1ssued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants The auditors
have reported their factual findings on these procedures to the Board of Directors and confirmed that for the year

2007 the Continuing Connected Transactions {1) have received the approval of the Board of Drrectors of the Company,
and (1) have been entered into in accordance with the relevant agreements governing the transactions, and the
Continuing Connected Transaction in paragraph (b} above has not exceeded the cap as disclosed in the Announcernent

Major Customers and Suppliers

During the year, the Group's recognised sales attnbutable to the Group’s five largest customers were less than
30 per cent of the Group's sales and the Group's purchases attributable to the Group’s five largest supphers were
less than 30 per cent of the Group’s purchases
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Competing Business Interests of Directors

During the year, the interests of Directors in the businesses which compete or are likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the businesses of the Group (the *Competing Business”) as required to be disclosed pursuant to the
Listing Rules were as follows

(a}  Core Business Activities of the Group

1
(2)
3)
(@)
5)
(6}
7

Development, investment and operation of energy infrastructure,
Bevelopment, investment and operation of transportation infrastructure,
Development, investment and operatton of water infrastructure,

Development, investment and operation and commercalisation of infrastructure related business,

Investment holding and project management,
Securitres investment, and
Information technology, e-commerce and new technology

(b) Interests in Competing Business

Competing Business

Name of Director Name of Company Nature of interest {Note)
L Tzar Kuot, Victor Cheung Keng (Holdings) Limited Managing Director and {5). 6} &{7)
Deputy Chairman
Hutchison Whampea Limited Deputy Charman (1 (5), (6) &(7)
Hongkong Electric Holdings Limited Executive Director (1), (5), B) & (7}
CK Lfe Sciences Int'l , (Holdings) Inc Chairman ey & (7)
Kam Hing Lam Cheung Kong {Holdings) Limited Deputy Managing Director (5), (6) & (7)
Hutchison Whampoa birmited Executive Director {1), (5), (6) & {7}
Hengkong Electric Holdings Limited Executwe Director {1, (), B &D
CK Life Sciences Int'l , {(Holdings) Inc President and {6) & (7}
Chief Executive Officer
Spark Infrastructure Group Non-executive Director {1} & (5)
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Competing Business Interests of Directors {Cont’d)

{(b) Interests in Competing Business (Cont'd)

Name of Director  Name of Company Nature of Interest

Ip Tak Chuen, Edmond  Cheung Kong {Holdings) Limited Deputy Managmg Director

CK Life Sciences Int’l , (Holdings} Inc  Senior Vice President and
Chief Investment Officer

TOM Group Limited Non-executive Director

CATIC International Holdings Umited  Non-executive Director

Competing Business

(Note})
{5), (6) & (7)
{6) & (7)

(5) 6) & (N
{5) & (6)

Excel Technology International Non-executive Director (5), (6) & {7}
Holdings Limited

Shougang Concord International Non-executive Director (1), (5) & (6)
Enterprises Company Limited

The Ming An {Holdings) Company  Non-executive Director (5) & (B)
Lirnited

ARA Asset Management Limited - Non-executve Director (5) & (6)

Fok Kin Ning, Canning  Cheung Kong {Holdings) Limited Non-executive Director (5), (6) & (V)

Hutchison Whampoa Limited
Hongkong Electric Holdings Limited ~ Chairman
Hutchison Harbour Ring Uimited Chairman

Hutchison Telecommunications Chairman
International Limited

Group Managing Director

(1), (5), (6 &(7)
(1), (5. (6) & (7
{7
)

Andrew John Hunter ~ Hongkong Electric Haldings Limited  Executive Directer

Spark Infrastructure Group Non-executive Director

(1. 5, (6) & (7)
M&®

Chow Woo Mo fong,  Hutchison Whampoa bimited Deputy Group
Susan Managing Director

Hongkong Electric Holdings Limited  Executive Derector and
Alternate Director

(1), (5). 6) & (7)

.05, 8 &7

TOM Group Lumited Non-executive Director 5. &)
Hutchison Harbour Ring Limited Executive Director {7
Hutchison Telecommunications Alternate Director 7
International Limsted
TOM Online Inc Alternate Director (7}
{withdrawal of histing on
3rd September, 2007)
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Competing Business

Name of Director Name of Company Nature of Interest {Note}
Frank John Sixt Cheung Kong {Holdings} Limited Non-executive Director (5), (6) & (7}
Hutchison Whampoa Limited Group Finance Cirector (1), (5), (B & (7}
Hongkong Electnic Holdings Limited Executive Director (1), (5), (6) & (7}
Hutchison Telecommumications Non-executive Director {7
International Limited
TOM Group Limited Chairman {5), (6) & (7)
TOM Online Inc Chairman )]
fwithdrawal of Iisting on
3rd September, 2007)
Tso Kar Sum Hongkong Electric Holdings Limited Group Managing Director (1), (5}, (6) & (7)
Lee Put Ling, Angelina TOM Group Limited Non-executive Director (5}, (6} & (7)
George Colin Magnus ~ Cheung Kong {(Heldings) Limited Non-executve Director (5),(6) & ()
Hutchison Whampoa Limiteéd Non-executive Director {1, (5, (6) & (7)
Hongkong Electric Holdings Limited Non-executive Director F(1L (5. (6) & (7)

Note Such businesses may be made through subsidiaries, associated companies or by way of other forms of investments

save as disclosed above, none of the Directors s interested 1n any business apart from the Group’s businesses which
competes or 1s likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with bustnesses of the Group

Pre-emptive Rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Bye-laws although there are no restrictions against

such nghts under the laws of Bermuda

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Shares

The Company has not redeemed any of its shares during the year ended 31st December, 2007 Neither the Company
nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased or sold any of the Company’s shares during the year
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Public Float

As announced by the Company on 8th January, 1997 and 17th February, 1997, the Stock Exchange granted a
waiver from strict compliance with Rule 8 08 of the Listing Rules to the Company on 9th January, 1997 subject to
approximately not less than 15 2 per cent of the 1ssued share capital of the Company being held in public hands
Based on nformation available and within the knowledge of the Directors, the obligation has been complied with

Donations

Donations made by the Group during the year amounted to HK$2,293,000

Disclosure under Chapter 13 of the Listing Rules

The following information 1s disclosed in accordance with Rules 13 21 and 13 22 of Chapter 13 of the Listing Rules

(M

(2)

(3}

66

A sponsors / shareholders’ undertaking referred to under the section headed “Centinuing Connected
Transactions” has been prowided by HWL, the Zhuhai Foreign Party and the other partres In relation to two
loan facihties of US$125 5 million and US$670 million granted to the PRC project company undertaking the
Zhuhay Power Plant The two loans with the outstanding amounts of US$9 5 million and U5$276 5 million
as at 315t December, 2007, are repayable by installments with the final repayment due in 2008 and

2012 respectively It 1s an event of default for both facilities if CKH and HWL collectively own directly or
indirectly less than 51 per cent of the shareholding in the Zhuhal Foreign Party The obligation has been

complied with

The Group has entered into a long term syndicated facility agreement of A$400 muthon with the loan balance
of A$209 9 millicn remained outstanding as at 31st December, 2007 The faality will mature in 2008 Under
the provision of the loan agreement, it 1s an event of default if HWL ceases to own (directly or indirectly) at
least 30 per cent of the issued share capital of the Company The obligation has been complied with

The Group has entered into a long term syndicated facility agreement of A$300 million, of which the whole
amount was drawn as at 31st December, 2007 The faclity will mature in 2009 Under the provision of the
loan agreement, it is an event of default If HWL ceases to own {directly or indirectly) at least 30 per cent of
the issued share caprtal of the Company The obligation has been complied with
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(8)  Asat 31st December, 2007, the Group’s financial assistance to certain affiliated companies exceeded the assets
ratio of 8 per cent A combined balance sheet of the affillated companies as at 31st December, 2007 15 set out

below

HKS million

Non-current assets 72,074

Current assets 4,597

Current habilities (9.149)

Non-current habilities (62,576)

Net assets 4,946

Share capital 666

Reserves 4,280
4,946

Capital and reserves

As at 31st December, 2007, the consohidated attnbutable interest of the Group in these affiliated companies

amounted to HK$7,010 million

Audit Committee

The Group’s annual report for the year ended 31st December, 2007 has been reviewed by the Audit Committee
Information on the work of Audit Commuttee and 1ts composition are set out In the Corporate Governance Report

on pages 87 10 91

Auditors

The financial statements for the year have been audited by Messrs Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu who retire and offer

themselves for re-appointment

On behalf of the Board
Li Tzar Kuoi, Victor
Chairman

Hong Kong, 17th March, 2008

ANNUAL REPORT 2007 67




CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board of Directors (“Board”) and the management of the Company are committed to the maintenance of good
corporate governance practices and procedures The Company beheves that goed corporate governance provides a
framework that is essential for effective management, a healthy corporate culture, successful business growth and
enhancing shareholders’ value The corporate governance principles of the Company emphasise a quality Board, sound
internal controls, and transparency and accountability to all shareholders The Company has applied the principles and
complied with all code provisions and, where applicable, the recommended best practices of the Code on Corporate
Governance Practices (“Code on CG Practices”) as set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (" Stock Exchange”) (“Listing Rules”) throughout the year
ended 31st December, 2007

Key corporate governance principles and corporate governance practices of the Company are summarised below

1 Cade Provisions

Code Provisions Compliance Corporate Governance Practices
A. DIRECTORS
A1 The Board

Corporate Governance Principle
The Board should assume responsibiiity for leadership and control of the Company, and 15

colfectively responsible for directing and supervising the Company’s affais

Al Regular board meetings at least v « The Board meets regularly and held meetings
four times a year tnvolving active in March, May, August and November 2007
participation, either (n person or
through other electronic means

of communication, of majonty of
directors Members of the Board Attendance

Details of Directors’ attendance records
in 2007

Executive Directors

LI Tzar Kuol, Victor 3/4
{Chairman)

KAM Hing Lam a/4
(Group Managing Director}

IP Tak Chuen, Edmond a/4

FOK Kin Ning, Canning 3/4

KWAN Bing Sing, Enc* 1/4

Andrew John HUNTER 4/4

CHOW WOO Mo Fong, Susan 3/4

Frank John SIXT 3/4

TS0 Kai Sum 3/4
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Cade Ref.

A 11 (Cont'd)

Code Provisions

Compliance Corporate Governance Practices

Members of the Board Attendance

Independent Non-executive Directors

CHEONG Ying Chew, Henry 4/4

KWOK Eva Lee

4/4

SNG Sow-met alias POON Sow Met 4/4

Colin Stevens RUSSEL 4/4
LAN Hong Tsung, David 4/4
Non-executive Directors

LEE Pui Ling, Angehna 3/4
Barrie COOK 4/4
George Colin MAGNUS 4/4

Note * Deputy Managing Director and Executive
Director, retired on 3 1st March, 2007

The Directors may attend meetings in person,

by phone or through other means of electronic

communication or by their alternate directors

(if applicable) I’ accordance with the Companys

Bye-laws

A12

All directors are given an opporturity
to include matters in the agenda for
regular board meetings

“

All Directors are consulted as to whether
they ray want to include any matter in the
agenda before the agenda for each regular
Board meeting 1s issued

A1l3

— At least 14 days notice for regular
board meetings

~ Reasonable notice for other board
meetings

<

Regular Board meetings in a parttcular year
are usually scheduled towards the end of
the immediately preceding year to give

all Directors adequate time to plan their

schedules to attend

At least 14 days formal notice would be
given before each regular meeting

According to the Company’s Bye-laws,
any Director may walve notice of any

meeting
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Cade Ref,

Al4

Code Provisions

All directors should have access v
to the advice and services of the

company secretary with a view 1o

ensuring that board procedures, and

all applicable rules and regulations,

are followed

Compliance Corporate Governance Practices

Directors have access to the Company
Secretary and key officers of the Company
Secretanal Department who are responsible
to the Board for ensuning that Board
pracedures, and all apphcable rules and
regulations, are followed

Memos are issued to Directors, from time
to time to update them with legal and
regulatory changes and matters of relevance
to Directors in the discharge of their duties

A15

Minutes of board meetings and v
meetings of board committees

should be kept by a duly appointed

secretary of the meeting

Such minutes should be open v
for inspection at any reasonable

time on reasonable notice by any

director

The Company Secretary prepares written
resolutions or minutes and keeps records of
matters discussed and decisions resolved at
all Board and Board Committee meetings

Board and Board Committee minutes /
resolutions are sent to all Directors / Board
Committee members within a reasonable
time (generally within 14 days) after each
Board and Board Committee meeting

Board and Board Committee minutes /
resolutions are available for inspection by
Directors / Board Committee members

Alb

Minutes of board meetings and v
meetings of board comrmittees

should record in sufficient detail

the matters considered by the

board and decisions reached

Draft and final versions of board v
minutes for all directors to comment

and 1o keep records within a

reasonable time after the board

meeting

_Minutes record in sufficient detail the matters

considered by the Board / Board Committees
and decisions reached

Directors are given an opportunity to comment
on draft Board minutes

Final version of Board minutes 15 placed on
record within a reasonable time after the
Board meeting

Al17

1

A procedure agreed by the board v
to enable directors, upon reasonable

request, to seek independent

professional advice in appropriate
crrcumstances, at the company's

expense

The board should resolve to v
provide separate independent

professional advice to directors

to assist the relevant director or

directors ta discharge his / therr

duties to the company

Directors have been advised that the Company
Secretary can arrange Independent professional
advice at the expense of the Company
should such advice be considered necessary
by any Director
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Code Ref.

Al18

Code Provisions

— If a substantial shareholder or a v
director has a conflict of interest
In a matter to be considered by
the board which the board has
determined to be matenal, the
matter should not be dealt with
by way of crculation or by a
committee but a board meeting
should be held

- Indepenident non-executive directors v
who, and whose associates, have
no material interest in the
transaction should be present at
such board meeting

Compliance

Corporate Governance Practices

* Important matters are usually dealt with by way
of written resolutions so that all Directors
{including Independent Non-executive
Directors) can note and comment, as
appropnate, the matters before approval
is granted

* Directar must declare his / her interest In
the matteis to be passed in the resolution,
if applicable

« If a substantial shareholder or a Director
has a conflict of interest in a matter to be
considered by the Board which the Board has
determuned to be material, the matter wilt
be dealt with in accordance with applicable
rules and regulations and, if appropnate, an
independent Board committee will be set up
to deal with the matter

A2

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Corporate Governance Principle

There should be a clear dision of responsibilities between the Charrman and the Group Managing
Director of the Company to ensure a balance of power and authority

A21

— Separate roles of chairman and v
chief executive officer not to be
performed by the same individual

— Dwision of responsibilities between v
the chatrman and chief executive
officer should be clearly established
and set out in writing

» The positions of the Chairman of the Board

. and the Group Managing Director are currently

held by separate indviduals

» The Chairman determines the broad strategic
direction of the Group In consultation with

. the Board and I1s respansible for the high-level
oversight of management

» The Group Managing Director, with the
support of the Executive Directors, 1s responsible
for strategic planning of different business
functions and day-to-day management
and operation of the Group
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Compliance Corporate Governance Practices

Code Ref.  Code Provisions

A272 The chairman should ensure that v * With the support of the Executive Directors

all directors are properly briefed on
Issues ansing at board meetings

and the Company Secretary, the Chairman
seeks 1o ensure that all Directors are properly
briefed on i1ssues ansing at Board meetings
and receive adequate and reliable information
on a timely basis

In additton to regular Board meetings, the
Chairman had meetings with the Non-executive
Birectors (including the Independent
Non-gxecutive Directors) without the

presence of the Executive Directors in May and
Novermber 2007 Detalls of the attendance
records of the meetings are as follows

Attendance
Chairman
LI Tzar Kuol, Victor 272
Independent Non-executive Directors
CHEONG Ying Chew, Henry 2/2
KWOK Eva Lee 272
SNG Sow-mei attas POON Sow Mel 22
Colin Stevens RUSSEL 2/2
LAN Hong Tsung, David 2/2
Non-executive Directors ,
LEE Pur Ling, Angelina 1/2
Barne COOK 22
George Colin MAGNUS 22

Note  The Charman and the Non-executive Directors
{(including the Independent Non-executive
leectors)'may attend meetings in person, by
phone or through other means of electronic
communication or by therr alternate
directors (if apphicable) in accordance wath the
Company’s Bye-laws
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Code Ref. Code Provisions Compliance Corporate Governance Practices
AZ3 The chairman should be responsible v » The Board papers including supporting
for ensuning that directors receive analysis and related background information
adequate information, which must are normally sent to the Directors at least
be complete and reliable, in a timely three days before Board meetings
manner » Communications between Non-executive
Directors {including Independent Non-executive
Directors) on the ane hand, and the Company
Secretary as co-ordinator for the other
business units of the Group on the other,
15 @ dynamic and interactive process to ensure
that queries raised and clanfication sought
by the Directors are dealt with and further
supporting iInformation and / or documentation
1s provided if appropnate
A3 Board composition
Corporate Governance Principle
The Board should have a balance of skills and experience appropriate for the requirements of the business
of the Company and should include a balanced composttion of Executive and Non-executive Directors so
that independent judgement can effectively be exercised
A3 Independent non-executive directors v » The composition of the Board, by category
should be expressly identified as such and posrtion of Directors including the names
in all corporate communications that of the Chairman, the Exécutwe Directors, the
disclose the names of directors of the Non-executive Directors and the Independent
company Non-executive Directors, 1s disclosed in all

corporate communications

The Board consists of a total of sixteen
Directors, comprising eight Executive

Directors, three Non-executive Directors

and five Independent Non-executive Directors
One of the Executive Directors also acts as
Alternate Director to two Executive Directors
Two Alternate Directors were appointed

with effect from 11th February, 2008 More
than one Independent Non-executive Directors
have appropniate professional qualifications,
or accounting or related financal management
expertise

Detalls of the composition of the Board are
set out on page 186
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Code Ref, Code Provisions Compliance Corporate Governance Practices

A3 1(Cont'd) * The Drectors’ biographical information and
the relationships among the Directors are set
out on pages 38 to 46

» Review of the Board composition 1s made
regularly to ensure that it has a balance of
expertise, skills and experience appropriate
for the requirements of the business of the
Com_pany

A4 Appointments, re-election and removal

Corporate Governance Principle
There should be a formal, considered and transparent procedure for the appointment of new Directors
and plans in place for orderly succession for appointments to the Board All Directors should be subject

to re-election at regular intervals

Adn Non-executive directors should be v ¢ All Directors (including Non-executive
appointed for a specific term, subject Directors) are subject to retirement by
to re-election rotation once every three years and are

subject to re-election in accordance with
the Company's Bye-laws and the Code
i o on CG Practices

Ad2 ~ All directors appointed to fill a . v * in accordance with thé Company’s Bye-laws,
casual vacancy should be subject newly appointed Directors are required to
to election by shareholders at the offer themselves for re-election at the next
first general meeting after their , following general meeting (in the case of
appointment : fithng a casual vacancy} or at the next

. _ Every director, including'those v following annual general meeting (in the

case of an addition 1o the existing Board)

appointed for a specific term, .
following their appointment

should be subject to retirement
by rotation at least once every The Board as a whole 1s responsible for the

three years appointment of new Directors and Directors’
nomination for re-election by shareholders at
the general meeting of the Company Under
the Company's Bye-laws, the Board may from
time to tme appoint a Director either to fill a
casual vacangy or as an addition to the existing
Board Any such new Director shall hold office
untl the next following general meeting of the
Company (n the case of filing a casual vacancy)
or untill the next following annual general
meeting of the Company {in the case of an
addrtron to the existing Board) ang shall then
be eligible for re-election at the same general
meeting
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» All Directors {including Non-executive
Directors) are subject to retirermnent by
rotation once every three years and are
subject to re-election in accordance with
the Company’s Bye-laws and the Code
on CG Prachices

The structure, size and composition of
the Board are reviewed from time to time
to ensure the Board has a balanced
composition of skills and experence
appropriate for the requirements of

the businesses of the Company The
independence of the Independent
Non-executive Directors is assessed
according 1o the relevant rules and
requirements under the Listing Rules

Each of the Independent Non-executive
Directors makes an annual confirmation of
independence pursuant io the requirements
of the Listng Rules The Company 1s of the
view that all Independent Non-executive
Dhrectors meet the independence guidelines
set out 1n the relevant requirements of

the Listing Rules and are independent i
accordance with the terms of the guidelines

A5

Responsibilities of directors

Corporate Governance Principle

Every Director 15 required to keep abreast of responsibiltties as a Director of the Company and of the
conduct, bustness actvrtres and development of the Company

AS51

- Every newly appointed director
of the company should recewve a
comprehensive, formal and tailored
induction on the first occasion of
his appointment, and subsequently
such briefing and professional
development as is necessary

v

« The Company Secretary and key offtcers
of the Company Secretanial Department
llaise closely with newly appointed Directors
bath immediately before and after s / her
appointment to acquaint the newly appointed
Director with the duties and responsibilities as
a Director of the Company and the business
operation of the Company
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A5 1{Cont'd) - Toensure that he has a proper v e A package compiled and reviewed by the
understanding of the operations Company’s legal adwvisers setting out such
and business of the company duties and responsibilities under the Listing
and that he s fully aware of his Rules, Comparies Ordinance and other
responsibilities under statute and related ordinances and relevant regulatory
common law, the Listing Rules, requirements of Hong Kong 1s provided to
applicable legal requirements and each newly appointed Director A revised
other regulatory requirements information package comprising the latest
and the business and governance developments in laws, rules and regulations
policies of the company relating to the duties and responsibiities of

directars will be forwarded to each Director
. from time to tirme for his / her information and
ready reference The revised “Non-statutory
Guidelines on Directors’ Duties” 1ssued by
the Companies Registry of Hong Kong
in'October 2007 has been forwarded to each
Director for his / her information and ready
reference
» Memos are issued from time to time to keep
Directors up to date with legal and regulatory
changes and matters of relevance to the
) Directors in the discharge of their duties
« During the year, seminars were organised
at which distinguished professionals were
invited to present to the Directors on subjects
such as directors’ duties and balancing the
benefits and costs of corporate governance,
gic The attendance rate was more than
80 per cent
A52 The functions of non-executive « Non-executive Directors exercise thetr
directors include independent judgment and adwise on the
- independent judgement on issues v future business direction and strategic plans
of strategy, policy, performance, of the Company
accountability, resources, key ¢ Non-executive Directors review the financial
appointments and standards of infermation and operational performance of
conduct at board meetings the Company on a regular basis
— take the lead on potential conflicts v « Independent Non-executive Directors are

of Interests

invited to serve on the Audit and Remuneration
Committees of the Company
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— serve on the audit, remuneration,
nommation and other governance

commuttees, If invited

— scrutinise the company's performance
in achieving agreed corporate goals
and objectives, and monrtoring the
reporting of performance

Compliance Corporate Governance Practices

v

A53

Every director should ensure that he

can gve sufficrent time and attention
to the affairs of the company and

should not accept the appointment

if he cannot do so

v

There 1s satisfactory attendance at Board
meetings during the year Please refer to
A 11 of Part [ for details of attendance
records

Every Executive Director has hands-on
knowledge and expertise In the areas and
operation in which he / she 1s charged with
Appropriate attention to the affais of the
Company 1s measured in terms of time as
well as the quality of such attention and

the ability of the Directors to contribute

with reference to his/ her necessary knowledge
and expertise

A54

~ Directors must comply with the

Model Code

— Board should establish written
guidelines on no less exacting
terms than the Madel Code for

relevant employees

-

The Company has adapted the model code
for securities transactions by directors of Iisted
wssuers {“Model Code") set out in Appendix 10
of the Listing Rules as tts own code of
conduct regarding Directors” secunties
transactions effective 31st March, 2004

Confirmation has been received from all
Directors that they have comphed with the
required standards set out in the Made! Code
for the year ended 31st December, 2007

Wnitten guidelines on no less exacting terms
than the Model Code refating 1o secunties
transactions for employees are set out in the
Employee Handbook of the Company
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A6 Supply of and access to information

Corporate Governance Principle

Directors should be provided m a timely manner with appropriate information in such form and of
such qualty as will enable them to make an informed decision and to discharge therr duties and

responsibiliies as Directors of the Company

AB1

- Send agenda and full board papers

to all directors at least 3 days
before reqular board or board
committee meeting

So far as practicable for other
board or board committee
meetings

v

Board / Board Commuttee papers are crculated
not less than three days before the regular
Board / Board Commitiee meetings to enable
the Directors / Board Committee members to
make informed decisions on matters to be
raised at the Board / Board Committee meetings

A62

Management has an cbligation
to supply the board and its
committees with adequate
information 1n a timely manner
to enable it to make informed
decisions

The board and each director should
have separate and independent
access to the company’s senior
management for making further
enquiries where necessary

The Company Secretary and the Qualified
Accountant attend all regular Board meetings
10 adwvise on corporate governance, statutory
comphance, and accounting and financial
matters, as approprate

Communications between Directors on the
one hand, and the Company Secretary, who
acts as co-ordinator for the other business
units of the Group on the other, 1s a dynamic
and interactive process to ensure that gueries
raised and clanfication sought by the Directors
are dealt with and that further supporting
information 1s prowvided if appropriate

AB3

All directors are entitled to have
access to board papers and related
materials

Steps rmust be taken to respond as
promptly and fully as possible to
queries raised by directors

Please see A 6 2 of Part I above

78 CHEUNG KCNG INFRASTRUCTURE HOLDINGS LIMITED




Code Ref. Code Provisions Compliance Corporate Governance Practices
B. REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
B.1 The level and make-up of remuneration and disclosure

Corporate Governance Principle
There should be a formal and transparent procedure for setting policy on Executive Directors’
remuneration and for fixing the remuneration packages for all Directors

B11 Establish a remuneration committee v ¢ In accordance with the Code on CG Practices,
with specific written terms of the Company has set up a remuneration
reference comprising a majonty of commuttee {“Remunaration Committee™}
independent non-executive directors with a majonity of the members being

Independent Nod-executive Directors

The Company established its Remuneration
Committee on 15t January, 2005

The Remuneration Committee comprises
the Chairman of the Board, Mr LI Tzar Kuot,
Victor (Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee), and two Independent
Non-executive Directors, namely, Mr Calin
Stevens Russel and Mr Cheong Ying Chew,
Henry

Since the publication of the Company’s
2006 annual report in Aprid 2007, meetings
of the Remuneration Committee were held
s in November 2007 and January 2008
Details of the attendance records of the
members of the Remuneration Commitiee
are as follows

" Members of the Remuneraton Committee  Attendance

LI Tzar Kuol, Victor 2/2
(Charrman of the Remuneration
Committee)

Cohin Stevens RUSSEL 212

CHEONG Ying Chew, Henry 22

Note The members of the Remuneration Committee
may attend meetings in person, by phone or
through other means of electronic commumication
or by thewr alternates (f applicable) in accordance
with the Company's Bye-laws
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The following 1s 8 summary of the work for
the Remuneration Committee during the said
meetings

(1} Review of the remuneration policy for
2007 / 2008,

(2) Review of the remuneration of
Non-executive Directors,

(3} Rewiew of the annual performance
bonus policy, and

{4) Approval of remuneration packages of
Executive Direcors

B12 The remuneration committee
should consult the chairman and / or
chief executive officer about therr
propasals relating to the remuneration
of other executive directors and
have access to professional advice

if considered necessary

The Remuneration Committee has consulted
the Chairman and / or the Group Managing
Director about proposals relating to the
remuneration packages and other human
resources issues of the Directors and semor
management, including, without lrmitation,
succession plan and key perso‘nnel movements
as well as policies for recruiting and retasing
qualified personnel

The emoluments of Directors are based on
the skill, knowledge, involvement in the
Company’s affars and the performance of
each Director, together with reference to the
profitability of the Company, remuneration
benchmarks in the industry, and prevailing
market conditions

To enable them to better adwise on the
Group$ future remuneration policy and
related strategies, the Remuneration
Commitiee has been advised of the
Group’s existing remuneration policy
and successton plan, such as guidelines
on designing employees’ remuneration
packages and related market trends and
information
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Code Provisions

Terms of reference of the remuneration
committee include

— determine specific remuneration
packages of all executive directors
and senior management

- review and approve performance-based
remuneration and the compensation
payable on loss or termination
of office or appeimtment

+ — ensure that no director or any

of his associates 1s invalved in
deciding his own remuneration

Compliance Corporate Governance Practices

v

-

The terms of reference of the Remuneration
Commuttee, which follow closely the
requirements of the Code Provisions and
have been adopted by the Board, are posted
on the Company’s website

The remuneration committee should
make avallable its terms of reference,
explaining 1ts role and the authority
delegated 1o 1t by the board

The terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee are posted on the Company’s
website

N

The principal responsibilities of the
Remuneration Committee include
making recommendations to the Board
on the Company’s pohcy and structure
for the remuneration of Directors

and senior management, and reviewing
the specific remuneration packages

of alt Executive Directors and senior
management by reference to corporate
goals and objectives resolved by the Board
from time to time

The remuneration committee should
be provided with sufficient resources
to discharge 1ts duties

The Human Resources Department provides
administrative support and implements the
approved remuneration packages and cther
hurnan resources related decisions approved
by the Remuneration Committee
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
Financial reporting

Corporate Governance Principle

Compliance Corporate Governance Practices

The Board should present a balanced, clear and comprehensible assessment of the Company’s

performance, position and prospects

i

Management should provide such v
explanation and information to the

board as will enable the board to

make an informed assessment of

the financial and other information

put before the board for approval

» Directors are provided with a review of the
Group's major business activities and key
financial iInformation on a guarterly basis

C12

— The directors should acknowledge v
in the Corporate Governance
Report their responsibility for
preparing the accounts

- There should be a statement by e
the auditors about therr reporting
responsibiliies In the auditors’
report on the financial statements

- Unless 1t is mappropriate to assume v
that the company will continue
in business, the directors should
prepare the accounts on a going
concern basis, with supporting
assumptions or qualifications as
necessary

— When the directors are aware of N/A

material uncertainties relatting

to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt upon the
company’s ability to continue as a
going concern, such uncertainties
should be clearly and prominently
set out and discussed at length i
the Corporate Governance Report

¢ The Directors annually acknowledge in
writing their responsibility for preparing
the financial statements of the Group

= Directors are not aware of material
uncertainties refating to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company's ability to continue as a going
concern as referred to in € 1 2 of the Code
on CG Practices

* With the assistance of the Finance and
Accounting Department which 1s under
the supervision of the Qualfied Accountant
of the Company, the Directors ensure the
preparation of the financial statements of
the Group are i accordance with statutory
requirements and applicable accounting
standards

The Directors also ensure the pubhcation
of the financial statements of the Group 15
in a timely manner

The staternent by the audrtors of the Company
}egardlng their reporting responsibilities on
the financial statements of the Group 15 set
out in the Independent Auditor's Report on
pages 115 and 116

82

CHEUNG KONG INFRASTRUCTURE HOLDINGS LIMITED




Code Ref. Code Provisions Compliance Corporate Governance Practices

c13 The board's responsibility to present v * The Board aims to present a clear, balanced
a balanced, clear and understandable and understandable assessment of the
assessment extends to annual and Group's performance and posrtion i alt
intenm reports, other price-sensitive shareholder communications
announcements and other finanaal « The Board Is aware of the requirements
disclosures required under the Listing under the applicable rules and regulations
Rules, and reports to regulators as about timely disclosure of price-sensitive
well as to information required to information or matters regarding the
be disclosed pursuant to statutory Company and will authorise the publication
requirements of such announcements as and when the

occasion anises The Company Secretary

and key officers of the Company Secretanal
Department work closely and in consultation
with legal adwisers to review the matenalty
and sensitvity of transactions and proposed

’ transactions and advise the Board accordingly

C.2 Internal controls

Corporate Governance Principle
The Board should ensure that the Company mamntams sound and effective internal controls to

safeguard the shareholders’ investment and the Company’s assets

c21 — Directors to review effectiveness of v = The Board 15 ultimately responsible for the
system of internal control of the Group’s internal control system and for
company and its subsidiaries at review of its effectiveness
least annually and to repart that = The internal control system is designed to
they have done 50 In the Corporate help the achievement of business objectives
Governance Report in the following categories

= The review should cover all v {1) Effectiveness and efficiency of operations

matenal controls, induding which include safegliarding assets
financal. operational and against unauthorised use or disposition,

campliance controls and risk

management functions (2} Reliabilty of financial and operational

reporting, and

(3) Compliance with applicable laws,
- regulations, and internal policies and
procedures
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C 21 (Cont'd) « The system s formulated to manage risk
that may impede the achievement of the
Group's business objectives rather than to
eliminate that nisk, and can only provide
reasonable, not absolute, assurance against
material errors, losses or fraud The concept
of reasonable assurance recognises that the
cost of control procedure should not exceed
the expected benefits

Internaf Controf System

» The Board has overall responsibility for
morutonng the aperations of the businesses
within the Group Executive Directors are
appointed to the boards of all significant
operating sibsidiaries and associates to
attend the board meetings and to oversee
the operations Monitoring activities include
the review and approval of business strategies,
budgets and plans, and setting of key
performance indicators

There are defined organisational structures
and authonty to operate various business
units 1s delegated to respective managements
within limuts set by the Executive Directors

The Head Office management has established
operating and management reporting
standards for use by all business units Each
business unit also has its own operating
polictes and procedures that are tallor-made
to specific operational environment

Indmiduat business urit needs to prepare
five-year plans which form the foundation
of annual budgets and plans All these
plans / budgets have 1o be approved by

the Executive Directors Monrtoring the
actual results against the budgets are done
monthly via the Executives’ and management
meetings at the Group and business unit levels,
and appropriate actions are taken, if
necessary
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+ Each business unit has to perform risk
assessment hatf-yearly where the risks
associated with achieving the business
obyjectives are identified and analysed It
also Includes a review of the control
mechanism for each nsk and action plan
‘15 put 1n place to address the areas for
improvement

The Chief Executive Officer and Cheef
Financial Officer of each busmness unit need
to provide a formal half-yearly confirmation
to acknowledge review of their control
systems and highlight any weaknesses

The Group Internal Audit, reporting directly
to the Audit Committee and the Group
Managing Director, performs independent
assessment of the internal control systems
Using a rnisk based methodology, internal
Audrt prepares 1ts audit plan in consultation
with, but independent of, management,
_and it 1s reviewed by the Audit Committee
The audit work focuses on those areas of

the Group’s activities with greatest perceved
nisks Ad hoc review will also be performed
on areas of concern identified by the Audit
Committee and management Management
of indnmidual business unit will be informed of
the areas for improvement, and Internal Audit
ts responsible for monitoring the corrective
actions

= Reports from the external auditors, Deloitte

Touche Tohmatsu (*Delortte”), on internal
controls and relevant financial reporting
matters, are presented to the Audit Commuttee
and management
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Effectiveness of Internal Control System

+ The Board, through the Audit Committee

of the Company, has conducted an annual
review of the effectiveness of the internal
control system operating In the Group and
considers 1t 1s adequate and effective The
review covers all matenal controls, including
finanaial, operational and compliance controls,
and risk management functions The Board Is
not aware of any significant areas of concern
which may affect the shareholders The Board
15 satisfied that the Group has fully complied
with the code provisions on internal controls
as set forth in the Code on CG Practices

Controls on Pnce-sensitive Information

» Regarding the procedures and internal

controls for handting and dissemination of
price-sensitive information, the Group

(1} s well aware of its obhigations under
the bisting Rules to announce any
information that 1s considered to be
pnce-sensitive,

(2) makes reference to the “Guide on
Disclosure of Price-sensitive Information”
1ssued by the Stock Exchange in 2002,

(3} has mplemented policy and pracedure
which strictly prohibit unauthornsed use
of confidential and sensitive information,
and has communicated to all staff, and

(4) requires that only Directors and
delegated officers can act as the Group’s
spokesperson and respond to external
enquiries about the Group’s affairs
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Audit Committee

Corporate Governance Principle

Compliance Corporate Governance Practices

The Board should estabhsh formal and transparent arrangements for considering how it will
apply the financial reporting and intemal control principles and for maintaining an appropriate

relationship with the Company's auditors

€31

— Full minutes of audit committee
meetings should be kept by a
duly appointed secretary of the
meeting

— Draft and final versions of minutes
for all members of the audit
committee to comment and to
keep records within a reasonable
time after the meeting

v

+ Minutes drafted by the Company Secretary

are crrculated to members of the Audit
Committee within a reasonable time after
each meeting

Audit Committee meetings were held in
March and August 2007 Detalls of the
attendance record of the members of the
Audit Committee are as follows

Members of the Audit Committee Attendance

Colin Stevens RUSSEL 202
{Chairman of the Audrt Commttes)

CHEONG Ying Chew, Henry
KWOK Eva Lee
SNG Sow-mel altas POON Sow Mel

AR SRS

LAN Hong Tsung, Davd

Note  The members of the Audit Committee may
attend meetings in person, by phone or
through other means of electrome communication
or by their alternates (f apphcable) in
accordance with the Company's Bye-laws
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C 31 (Cont'd) + The following 1s a summary of the work of
the Audit Committee during 2007

m

{2)

£

)

(5)
G

Y

Review of the finanaal reports for
2006 annual results and 2007 interim
results,

Reviewy of the findings and recornmendations
of the Group Internal Audit on the

work of various divisions / departments
and related companies,

Review of the effectiveness of the
internal control system,

Review of the external auditors’ audit
findings,

Review of the auditors' remuneration,

Review of risks of different business
units and analysis thereof provided by
the relevant business units, and

Review of the control mechanisms for
such risks and advising on action plans
for improvement of the situations

After due and carefu! consideration of

reports from management and the internal
and external auditors, the Audit Committee
was of the view that no suspected fraud

or irregularities, sigruficant internal control
deficiencies, or suspected infringement of
laws, rules, or regulations had been found,
and concluded at the meeting held on

11th March, 2008 that the system of internal
controls was adequate and effective
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= On 11th March, 2008, the Audit Committee
met to review the Group's 2007 consoldated
financial statements, induding the accounting
prinaples and practices adopted by the
Group, In conjunction with the Company’s
external auditors After review and
discussions with the management, internal
auditors and external auditors, the Audit
Committee endorsed the accounting
treatment adopted by the Company, and
the Audit Committee had to the best of its
ability assured itself that the disclosure of the
financial information if the 2007 Annual
Report complies with the applicable
accounting standards and Appendix 16 of
the Listing Rules The Audit Committee
therefore recommended the Board's approvat
of the consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31st December, 2007

The Audit Committee ako recormmended to
the Board the re-appointment of Deloitte as
the Company’s external auditors for 2008 and
that the related resolution shall be put forth
for shareholders’ consideration and approval
at the 2008 annual general meeting

The Group’s Annual Report for the year ended
31st December, 2007 has been reviewed by
the Audit Committee

c32

A former partner of existing audrting
firm shall not act as a member of
the commiitee for 1 year after he
ceases to be a partner of or to have
any fmanaal interest in, the firm,
whichever Is the later

» No member of the Audit Committee Is a
former partner of the existing auditing firm
of the Company dunng the one year after
he / she ceases to be a partner of the auditing
firm
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€33 Terms of reference of the audit

commuttee include

- recommendation to the board on
the appointment and removal of
external auditors and approvat of
their terms of engagement

- review and monitor external
auditors’ independence and
effectiveness of audit process

- review of financial information of

the company

- oversight of the company’s
finanaial reporting system and
internal control procedures

Compliance Corporate Governance Practices

v

s Terms of reference of the Audit Committee,

which follow closely the requirements of
the Code Provisions and have been adopted
by the Board, are posted on the Company’s
website

c34 The audit commuttee should make
avallable its terms of reference,
explaining its role and the authonty
delegated to it by the board

v

» The Listing Rules require every listed 1ssuer

to establish an audit commiitee comprising
at least three members who must be
non-executive directors only, and the majonty
thereof must be independent non-executive
directors, at least one of whom must have
appropriate professional qualifications, or
accounting or related financial management
expertise The Company established the
Audit Committee in December 1998 with
reference to “A Guide for the Formation of
an Audit Committee” issued by the Hong
Keong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
{formerly known as Hong Kong Society of
Accountants) .

= in accordance with the requirements of the

Code on CG Practices, the terms of reference
of the Audit Committee were revised on

1st January, 2005 In terms substantially the
same as the provisions set out in the Code on
CG Practices The revised terms of reference
of the Audit Committee are available on the
Company's website
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* The principat duties of the Audit Committee
include the review and supervision of the

Group’s financial reporting system and

internal contro! procedures, review of the
Group's finanaial iInformation and review of
the refationship with the external auditors
of the Company Regular meetings have
been held by the Audit Committee since its

establishment

» The Audit Commuttee comprises five
Independent Non-executive Directors, namely,

Mr Colin Stevens Russel (Chairman of the
Audit Commuttee), Mr Cheong Ying Chew,

Henry, Mrs Kwaok Eva Lee, Mrs Sng Sow-mei

alias Poon Sow Mer and Mr Lan Hong Tsung,

David The Audit Cormnmittee held two
meetings in 2007

C35

Where the board disagrees with

the audit committee’s view on the
selection, appointment, resignation
or dismissal of the external auditors,
the company should include in the
Corporate Governance Report a
statement from the audit committee
explaining 1its recommendation and
also the reason(s) why the board has
taken a different view

N/A

The Audit Committee recommended to the
Board that, subject to shareholders’ approval
at the forthcoming annual general meeting,
Deloitte be re-appomted as the Company’s

external auditors for 2008

For the year ended 31st December, 2007, the

external audrtors of the Company recewed
approxtmately HK$4 9 million for annual
audit service, approximately HK$0 8 million

for audit-related services rendered in

connection with acquisitions and disposals
- of certain investments of the Group, and
approximately HK$1 4 million for tax and

other non-audit services

C36

The audit commuittee should be
provided with sufficient resources to
discharge 1ts duties

The Audit Committee has been adwvised
that the Company Secretary can arrange
independent professional advice at the
expense of the Company should the seeking
of such advice be considered necessary by
the Audit Commuttee
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

Management functions

Corporate Gavernance Principle

The Company should have a formal schedule of matters specifically reserved to the Board and

those delegated to management

D11

When the board delegates aspects of

its management and administration
functions 1o management, 1t must at
the same time give clear directions
as to the powers of management,
in particular, with respect to the
crcumstances where management
should report back and obtain prior
approval from the board before
making decisions or entenng nto
any commitments on behalf of the
company

Executive Diractors are in charge of different
businesses and functional divisions In
accordance with their respective areas

of expertise

Please refer to the Management Structure
Chart as set out on page 114

For matters or transactions of a matenal
nature, the same will be referred to the
Board for approval

For matters c;r transactions of a magnitude
requiring disclosure under the Listing Rules
or other applicable rules or regulations,
appropriate disclosure will be made and
where necessary, circular will be prepared
and shareholders’ approval will be obtained
in accordance with the requirements of the
applicable rules and regulations

D12

Formalise functions reserved to

the board and those delegated to
management It should review those
arrangements on a periodic basis to
ensure that they remain approprate
to the needs of the company

-

The Board, led by the Chairman, is responsible
for the Group's future development directions,
overall strategies and pohcies, evaluation of the
performanice of the Group and the management,
and approval of matters that are of a matenal
or substantial nature

Under the leadership of the Group Managing
Director, managernent Is responsible for the
day-to-day operations of the Group
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D.2 Board Committees

Corporate Governance Principle
Board Committees should be formed with speafic written terms of reference which deal clearly with

the committees’ authonty and duties

D21 Where board committees are v + Three Board Committees, 1 e Audit Committee,
established to deal with matters, the Remuneration Committee and Executive
board should prescribe sufficiently Committee have been established with
clear terms of reference to enable specific terms of reference

such committees to discharge thew
functions properly

D22 The terms of reference of board v + Board Commuttees report to the Board of
committees should require such their decisions and recommendations at
committees to report back to Board meetings

the board on therr decisions or
recommendations, unless there
are legal or regulatory restrictions
on their ability to do so (such as
a restriction on disclosure due to
regulatory requirements)

E. COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
E.1 Effective communication

Corporate Governance Principle
The Board should endeavour to maintain an on-going dialogue with shareholders and in particular,
use annual general meetings or other general meetings to communicate with shareholders and

encourage thewr participation

E11 In respect of each substanually v = Separate resolutions are proposed at the
separate 1ssue at a general meeting, general meeting on each substantially
a separate resolution should be separate Issue, including the election of
proposed by the chairman of that individual directors
meeting
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Code Ref. Code Provisions

E12 — The chairman of the board should
attend the annual general meeting
and arrange for the charrmen of the
audit, remuneration and nomination
committees (as appropnate) or in the
absence of the chairman of such
committees, another member
of the committee to be avallable to
answer questons at the annual general

meeting

- The chairman of the independent
board commuttee (if any) should
also be avallable to answer questions
at any general meeting to approve
a connected transaction or any
other transaction that 1s subject
to Independent shareholders’

approval

Compliance Corporate Governance Practices

v

« In 2007, the Charrman of the Board, Chairman
of the Audit Committee and Chairman
of the Remuneration Committee attended
the annual general meeting and were
availlable to answer questions

» The Company establishes different
communication channels with shareholders

. and investors including (1) regutar despatich of

printed ¢copies of corporate communications
{(including but not imited te annual reports,
intenm reports, notices of meetings, circulars
and proxy forms) required under the Listing
Rules to the sharehotders of the Company,

() the annual general meeting provides a
forum for shareholders to raise comments
and exchange views with the Board,

() updated and key information on the Group
15 avallable on the website of the Company,
{iv) the Company's website offers a
commurnication channel between the Company
and its shareholders and stakehalders,

(v) regular press conferences and briefing
meetings with analysts are arranged from time
to time to update interested parties on the
performance of the Group, (v} the Company’s
Branch Share Regrstrars deal with shareholders
for share registration and related matters,

and {wi) Corporate Affairs Department of the
Company handles enguines from shareholders,
and investors generally
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Code Ref. Code Provisions Compliance Corporate Governance Practices

E.2 Voting by Poll

Corporate Governance Principle

The Company should regularly inform shareholders of the procedure for voting by poll and ensure
compliance with the requirements about voting by poil contamned i the Listing Rules and the
constitutional documents of the Company

E21 — The chairman of a meeting should v * |n 2007, the nght to demand a poll was set
ensure disclosure in the arculars of out in the arcular containing the notice of
the procedures for and the rights annual general meeting
of shareholders to demand a poll « |n 2007, the Chairman of the annual general

~ The chairman of a meeting and / or v meeting exercised his power under the
directors who, individuatly or Bye-laws of the Company to put each resolution
collectively, hold proxies in respect set out In the notice to be voted by way
of shares representing 5% or of a poll

moare of the total voting rights at
a particular meeting shall demand
a poll In certain circumstances
where, on a show of hands, a
meeting votes in the opposite
manner to that instructed in those
proxies

— If a poll s required under such . v
crcumstances, the chairman of
the meeting should disclose to the
meeting the total number of votes
represented by all proxies held by
directors indicating an oppaosite )
vote 1o the votes cast at the
meeting on a show of hands .
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COmpiiance Corporate Governance Practices

Code Ref, Code Provisions
E22 — The company should count all v * Representatives of the Branch Share
proxy votes and, except where Registrars of the Company were appointed
a poll 1s required, the chairman as scrutineers to monitor and count the pall
of a meeting should indicate to votes casted at the annual general meeting
the meeting the level of proxies * Poll results were announced at the adjourned
lodged on each resolution, and meeting, posted on the websites of the
the balance for and agamnst the Company and the Stock Exchange, and also
resolution, after it has been dealt published in Hong Kong newspapers on the
with on a show of hands business day following the annual general
— The company should ensure that v meeting of the Company
votes cast are properly counted
and recorded -
E23 The chairman of a meeting should s At the 2007 annual general meeting, the
at the commencement of the Chairman of the meeting explained the
meeting ensure that an explanation I1s detailed procedures for conducting a poll,
provided of which had also been set out in the circutar
— the procedures for demanding a v containing the notice of annual general
poll by shareholders before putting meeting, and then answered any questions
a resolution to the vote on a show from shareholders
of hands, and « At the 2007 annual general meeting, the
- the detalled procedures for v Chatrman of the meeting exercised his power

conducting a poll and then answer
any questions from shareholders
whenever voting by way of a poll 15
required ‘

under the Bye-laws of the Company to put
each resolution set out in the notice to be
voted by way of a pol!
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iI. Recommended Best Practices

Recomrhended
Best Practice Comply {"C°)/
Ref. Recommended Best Practices Explain {“E*)  Corporate Governance Practices
A, DIRECTORS _
A1 The Board
Corporate Governance Principle
The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and control of the Company, and is
colfectively responsible for directing and supervising the Company’s affairs
A19 Arrange appropriate Insurance cover C * The Company has arranged appropriate
in respect of legal action against the + Directors and Officers hability insurance
-7 directors . coyé'rage for its Directors and Officers since its
listing 1n 1996 including the year 2007 / 2008
A110 Board committees should adopt, )

so far as practicable, the principles, - : )
procedures and arrangements set ;
outinA11tcA18 i .

-

A1 . « The Company has an Audit Committee, a
Regular board meetings at least E Remuneration Commitiee and an Executive
four tirnes a year involving active’ Commfrteg .

participation, either in person or » Based on avallable data and information,
through other electronic means the Com;)any 15 not satisfied that quarterly
of communication, of majority of . review by the Audit Committee would bring
directors meaningful benlefrtstq the shareholders

. Meetings between the Chairman and the
- ' Non-executive Directors (including the
Independent Non-executive Directors)
without the presence of Executive Directors
were held two times a year at which ample
opportunity was provided for reflection of
their views and comments to the Board

Apart from the Audit Commuttee, the
Company has a Remuneration Committee
The prinapal responsibility of the Remuneration
Committee I1s to make recommendations to
the Board on the Company’s policy and
structure for the remuneration of its
Directors and senior management, which,
in line with normal market practice, are
only subject to review on an annual basis

It 1s therefore not necessary for the
Remuneration Commuttee to have four
meetings a year as recommended

ANNUAL REPORT 2007 97




CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Recommended
Best Practice
Ref,

A1 10{Cont'd)

Comply {“C")}/
Recammended Bast Practices Explain ("E*)
Al2
All directors are given an opportunity C

to include matters in the agenda for
regular board meetings

Al3
— At least 14 days notice for regulér C
board meetings -

— Reasonable notice for other board C
meetings

Al4

All directors should have access C
to the adwvice and services of the

company secretary with aviewto .
ensuring that board procedures,,and

all applicable rules and reéulanons,

are followed

A15

- Minutes of board meetings and C
meetings of board committees
should be kept by a duly appointed
secretary of the meeting

- Such minutes should be open for C
Inspection at any reasonable time
on reasonable notice by any
derector

Corporate Governance Practices

+ The Remuneration Committee held two
meetings in respect of the year of 2007
The meeting held in November 2007 was
to provide the Remuneration Committee
with an overview of the job market condiions
and trends for the year, and the meeting
held in January 2008 was to review, consider
and endorse the remuneration packages
proposed for, the Executive Directors of the
Company

* All members of the Board Committees are
corsulted as to whether they may want to
include any matter in the agenda before the
agenda for each Board Committee meeting
Is 1ssued .

» Regular Board:Commrttee meetings In a
particular year are usually scheduled towards
the end of the immediately preceding year to
give all Board Committee members adequate
time to plan therr schedules to attend

e At least 14 days formal notice would be given
.before éach Board Committee meeting-

. » According to the Company’s Bye-laws, the

Board Committee’ member may walve notice
of the relevant Board Commitiee meeting

« Board Committee membefs have access to

, the Company Secretary and key officers of
the Company Secretarial Department who
are responsible to the Board Commuttees for

. ensuring that Board Committee procedures,
and all applicable rules and regulations, are
followed

» The Company Secretary prepares minutes /
written resclutions and keeps records of
substantive matters discussed and decisions
resolved at Board Committee meetings

» Board Commuttee minutes / written resolutions
ara sent to all Board Committee members
within a reasonable time (generally within
14 days) after each Board Committee meeting

¢ Board Committee minutes / written resolutions
are available for inspection by Board Committee
members
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Recommended

Beast Practice Comply ("C"}/
Ref. Recommended Best Practices Explain ("E”)  Corporate Governance Practices

A 110 (Cont'd)

Alb

~ Minutes of board meetings and
meetings of board committees
should record in sufficient detail
the matters considered by the
board and decisions reached

- Draft and final versions of board
minutes for all directors to comment
and to keep records within a
reasonable time after the board
meeting

At7

~ A procedure agreed by the
board to enable directors, upon
reasonable request, to seek
independent professional advice in
approprate arcumstances, at the
company’s expense

— The board should resolve to
provide separate independent
professional advice to directors
to assist the relevant director or
directors to discharge his / her duties
to the company

A18

- If a substantral shareholder or a
director has a conflict of mterest
in @ matter to be considered by
the board which the hoard has
determined to be matenal, the
matter should not be dealt with
by way of crculaton or by a
committee but a board meeting
should be held

- Independent non-executive
directors who, and whose
assaciates, have no matenal
interest in the transaction should
be present at such board meeting

+ The minutes of the Board Commuttees record
in sufficient detail the matters considered by
the Board Committees and decisions reached

¢ Board Committee members are given an
opportunity to comment on draft Board
Committee minutes

* Final version of Board Committee minutes s
placed on record within a reasonable tme
after the Board Committee meeting

» Board Comnuttee members have been
advised that the Company Secretary can
arrange independent professional advice at
the expense of the Company should such
advice be considered necessary by any Board
Committee member

» Board Commuttee members must declare
his 7 her interest in the matters to be considered
by the Board Committee, If applicable

In case of conflict of interests, relevant
Directors refrain from voting Mr Victor Li,
the Chairrman of the Board, is also the
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
He refrained from voting at decisions made
in respect of his own remuneration package

The Company has an Executive Committee
which comprises Executive Directors and
certain senior management of the Company
The major function of the Executive Committee
Is to review the ongoing aperations of the
Group and constder potential acquisition
opportunities In the event that conflict of
interest was to anse In respect of a substantial
shareholder or a director, the matter will

be referred to the Board, ensurnng the
mvolvernent of Independent Non-executive
Directors, for consideration and decision
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: *iecnmmended

Comply {“C"}/
Explain (E™)

Best Practice

Ref. Recommended Best Practices Corporate Governance Practices

A2 Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Corporate Governance Principle

There should be a clear division of responsibilities between the Chawrman and the Group
Managing Director of the Company to ensure a balance of power and authonty

AZ24

— Chairman to provide leadership for
the board

- The chairman should ensure that
the hoard works effectively and .
discharges its responsibilities, and
that all key and appropriate issues
are discussed by the board 1n a
timely manner

— The chairman should be primarnly
responsible for drawing up and
approving the agenda for each
board meeting taking into account,
where appropriate, any matters
proposed by the other directors
for inclusion in the agenda The
chairman may delegate such
responsibility to a designated
director or the company secretary

C

¢ The Chairman of the Board Is an Executive
Director wha 1s responsible for the leadership
and effective runming of the Board

The Chairman determines the broad strategic
direction of the Group In consultation with
the Board and 15 responsible for the high-level
oversight of management

The Board meets regularly and held meetings
In March, May, August and November 2007

with the support of the Executive Directors
and the Company Secretary, the Chairman
enstres that all Directors are properly briefed
on all key and appropriate issues on a timely

manner

The Company Secretary assists the Chairman
In preparing the agenda for each Board
meeting and ensures that, where applicable,
matters proposed by other Directors are
included 1n the agenda, and that all applicable
rules and reguiations are followed

A2S

The chairman should take responsibility
for ensuning that good corporate
governance practices and procedures
are established

* The Board as a whole and the management
of the Company are committed to the
maintenance of good corporate governance
practices and procedures

A26

The chairman should encourage all
directors to make a full and active
contribution 1o the board’s affairs
and take the lead to ensure that the
board acts in the best interests of the
company

C

e Please referto A2 4and A 2 5 of Part II for
the detarls
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Recommended
Best Practice
Ref,

A27

Comply (*C"}/
Explain {("E™)

Recommended Best Practices

The chairman should at least annually C
hold meetings with the non-executive

directors {including independent

non-executive directors) without the

executive directors present

Corporate Governance Practices

« In addrtion to regular Board meetings,

the Charman had meetings with the
Nen-executive Directors {including the
Independent Non-executive Directors)
without the presence of thie Executive
Directors in May and November 2007
Details of the attendance records of
the meetings are set out on page 72

A28

The chairman should ensure that C
appropriate steps are taken to .

provide effective communication

with shareholders and that views

of shareholders are communicated

to the board as a whole

The Company establishes different
communication channels with shareholders
and investors including (1) regular despatch of
printed copes of corporate commurnications
(including but not Irmited to annual reports,
intenm reports, notices of meetings, arculars
and proxy forms) required under the Listing
Rules to the shareholders of the Company,

{1) the annual general meeting provides a
forum for shareholders to raise comments and
exchange views with the Board, {in} updated
and key information on the Group s available
on the website of thé Company, (v} the
Company's website offers a communication
channel between the Company and its
shareholders and stakeholders, (v) regular
press conferences and briefing meetings with
analysts are arranged from time to time 0
update interested parties on the performance
of the Group, () the Company’s Branch
Share Registrars deal with shareholders for
share regrstration and related matters, and
{(vn) Corporate Affarrs Department of the
Company handles enquiries from shareholders,
and investors generally

A29

The chairman should facilitate C
the effective contribution of

non-executive directors 1n particular

and ensure constructive relations

between executive and nan-executive

directors

Please referto A 2 4 and A 2 5 of Part II for
the details
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Recommended

Best Practice Comply (*C"}/
Ref. Recommended Best Practices Explain (“E")  Corporate Governance Practices

A3 Board compaosition

Corporate Governance Principle

The Board should have a balance of skills and experience appropriate for the requirements

of the business of the Company and should include a balanced composttion of Executive and
‘ Non-executive Directors so that independent judgement can effectively be exercised

: A32 The company should appomnt E » The Board consists of a total of sixteen
| ) independent non-executive directors® Directors, comprising eight Executive Directors,
! representing at least one-third of the three Non-executive Directors and five
‘ board independent Non-executive Directors One of

the Executive Directors also acts as Alternate
Director to two Executive Directors Two
Alternate Directors were appointed with
effect from 11th February” 2008 Haif of the
Board, therefor 1s made up of Non-executive
directors with the number of Independent
Non-executive Directars exceeding the
mirimum number required under the Listing
Rules The Company considers that it has
compled with the spirt and the intention

of the Code on CG Practices and that

the addition of one more Independent
Non-executve Director would not make

any sigruficant difference The Company
also considers that there 1s a sufficiently
independent element on the Board 1o provide
the Company and its shareholders with fair
and independent advice

A33 The company should maintain on C + The Company maintains on its webstte an
its website an updated list of its updated hist of its Directors together with
directors identifying their role and their brographical information, and identifies
function and whether they are whether they are independent non-executive
independent non-executive directors directors The Company has also posted on

its website the Terms of Reference of the
Board Committees to enable the shareholders
to understand the role played by those
Independent Non-executive Directors who
serve on the relevant Board Committees

E » The Company is of the view that Executive
Directors are collectively in charge of the
overall executive functions of the Group
as a team for the purposes of efficiency
and effectiveness, and hence 1t is neither
appropniate nor meaningful to rdentify on
its website the role and function of its
indmdual Executive Directors
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Recommended
Bast Practice
Ref,

Comply {("C"}f
Explain (“£¥) Corporate Governance Practices

Kecommended Best Practices

A4 Appointments, re-election and removal
Corporate Governance Principle
There should be a formal, considered and transparent procedure for the appomntment of new
Directors and plans in place for orderly succession for appointments to the Board All Directors
should be subject to re-election at regufar intervals

Ad43 — If an independent non-executive C = Each Independent Non-executive Director

director serves mare than 9 years,
any further appontment of such
independent non-executive director
should be subject to0 a separat'e
resolution to be approved by
shareholders

who was subject to retirement by rotation
was appointed by a separate resolution 1n
the Company’s annual general meeting Each
Independent Non-executive Director wno
was eligible for re-glection at the annual
general meeting had made a confirmation

of independence pursuant to Rule 3 13 of
the Listing Rules The Company had expressed
the view in its circular that each Independent
Non-executive Director who was eligible

for re-election had met the independence
guidelines set out In Rule 3 13 of the Listing
Rules and was independent in accordance
with the terms of the guidelines While

the Company has in accordance with the
recommended best practices to include its
own recommendation in the circular to
explain why a particular candidate should

be re-elected, as all their credentials have
been included in the circular for the
shareholders’ information, the Company
optnes that it 1s more Important for the
sharsholders themselves to make ther gwn
independent decision on whether to approve
a particular re-election or not

— The hoard should set cut to C
shareholders in the papers
accompanying a resolution
to elect such an ndependent
non-executive director the reasons
they believe that the indwidual
continues to be independent and
why he should be re-elected
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Recommended
Best Practice
Ref, Recommended Best Practices

Ad4-A48 - The company should establish a
nomination committee A majority
of the members of the nomination
committee should be independent
non-executive directors

— The nomnation committee should
be established with speafic wrtten
terms of reference which deal
clearly with the committee’s
authority and duties

— It 1s recommended that the
nomination committee should
discharge the following duties -

(a) review the structure, size
and composition (including
the skills, knowledge and
expenence) of the board -
on a regular basis and make
recommendations to the
board regarding ary proposed .
changes,

(b} denuiy indmwiduals suitably
qualfied to become board
members and select or make
recommendations to the
board on the selection of,
ndmduals nominated for
directorships,

Comply (“C"H
Explain {"E"}

E

Carporate Governance Practices

The Company does not have a nomination
comrittee The Board as a whole 15
responsibie for the appointment of new
Directors and the nomination of Directors
for re-election by shareholders at the
general meeting of the Company Under
the Company’s Bye-laws, the Board may
from time to time appoint a Director either
to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to
the existing Board Any such.new Director
shall hold office untl the next following
general meeting of the Company (in the case
of filling a casual vacancy) or until the next
followang annual general meeting of the
Company (in the case of an addition to the
existing Board) and shall then be eligible for
re-election at the same general meeting

1

At present, the Company does not consider it
necessary to have a nomination committee as
‘the full Board is responsible for reviewing the
structure, size and composition of the Board
from time to time 10 ensure that it has a
batanced composttion of skills and expenence
appropriate for the requirements of the
businesses of.the Company, and the Board

as a whole 1s also responsible for reviewing
the succession plan for the Directors, In
particular the Chairman and the Group
Managing Director

Under the Company's Bye-laws, the Board
may from time to time appoint a Director
either to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition
to the existing Board The Company uses a
formal, considered and transparent procedure
for the appointment of new Directors Before
a prospective Director's name 1s formally
proposed, the opinions of the existing
Directors (including the Independent
Non-executive Directors) are sought After
considenng the proposal for the appomniment
of a new Director, the Board as a whole will
make the final decision
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Recommended
Best Practice
Ref,

Ad44-A48
(Cont'd)

Recornmended Best Practices

{¢} assess the independence of
tndependent non-executive
directors, and

(d} make recommendations to
the board on relevant matters
relating to the appointment
or re-appointment of directors
and successton planning
for directors In particular
the chairman and the chuef
executive officer

The nomination commitiee

should make available its terms of
reference explaining its role and
the authonty delegated to it by the
board )

The nomination committee
should be prowided with sufficient
resources to discharge Its duties

Where the board proposes a
resolutton to elect an indwidual
as an independent non-executive
director at ‘the generat meeting,
it should set out in the arcular to
shareholders and / or explanatory
statement accompanying the
notice of the relevant general
meeting why they believe the
individual should be elected and
the reasons why they consider the
indvidual to be independent

Comply {¥C"}/
Explain {"E")

Corporate Governance Practices

 The Board as a whole 1s responsible for
assessing the independence of the Independent
Non-executive Directors according to the
relevant rules and requirements under the
Listing Rules The Company 1s of the view
that all Independent Non-executive Directors
meet the independence guidelines set out In
the relevant requirements of the Listing Rules
and are independent in accordance with the
terms of the guidelines

. " - -

v

» Please refer to A 4 3 of Part II for the details
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Recommended

Best Practice
Ref. Recommended Best Practices

A5 Responsibilities of directors

Corporate Governance Principle

Comply {“C*}/
Explain {“E"}

Corporate Governance Practices

Every Director is required to keep abreast of responsibilities as a Director of the Company and of
the conduct, business activities and development of the Company

ASS All directors should participate in a
programme of contnuous professional
development to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills to help
ensure that therr contribution to the
board remains informed and relevant
The company should be responsible
for arranging and funding a surtable
development programme

C

The Company regularly reminds all Directors

of therr functions and responsibilities Through |
regular Board meetings and the crrculation of
whitten resoluitions, memos and board papers,
all Directors are kept abreast of the conduct,
business activities and development of the
Company

A package compiled and reviewed by the

Company's legal advisers setting out the
duties and responsibilities of directors under

. the Listing Rules, the Companies Ordinance

and other related ordinances and relevant
regulatory requirements of Hong Kong 1s
provided to each newly appointed Director
A revised information package comprising
the latest developments in laws, rules

and regulattons relating to the duties and
responsibilities of directors will be forwarded
to each Director from time to time for his/ her
information and ready reference The revised
“Non-statutory Guidelines on Directors’
Duties” 1ssued by the Compantes Registry of
Hong Kong in October 2007 has been
forwarded to each Director for his / her
information and ready reference

Memos are 1ssued from time to time to keep
Directors up to date with legal and regulatory
changes and matters of relevance to the
Durectors in the discharge of therr duties

During the year, seminars were organised at
which distinguished professionals were inwited
to present to the Directors on subjects such

as directors’ duties and balancing the benefits
and costs of corporate governance, etc
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Recommended
Best Practice
Ref.

Comply (*C"}/
Explain {“E”)

Recommended Best Practices

Corporate Governance Practices

A56 Each director should disclose to C s The Directors have disclosed to the
the company at the time of his Company at the ume of therr appointment

B appointment, and on a periodic and from time to time thereafter the number
basis, the number and nature of and nature of offices held in public companies :
offices held in public companies or or organisations and cther significant
organisations and other significant commitments, identifying the public
commitments, with the identity of the companies or arganisations involved
public companies or organisation and '
an indication of the time involved
The board should determine for
iself how frequently such disclosure
should be made

AS7 Non-executive directors, as equal C = There s satisfactory attendance at Board
board members, should give meetings, Board Committee meetings, the
the board and any comrttees meetings between the Chairman and the
on which they serve such as the Non-executive Directors (including the
audit, remuneration or nomination Independent Non-executive Directors) and
commmittees the benefit of therr skills, the general meeting durning the year Please
expertise and varied backgrounds refertoA11,A22,B11andC31o0f
and quakfications through regular Part I for details of attendance records
attendance and active participation ” s Extent of participation and contribution
They should also attend general should be viewed both quantitatvely and '
meetings and develop a balanced qualitatvely
understanding of the views of
shareholders

A58 Non-executive directors should C » There 15 satisfactory attendance at Board

make a positive contribution to
the development of the company’s
strategy and policies through
independent, constructive and
informed comments

meetings, Board Committee meetings, the

meetings between the Chairman and the

Non-executive Directors (including the

Independent Non-executive Directors) and |
the general meeting during the year Please

referto A11,A22.B11andC 310f

Part I for detatls of attendance records
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Recommended
Best Practice
Ref.

A.6

Comply {("C"}/
Explain {"E")

Recommended 3est Practices

Supply of and access to information

Corporate Governance Principle

Corporate Governance Practices

Directors should be provided in a timely manner with appropriate mformation in such form and of
such quality as will enable them to make an informed decision and to discharge their duties and

responstbifities as Directors of the Company

Please note that there 1s no recommended best practice under Section A 6 in the Code on CG Practices

B.1

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MAN“AGEMENT

The level and make-up of remuneration and disclosure

Corporate Governance Principle

There should be a formal and transparent procedure for setting policy on Executive Directors’
remuneration and for fixing the remuneration packages for alf Directors

A significant proportion of executive C
directors' rernuneration should be

structured so as to hnk rewards to .
corporate and individual performance

* A significant proportion of Executive Directors’
remuneration has been structured so as to
link rewards to corporate and individual
performance in 2007 Please refer to note
37 in the Notes to the Financial Statements
for detatls of discretionary bonus

The company should disclose detalls E
of any remuneration payable to

members of senior management,

on an indwdual and named basis,

in their annual reports and accounts

= The remuneration payable to senior
managernent represents only a small
portion of the turnover and profits of
the Company As a matter of practice,
disclosing details of the remuneration payable
to senior management on an individual
basis does not bring significant benefits
or provide useful information to the
shareholders

Where the board resolves to N/A
approve any remuneration or

compensation arrangements which

the remuneration committee has

previously resolved not to approve,

the board must disclose the reasons

for 1ts resolution 1n its next annual

report

+ The Board has never approved any remuneration
or compensation arrangements which have
previously been rejected by the Remuneration
Commitiee
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Recommended

Best Practice Comply {¥C"}/

Recommended Best Practices Explain {“E”)  Corporate Governance Practices
C. ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
CcA Financal reporting

Corporate Governance Principle
The Board should present a balanced, clear and comprehenstble assessment of the Company’s

performance, position and prospects

c14 The company should announce E « The Company 1ssued half-yearly financial
and publish quarterly financiai results within 3 months after the end of
results within 45 days after the end the relevant period, and annual financal
of the relevant quarter, disclosing results within 4 months after the end of the
such information as would relevant year In addition, all sgnificant and
enable shareholders to assess the price-sensitive transactions have been
perfarmance, financial position and announced and disclosed in accordance
prospects of the company Any such with the Listing Rules dunng the year The
quarterly inancal reports should shareholders of the Company are therefore
be prepared using the accounting able to assess the performance, financial
policies applied to the company’s position and prospects of the Company The
half-year and annual accounts Company does not consider it necessary,

nor is it In the interests of the Company and
its shareholders, to 1ssue guarterly financal
results This would result in incurnng costs
disproperucnate to any additional benefits to
the shareholders

c15 Once the company decides to - E + Please refer to C 1 4 of Part Il for the details
announce and publish its quarterly
financial results, 1t should continue
to adopt quarterly reporting for
each of the first 3 and 9 months
periods of subsequent financial years
Where the company decides not to
announce and publsh its financial
results for a particular quarter, 1t
should publish an announcement
to disclose the reason{(s) for such
decision
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CORPORATE GOVERMANCE REPORT

Recommended

Best Practice
Recommended Best Practices

Comply (“C"}/
Explain {“E")

Corporate Governance Practices

C.2 Internal controls

Corporate Governance Principle

The Board should ensure that the Company maintains sound and effective internal controls to
safeguard the shareholders’ investmment and the Company's assets

c22 The board’s annual review should, in
partcular, consider

— the changes since the last annual
review In the nature and extent of
sigruficant nisks, and the company’s
ability to respond to changes In its
business and the external environment,

~ the scope and quality of management’s
ongoing monitoring of nsks and
of the system of internal control,
and where applicable, the
work of i1s internal audit function
and other providers of assurance,

— the extent and frequency of the
communication of the results of the
monitoring to the board {or board
committee(s)) which enables it
to build up a cumulative assessment
of the state of control in the company
and the effectiveness with which
risk 1s being managed,

- the inoidence of sigrificant cantrol
failings or weakness that has been
identified at any tme during the
period and the extent to which
they have resulted in unforeseen
outcomes or contingencies that
have had, could have had, or may
in the future have, a matenal impact
on the company’s finanaal
performance or condrions, and

- the effectiveness of the company's
processes relating to financial
reporting and Listing Rule
compliance

In the review of the effectiveness of internal
control system, the Board, through the Audit
Committee, considers

*

the changes since the last review in the
nature and extent of significant nsks, and
the Company's ability to respond to changes
in 1ts business and the external environment,

the scope and quality of management’s
ongoing monitoring of nisks, internal control
system, and the work of its Internal Audit
Function and other providers of assurance

the extent and frequency of communication
of the results of monitoring which enables
It to build up a cumulative assessment of
the state of cantrol in the Company and
the effectiveness with which nisk s being
managed,

any incidence of significant control failings

or weaknesses identufied and the extent that
they have caused unforeseeable outcomes or
contingencies that could have matenal impact
on the Company's financial performance or
condrton, and ’

the effectiveness of the Company's processes
relating to finanaal reporting and Listing Rules
comphance
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Recommended
Best Practice

Comply ("C"}/

Ref, Recommended Best Practices Explain {*E")  Corporate Governance Practices
Cc23 The company should disclose as part In the Corporate Governance Report, the
of the Corporate Governance Report Company, in particular tem C 2 1 of Part [,
a narrative statement how they have discloses
compled with the code provisians on e the process of identifying, evaluating and
internal control during the reporting managing the significant risks,
penod The disclosures should also
Jinclude the following rtems « any addwional information to assist understanding
of the risk management processes and
* — the process that the company has C internal control system,
applied for identifying, evaluating
and managing the significant risks « an acknowledgement by the Board that it 1s
faced by 1t, responsible for the internal control system
and for reviewing its effectiveness,
- any addibonal information to assist c
understanding of the comp‘any's * the process applied in reviewing the effectiveness
risk management processes and of internal control system, and
system of internal control, « the process applied to deal with matenal
— an acknowledgement by the board C internal control aspects of any significant
that it 15 responsible for the ¢ problems disclosed in 1ts Annual Reporis
company’s system of internal and Financial Statements N
contro! and for reviewing Its
effectiveness,
- the process th@t the company C
has applied in reviewing the
effectiveness of the system of ,
internal control, and
— the process that the company C
has applied to deal with matenal
internal control aspects of any
significant problems disclosed in
1ts annual reports and accounts
c24 The company shouid ensure that C « The Company aims to ensure disclosures
ther disclosures provide meaningful provide meaningful information and do not
information and do not give a give a misleading impression
misleading impression
C25 The company without an mternal N/A + Please refer to C 2 1 of Part I for the details

audit functon should review the
need for one on an annual basis and
should disclose the outcome of such
review 0 the company’s Corporate
Governance Report
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Recommended

Best Practice
Ref,

Comply (*C}/
Recommended Best Practices Explzin ("E”) Corporate Governance Practices

c3 Audit Committee
Corporate Governance Pninciple
The Board should establish formal and transparent arrangements for considering how it will
apply the financial reporting and internal control principles and for maintaining an appropriate
relatonship wrth the Cornpany’s auditors
C37 The terms of reference of the audsit . The Company has issued an employee’s
commuttee should also require the handbook to its staff, which contains the
i audit committee mechantsm for employees to ratse any
_ to review arrangements by which £ guestions they may have to therr department
employees of the company may, In head and to the human resources and
confidence, raise concerns about administration department for-necessary
possible improprieties in fimancial action {(whether these relate to ther career
reporting, nternal confrol or other development or any other grievances and
matters The audit committee should complaints they may have) The Company
ensure that proper arrangements ' consrder; such mechanisms tofbe suffllaent to
are In place for the fair and ensure that there 1s a channel for emp oyees’
independent investigation of such to have a direct communication with the
matters and for appropriate management of the Company
follow-up action, and
— to act as the key representative C
body for overseeing the company’s
relation with the external auditor
D. DELEGATION BY THE BOARD )
D.1 Management functions
Corporate Governance Principle
The Company should have a formal schedule of matters specifically reserved to the Board and
those delegated to management
D13 The company should disclose the C s Please refer to the Management Structure
dwvision of responsibility between Chart set out on page 114

the board and management to assist
those affected by corporate decisions
1o better understand the respective
accountabiliies and contributions of
the board and management
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Recommended

Best Practice Comply (“C")/
Ref. Recommended Best Practices Explain ("E”)  Corporate Governance Practices

D14 Directars should clearly understand E » |t I1s not the Company’s practice to have
delegation arrangements in place formal letters of appointment for its Directors
To that end, the company should Nevertheless, Directors clearly understand
have formal letters of appointment " therr duties to the Company, to which they
for directors setting out the key are collectively and indwidually responsible
terms and conditions refative to for In addition, part of these duties relate
their appointment to fiduciary duties, dutres of skill, care and

cLr diligence established under common law over

J along period of time, and 1t 15 not feasible to

attenpt to formulate these comprehensively

inwriting The difficulty in reduang these

' comprqﬁenswely into wirtten form has been

. ’ shared by the Companies Registry of Hong

’ Kong, which has decided, Instead of setting
out these duties in the Companies Ordinance,
o 1ssue only non-statutory g1u1dellnes on

+ directors’ duttes To have a formal letter of
appointment may also lead to inflextbility

D.2 Board Committees

Corporate Governance Principle
Board Commuttees should be formed with specific written terms of reference which deal clearly

with the commuttees’ authonty and duties

Please note that there 1s no recommended best practice under Section D 2 in the Code on CG Practices

E. COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOI:DERS ; ) .

E.1 Effective communication

Corporate Governance Principle

The Board should endeavour to maintain an on-going dralogue with shareholders and in
particutar, use annual general meetings or other general meetings to communicate with
shareholders and encourage their participation

Please note that there 1s no recommended best practice under Section E 11n the Code on CG Practices

E.2 Voting by Poll

Corporate Governance Principle
The Company should regularly inform shareholders of the procedure for voting by poll and ensure

compiiance with the requirements about voting by poll contained in the Listing Rules and the
constitutional documents of the Company

Please note that there 1s no recommended best practice under Section E 2 in the Code on CG Practices
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Management Structure Chart

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
LI Tzar Kuol, Victor
KAM Hing Lam
IP Tak Chuen, Edmond
FCK Kin Ning, Canming
Andrew John HUNTER
CHOW WOO Mo Fong, Susan
Frank John SIXT
TSO Kas Sum

ALTERNATE DIRECTORS
MAN Ka Keung, Simon *
(alternate to 1P Tak Chuen, Edmond)
Eirene YEUNG *
(alternate to KAM Hing Lam)

* appointed on 11th February, 2008

CHAIRMAN
LI Tzar Kuol, Victor

GROUP MANAGING DIRECTOR

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
LEE Pur Ling, Angelina
Barne COOK
George Colin MAGNUS

BOARD OF DIRECTORS AUDIT COMMITTEE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS.
CHEONG Ying Chew, Henry
KWOK Eva Lee
SNG Sow-mer allas POON Sow Mei
Colin Stevens RUSSEL
LAN Hong Tsung, David

Colin Stevens RUSSEL {Chairman)
CHEONG Ying Chew, Henry
— KWOK Eva Lee
SNG Sow-mei alias POON Sow Mei
LAN Hong Tsung, David

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

LI Tzar Kuey, Victor (Charmany)
— Colin Stevens RUSSEL
CHEONG Ying Chew, Henry

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

Ll Tzar Kuol, Victor {Chawrman}
KAM Hing Lam
IP Tak Chuen, Edmond
Andrew John HUNTER
CHAN Kee Ham, Ivan
CHAN Lot Shun, Dorminic
LEUNG Ying Wah, Lambert
LUN Pak Lam
CHEN Tsien Hua, Joanna

CORPORATE OFFICE
Corporate Legal
Corporate Affairs

Company Secretanal

KAM Hing Lam
Planning & investment
Internal Audit -----------~~
Human Resources & Adnunistration
Information Technoiogy
INTERNATIONAL BUSINESS CHINA FINANCE &
OPERATION DEVELOPMENT INFRASTRUCTURE ACCOUNTING
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Deloitte.
=2

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF CHEUNG KONG INFRASTRUCTURE HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda with imited hability}

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Cheung Kong Infrastructure Holdings Limited {the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries {collectively referred to as the “Group*) set out on pages 117 to 175, which comprise
the consolidated balance sheet as at 31st December, 2007, and the consolidated income statement, the consolidated
statement of recognised mmcome and expense and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended, and
a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes

Directors’ responsibility for the consolidated financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and the true and fair presentation of these
consohdated financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordiance This responsibility includes designing, implementing and maintaining internal controls relevant to the
preparation and the true and fair presentation of the consohdated financial statements that are free from matenal
musstatement, whether due to fraud or error, selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies, and making
accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances

Auditor's responsibility

Qur responsibibity Is to express an opinion on these conscldated financial statements based on our audit and to
report our opinion solely to you, as a body, In accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act and for
no other purpose We do not assume responstbility towards or accept hability to any other person for the contents of
this report We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing 1ssued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the consolidated financial statements are free

from material misstatement
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{INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements The procedures selected depend on the auditor's jJudgment, including the
assessment of the nsks of matenal misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error In making those nsk assessments, the auditor considers internal controls relevant to the entity’s preparation
and true and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate In the arcumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of its internal
controls An audit also includes evaluating the appropniateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness
of accounting estimates made by the directors of the Company, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consohdated financial statements

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements gives a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group as at
31st December, 2007, and of its profit and cash flows for the year then ended 1n accordance with Hong Kong Financial

Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Compames Ordinance

b 1%

Deloitte Touchg Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

17th March, 2008
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

far the year ended 31st December

HKS mitlion
Group turnover 6 1,865 1,822
Share of turnover of jointly controlled entities 6 4,024 2,977
5,889 4,799
Group turnover . 6 1.865 1,822
Other income 7 734 756
Operating costs 8 (1.669) (1,587)
Finance costs 9 {560) (523)
Gain on disposal of a JOlany controlled entity 10 ' 815 -
Impairment losses 11 (654) {279)
Share of results of associates 3,554 2,751
Share of results of jointly controlled entities 700 737
Profit before taxation 12 4,785 3,677
Taxatton ’ 13 (6) (4)
Profit for the year 14 4,779 3,673
Attnibutable to:
Shareholders of the Company 4,772 3,670
Minornity interests ) 7 3
4,779 3,673
Earnings per share 15 HK$2,12 HK$1 63
Dividends 16
Intenim dividend paid 609 564
Proposed final dividend 1,871 1,690
2,480 2,254
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

as at 31st December

HKS million

Property, plant and equipment 17 1,121 991
Investment properties 18 160 130
Leasehold land 19 292 301,
Interests in associates ’ 20 ’ 30,389 29,382
" Interests i jomtly controlled entities 21 3,176 4,238
“Interests in infrastructure project tvestments 22 377 450 .
Investments in securities 23 4,187 3,064
Denvative financial instruments 24 55 38
Goodwill 25 209 205
Deferred tax assets 31 5 -
Other non-current assets 32(b) 15 13
-Total non-current assets 39,980 - 38,852
“Inventones g 26 75 99
Interests in infrastructure project mvestments 22 125 127
Derwative financial instruments 24 428 369
Debtors and prepayments 27 607 455
Bank balances and deposits 28 8,217 7,720
Total current assets 9,452 8,770
Bank and other loans 29 2,972 . 3813
ﬂﬁbenvatwe financial lnstm}ﬁents - 24 417 = 485
Creditors and accruals 30 1,292 1,245
+ Taxation 121 105
Total current habilities 4,802 5,648
Net current assets 4,650 3,122
Total assets less current habilities 44,640 41,974
Bank and other loans 29 4,607 5,514
Dervative financial instruments 24 187 179
.Deferred tax habilities N 373 401
“Other non-current liabilibes 32(c) 16 " 15
Total non-current liabilities 5,183 6,109
Net assets 39,457 35,865
Representing
Share capital 33 2,254 2,254
Reserves 34 37,155 33,570
- Equity attributable to shareholders of the Company 39,409 35824
“Minonity interests ) . 34 a8 " - a
Total equity 39,457 - 35,865

LI TZAR KUOI, VICTOR . IP TAK CHUEN, EDMOND
Director == //_\‘-DI etor p

=
17th March, 2008
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF RECOGNISED INCOME AND EXPENSE

for the year ended 3 1st December

HK$ million
Surplus on revaluation of properties upon transfer to investment properties 3 44
Gam from fair value changes of avallable-for-sale financiat assets 65 42
Gain / {Loss) from fair value changes of dervatives designated as effective

cash flow hedges 28 (147)
Actuanal gains of defined benefit retirement schemes 96 190
Exchange differences on translation of financial statements of foreign operations 682 828
Share of reserve movement of an assocrate (31) -
Cumulative impact from adoption of Amendment to HKAS 19 R - (141)
Net gain recognised directly In equity , ) 843 816
Reserves released upon disposal of investment in security 3 -
Reserves released upon disposals of interests in an associate 29 -
Reserve released relating to cash flow hedge 237 -
Profit for the year 4,779 3,673
Total recognised income and expense for the year 5,891 4,489
Attributable to:
Shareholders of the Company . 5,884 4,486
Minority interests 7 3

5,891 4,489
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

for the year ended 31st December

HK$ million

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Cash generated from operations 36 1,162 1,182

Income taxes paid ) (17)
Net cash from operating activities 1,155 1,165
INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchases of property, plant and equipment (183} (45)
Disposals of property, plant and equipment 6 12

Acquisitions of associates (8) (1,227)
Return of capital from an associate 122 33

Disposals of interests in an assocate 538 -
Disposal of a jointly controlfed entity 1,160 -
Advances to associates ' (30) (90)
Advances from an associate 20 -
Repayments from associates 1 3

Acquisition of a jointly controlled entity - (69)
Repayments from jointly controlled entities ‘ 825 270

Disposal of an infrastructure project investment - 115

Purchases of securities ' (1,159 (837)
Disposals of securities 200 -
Repayments from finance lease debtors 2 4
Loan note repayments of stapled securities 75 52

Dwidends received from associates 2,047 2,350
Interest receved 542 376
Finance lease income received . “ - 1

Net cash from investing activities ] 4,158 948
Net cash before financing activities 5,313 2,113

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

New bank and other loans 1,659 23

Repayments of bank and other loans (3.813} (13)
Finance costs paid {363) (353)
Dividends paid (2,299) (2.160)
Net cash utillised in finanang activities (4,816) (2.503)
Net increase / {decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 497 (390}
Cash and cash equivalents at 1st January 1,720 8,110

Cash and cash equivalents at 31st December 8,217 7.720

Representing

Bank balances and deposits at 315t December 8,217 7,720
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

General

The Company 1s a hmited hability company incorporated in Bermuda and its shares are histed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Hong Kong Stock Exchange”) The addresses of its registered office and
principal place of business are disclosed In the section headed “Corporate Information” of the Group's Annual
Report The Directors consider that the Company's ultimate holding company s Hutchison Whampoa Limited,
a company incorporated in Hong Kong with hirmited liability, the shares of which are listed on Hong Kong Stock

Exchange

The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which 1s the same as the functional currency of

the Company

The Group's principal activities are the development, investment and operation of infrastructure businesses In
Hong Kong, Manland China, Australia, the United Kingdom, and Canada

Changes in Accounting Policies

In the current year, the Group has adopted a number of new and revised Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards ("HKFRSs"}, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs") and Interpretations (" HK{FRIC)-Int")
(hereinafter collectively referred to as “new HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants {“HKICPA") that are effective to the Group for accounting periods beginming on or after

1st January, 2007 Except for the changes In disclosures as set out below, the adoption of those new HKFRSs
has no material impact on the Group’s results and finanaal position for the current or prior years, and does not
result In any significant changes in the accounting policies of the Group

On 1st January, 2007, the Group adopted HKFRS 7 “Financial instruments Disclosures” and HKAS 1
{Amendment) “Capital Disclosures”, and has included vanous revised and new disclosures in its notes to the
financial statements, which relate to the Group’s financial instrurents and capital management

The Group has not early adopted the following new HKFRSs issued by HKICPA that are effective to the Group
for accounting penods beginning on or after 1st January, 2008 The Directors anticipate that the adoption of
these HKFRSs will have no material impact on the results and financial position of the Group

HKAS 1 (Revised) Presentation of Financial Statements

HKAS 23 (Revised) Borrowing Costs

HKFRS 8 Operating Segments

HK (IFRIC) - Int 11 HKFRS 2 Group and Treasury Share Transactions
HK (IFRICY = Int 12 Service Concession Arrangements

HK {IFRIC} —int 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes

HK (IFRIC) - Int 14 HKAS 19 -~ The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset,

Mimimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. Principal Accounting Policies

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards 1ssued by HKICPA In addition, the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on Hong Kong Stock Exchange and by the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain
properties and financial iInstruments, which are measured at fair values, as explained in the principal accounting

policies set cut below
(a) Basis of Consolhidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidianes made up to the year together with the Group’s interests In associates and jointly controlled
entities on the basts set out i {(d) below

The results of subsidiaries, associates and jointly controlled entities acquired or disposed of during the
year are included in the consolidated income statement from the effective dates of acquisitions or up to
the effective dates of disposals, as appropnate

{b) Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of costs of acquisition over the net fair value of the Group’s share of the
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the subsidiaries, associates and jointly contralled
entities acquired Goodwill 1s recognised as an asset less any identified impairment loss

The Group has applied the refevant transitional provisions in HKFRS 3 “Business Combination” Goodwill
recognised In reserves prior to 1st January, 2001 continues to be held in the reserves and are transferred
1o retained profits when the business to which the goodwill relates 1s disposed of or becomes impaired

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill s allocated to each of the Group's cash-generating

units expected to benefit from the synergies of the business acquisition Cash-generating units to which
goodwill has been allocated are tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when there 1s an
indication that the unit may be impaired If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit 15 less
than the carrying amount of the unit, the mpairment loss 1s allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any gocdwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis of the
carrying amount of each asset in the urit An impairment loss recognised for goodwill I1s not reversed in

subsequent penods

On disposal of a subsidiary, associate or jomntly controlled entity, the attributable amount of goodwill is
included in the determination of the gain or loss on disposal
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3.

Principal Accounting Policies (Cont’d)

{c}

(d)

(e)

Subsidianes

A subsidiary I1s an entity that 1s controlled by the Company Control s achieved where the Company has
the power to govern the financial and operating pelicies of such entity o as to obtain benefits from its

activities

The acquisition of subsicharies 1s accounted for using the purchase method The cost of the acquisition 1$
measured at the aggregate of the fair values, at the date of exchange, of assets given, habilitres incurred
or assumed, and equity Instruments issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree, plus
any costs directly attributable to the business combination The acquiree’s identifiable assets, habilities
and contingent liabilities, where approprate, are recognised at their fair values at the acquisihion date

Associates and Jointly Controlled Entities

An assoclate Is a company, other than a subsidiary or jointly controlled entity, in which the Group has a
long-term equity interest and over which the Group 1s in a position to exercise significant influence over
its management, including participation in the financial and operating policy decisions

A joint venture Is a contractual arrangement whereby the venturers undertake an economic activity
which 1s subject to joint control and over which none of the participating parties has unilateral control A
jointly controlled entity 1s the joint venture which involves the establishment of a separate entity

The results and assets and lhabilities of associates/jointly controlled entities are incorporated in the
Groups financial statements using the equity method of accounting Under the equity method,
nvestments in assoaates/jointly controlled entities are carried in the consolidated balance sheet at cost
as adjusted for post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share of the net assets of the associates/jointly
controlled entities, less impairment in the values of individual investments

Losses of an associatefjointly controlled entity in excess of the Group’s interest in that associate/jointly
controlled entity (which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s
investment in the associatefjointly controlled entity) are not recogmised

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses The cost of an asset comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing
the asset to its working condition and location for its intended use

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment Is calculated to write off their depreciable amounts over
therr estimated useful lives using the straight-line method, at the following rates per annum

Builldings 1% to 3 Y% or over the unexpired lease
terms of the land, whichever 1s the higher
Mains, pipes, other 3% t0 33 5%
plant and machinery
Others 5% to 33 1%

ANNUAL REPDRY 2007 123




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Principal Accounting Policies (Cont’d)

(e)

)

(9

(h)

®

»

Property, Plant and Equipment (Cont'd)

When an asset 1s disposed of or retired, any gain or loss, representing the difference between the
carrying value and the sales proceeds, if any, 15 included in the consohdated income statement

Investment Property

Investment property, which 1s property held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation, is stated at its
fair value at the balance sheet date Gains or losses ansing from changes in the fair values of investment
properties are recognised In the consohdated income statement for the period in which they arse

Leasehold Land

Leasehold land 1s classifred as prepaid operating leases and are amortised over the unexpired lease terms

using the straight-ine method

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost, computed on a weighted-average or a first-in first-out

basis as appropnate, and net realisable value Cost includes cost of purchase and where applicable,
cost of conversion and other costs that have been incurred in bringing the inventones to therr present
location and condition Net realisable value 1s determined on the basis of anticipated sales proceeds less

estimated costs to completion and selling expenses

Contract Work

When the outcome of a contract can be estimated reliably, revenue and costs associated with the

contract are recognised as revenue and expenses respectively by reference to the stage of completion

of the contract actvity at the balance sheet date, that 1s the proportion that contract costs incurred for '
work performed to date bears to the estimated total contract costs

When the autcome of a contract cannot be estimated rehably, revenue 1s recognised only to the extent
of contract costs incurred that will probably be recoverable
When 1t 1s probable that total contract costs will exceed total revenue, the expected loss 1s recogrised as

an expense immediately
Financial Instruments

Interests in infrastructure project investments

investments In joint veniures are classified as infrastructure project investments, where the Group's return |
15 predetermined in accordance with the provisions of the relevant agreements and the venturers’ share

of net assets are not in proportion to their capital contribution ratios but are as defined in the contracts

and In respect of which the Group Is not entitled to share the assets at the end of the investment

periods
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3.

Principal Accounting Policies {Cont’d)

H

Finanaal Instruments (Cont’d)
Interests i infrastructure project mvestments (Cont'd)

The Group's Interests In the infrastructure project investments, dlassified as loans and receivable in
accordance with HKAS 39, are stated at amortised cost using effective interest method The carrying
amount of such Interests 1s reduced to recogruse any identified impairment losses of indwidual

Investments

Investrents in securities

The Group’s investments in secunties are classified as either available-for-sale financial assets, which are
measured at fair value or at cost when the fair value cannot be measured refiably or financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss which are measured at far value

The Group designates the securities intended to be held for long term strategic purposes as available-for-
sale financial assets Gans and losses ansing from changes in fair values of these assets are dealt with as
movements I nvestment revaluation reserve, until the assets are disposed of or are determined to be
impaired, at which time the cumulative gains or losses previously recognised in the reserve I included

in the consolidated income statement for the period Impairment losses recogrused 1n the consohdated
income statement for equity securities classified as available-for-sale financial assets are not subsequently

reversed in the consolidated income statement

Securities which are managed and their performances are evaluated based on a fair value basis are
designated as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss The management considers that such
designation 1§ appropnate given that the basis of internal risk assessments and performance evaluations
on these assets 1s different from other investments and assets of the Group Gains and losses ansing
from changes In fair values of these assets are dealt with in the consolidated income statement The net
gain or loss recognised in the consolidated income statement include dividend or interest accrued on the

financial assets
Denvative financial instruments and hedge accounting

Denwvative financial instruments are initially measured at farr values on the dates at which the contracts
are entered into, and are remeasured to their far values at subsequent reporting dates

Changes In the far values of dervative financial instruments that are designated as effective in hedging
future cash flows are recognised directly in hedging reserve Amount deferred in the equity are recycled
in profit or loss In the pertods when the hedged item 1s recognised in profit or loss Any ineffective
portion 15 recognised immediately 1n the consolidated income statement

Changes in the fair values of denvative financial instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting
are recognised in the consolidated income statement
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3 Principal Accounting Policies (Cont’d)
() Financial Instruments {(Cont’d)
Dervative financial instruments and hedge accounting (Cont'd)

Hedge accounting s discontinued when the hedging instrument expires of 15 sold, terminated, or
exercised, or the hedge no longer qualifies for hedge accounting Any cumulative gain or loss deferred in
equity at that time remains in equity and 1s recognised when the hedged nsk associated with the hedged
item s ultimately recognised in profit or loss The cumulative gain or loss that was deferred in equity 15
recogrised immediately in profit or loss when a forecast transaction 1s no longer expected to occur in

relation to hedging of a forecast transaction

Debtors

Debtors are classified as foan and recevables in accordance with HKAS 39, and are initially measured at
farr value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method Appropriate
allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts are recognised in the consolidated income statement
when there 15 objective evidence that the assets are impatred

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are classified as loan and recewables in accordance with HKAS 39, and
compnise cash on hand and demand deposits, and other short-term highly hquid investments that are
readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in

value
Bank and other loans

Interest-bearing bank and other loans are initially measured at fair values, and are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method

Creditors

Creditors are intially measured at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method

Equity mstruments

Equity instruments 1ssued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct 1ssue

costs
Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract 1s a contract that requires the 1ssuer to make specified payments to
reimburse the holder for a loss it ncurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due

In accordance with the original or modified terms of a debt instrument A financial guarantee contract
issued by the Group, which s not designated as a fair value through profit or loss, 1s recogrised initially
at its fair value less transaction costs directly attributable to the ssue of the financial guarantee contract

126 CHEUNG KONG INFRASTRUCTURE HOLDINGS LIMITED




3.

Principal Accounting Policies (Cont’d)

)

(k)

n

Finanaal Instruments (Cont'd)

Fair value

Fair value of financial assets and financial habilities with standard terms and conditcons and traded on
active hquid markets are determined with reference to quoted market prices Farr value of derivative
financial instruments and certain avallable-for-sale financial assets not traded on active iquid markets are
determined with reference to fair value estimated by independent professionals

Revenue Recognition

Sales of goods

Revenue from sales of goods are recognised at the time when the goods are delivered or title to the
goods passes to the customers Revenue 1s measured at the fair value of the consideration received or
receivable and 1s armved at after deduction of any sales returns and discounts and taxes

Return from infrastructure project investments

Return from infrastructure project mvestments Is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the carrying
amount and at the effective interest rate applicable, which s the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts through the expected life of the infrastructure project to that project’s net carrying

amount at initiat recognition
Interest income

Interest income from a finanaial asset excluding financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 1s
accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate
applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected
life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount

Income from investments in securities

Dividend and interest income from nvestments in securities are recognised when the Group's night to

receive payment s established
Contract revenue
Income from contracts 15 recognised according to the stage of completion

Foreign Currencies

The indmidual financial statements of each group entity 1s prepared and presented in the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates {"functional currency”) For the purpose of
the consolidated finanaial statements, the result and financial positton of each entity are presented in
Hong Kong Dollars, which is the functional currency of the Company and the presentation currency for

the consolidated financiat statements
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3. Principal Accounting Policies (Cont'd)

[{}) Foreign Currencies (Cont’d)

in preparing the financial statements of the individual entities, transactions in currencies other than the
entity’s functional currency {"foreign currencies”) are recorded at the rates of exchange prevaifing on the
dates of the transacttons At each balance sheet date, monetary items denorinated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the balance sheet date Non-monetary items carried at fair
value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranstated at the rates prevailing on the date
when the fair value was determied Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in

a foreign currency are not retranslated

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the retranslation of
monetary items, are included in the income statement for the year Exchange differences arising on the
retranslation of non-monetary rtems carried at fair values are included in the income statement for the
year except for differences ansing on the retranslation of non-monetary ikems In respect of which gains
and losses are recogrised directly in equity For such non-monetary items, any exchange component of
that gain or loss 1s also recognised directly in equity

For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s
foreign operations are translated into Hong Kong Dollars using exchange rates prevailing on the balance
sheet date Income and expense ttems are translated at the average exchange rates for the year, unless
exchange rates fluctuated significantly during that year, in which case the exchange rates at the dates of
the transactions are used Exchange differences ansing, if any, are classified as equity and transferred to
the Group's exchange translation reserve Such translation differances are recognised in the consolidated
mncome statement in the year in which the foreign operation Is disposed of

Goodwill and farr value adjustments ansing on the acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets
and habilities of the foreign operation and translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the balance
sheet date Exchange difference ansing are recognised in the exchange translation reserve

(m) Taxation

Hong Kong Profits Tax 15 provided for at the prevaiing rate on the estimated assessable profits less
available tax relief for losses brought forward of each indvidual company comprising the Group
Overseas tax is provided for at the applicable local rates on the estimated assessable profits of the

individual company concerned

Deferred tax 1s provided using balance sheet liability method, on all temporary differences arising
between the carrying amounts of assets and habilities in the financial statements and the corresponding
tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit of the corresponding year Deferred tax habdities

are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences, and deferred tax assets are recognised to
the extent that 1t is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary
differences can be utilised Such assets and hiabiliies are not recognised If the temporary difference arises
from goodwill or from the inital recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and
labilities n a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profrt
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Principal Accounting Policies (Cont’d)
(m) Taxation (Cont'd)

Deferred tax habilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences anising on investments in
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, except where the Group 1s able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and It 15 probable that the temporary difference wifl not reverse in the foreseeable

future

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the
extent that 1t 1s no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be avallable to allow all or part of

the assets to be recovered

Deferred tax 1s calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply In the year when the liability 1
settled or the asset 1s realised Deferred tax is charged or credited in the income statement, except when
it relates to items charged or credited directly to equity, 1n which case the deferred tax is also dealt with

In equity
(n) Operating Leases

Leases where substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of assets remain with the lessors
are accounted for as operating leases Rentals payable under operating leases are recorded in the
consolidated income statement on a straight-hne basis over the respective lease terms

(o) Finance Leases

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the leased assets to the lessees
are accounted for as finance leases

The amounts due from the lessees under finance lease contracts are recorded as finance lease debtors
The finance lease debtors comprise the gross investment in leases less unearned finance lease income
allocated to future accounting periods The unearned finance lease income 1s allocated to future
accounting periods so as to reflect constant periodic rates of return on the Group’s net Investments
outstanding in respect of the leases

Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets at ther faw values or, if lower, at the present
value of the mimimum lease payment at the dates of inception The corresponding habilities to the
lessor are shown within bank and ather loans in the balance sheet as obligations under finance leases
Finance costs are charged to the consolidated income statement over the terms of the relevant leases so
as to produce a constant periodic rate of charge on the remaining balance of the obhgations for each

accounting period
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3.

Principal Accounting Policies (Cont’d)

()]

()

Employee Retirement Benefits
The Group operates defined contribution and defined benefit retirement plans for its employees

The costs of defined contribution plans are charged to the consolidated income statement as and when
employees have rendered service entitling them to the contributions

The cost of prowiding retirement benefits under the Group’s defined benefit retirement plans s
determined using the projected unit credit method, with actuanal valuations being carnied out annually
Actuanial gains and losses of defined benefit retirement plans are recognised immediately i full in the
period In which they occur, outside profit or loss, 1n equity Past service Cost is recognised immediately

to the extent that the benefits are already vested, and otherwise 1s amortised on a straight-line basis
over the average penod until the amended benefits become vested The amount recognised in the
consolidated balance sheet represents the present value of the defined benefit obligation as adjusted for
unrecognised past service cost and as reduced by the fair value of plan assets Any assets resufting from
this calculation ts mited to past senaice cost plus the present vatue of available refunds and reductions in

future contributions ta the plans
Borrowing Costs

Borrowing costs are expensed i the Income statement In the year in which they are incurred, except to
the extent that they are caprtalised as being directly attributable to the financing of certain infrastructure
projects considered as qualified assets up to the commencement of revenue contnbution or upon
commencement of operation of the projects, whichever is the earlier

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

The key assumption concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at 31st Decemnber, 2007,
that have a significant risk of causing a matenal adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and habilities
within the next financial year, are discussed below

(a)

(b)

impairment of Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tested for impairment if there 1s any indication that the carrying
value of these assets may not be recoverable and the assets are subject to an impairment toss The
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use The value in
use calculation requures the Group to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the relevant
cash-generating unit and a suitable discount rate 1s used in order to calcutate the present value The
carrying value of property, plant and equipment as at 315t December, 2007 is HK$1,121 milion

Impairment of Interests in Infrastructure Project Investments

Determining whether interests In infrastructure project investments are impatred requires an estimation
of the recoverable amounts of mfrastructure project investments, which represent the present values of
estimated future cash flows from those investments, discounted at the oniginal effective interest rates
The carrying amount of interests in Infrastructure project investments as at 31st December, 2007 1s

HK$502 million
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Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

The Group’s major financal iInstruments include interests in infrastructure project investments, Investments In

securities, dervative financial instruments, bank balances and deposits, bank and other loans, and debtors and

creditors Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in the respective notes The risks associated with

these financial instruments and the policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below The management

manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and ,
effective manner

(a)  Currency Risk

The Group 15 exposed to currency risk primarnly ansing from foreign investments and borrowings
denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of iIndividual subsidiaries, which accounted
for 27 per cent of the Group's borrowings (2006 21 per cent) The Group generally hedges those
investments with the appropriate level of borrowings denominated in the local currencies of relevant
countries The Group also entered into currency swaps to hedge most fareign investments financed by
internal resources Given this, the management considers that the net exposure to currency risk 1s kept
to an appropnate level Detalls of the currency swaps entered into by the Group at the balance sheet
date are set out in note 24

The Group s also exposed to currency risk ansing from bank deposits denominated in foreign currencies, ;
which accounted for 85 per cent of the Group's cash and cash equivalents at the balance sheet date
(2006 76 per cent) Those bank deposits are mainly denominated in United States dollars, Austrahan
dollars and Pounds Stering The management maintains the portfolio of bank deposits denominated in
different currencies and the exposure to currency risk 1s kept to an appropniate level

Sensttivity analysis

The following table indicates the approximate change In the Group's profit for the year and other
components of consolidated equity in response to a 10 per cent strengthening in foreign currencies
(except for United States dollars) against Hong Kong dollars to which the Group has significant exposure
related to monetary items and denvative financial instruments tn existence at the balance sheet date

2007 2006
Effect on profit Effect on other Effect on profit Effect on other
for the year components of equity fortheyear  components of equity
HK$ million increasef{decrease)  increase/{decrease} increasef{decrease) increasefdecrease)
Australian Dollars 210 252 208 137 1
Pounds Sterling (6) (290) (41} (315) |
Japanese Yen (209) - {200} -
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5. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies (Cont'd)}
(a) Currency Risk (Cont'd)
Sensitivity analysis (Cont'd)

A 10 per cent weakening in the above foreign currences against Hong Kong dollars would have had
an equal but opposite effect on the Group’s profit for the year and other components of consolidated

equity

The sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming that the change in foreign exchange rates had
occurred at the balance sheet date and had been applied to each of the Group’s entities exposure to
currency nisk for both monetary items and derivative financial instruments in existence at that date, and
that all other vanables, tn particular interest rates, remain constant

The stated changes represent management's assessment of reasonably possible changes in foreign
exchange rates over the period until the next annual balance sheet date In this respect, the
management does not expect any significant movements in the pegged rate of 7 8 between the United
States dollars and Hong Kong dollars It s also assumed that such pegged rate would be materialty
unaffected by any changes in movement in value of the United States dollars against other currencies
The analysss 1s performed on the same basis for 2006

(b) Interest Rate Risk !
I

The Group's interest rate nisk relates primarily to floating rate borrowings and deposits [n relation
1o these floating rate borrowings, the management aims at keeping borrowings at fixed rates at [
appropnate level by entering into interest rate swaps in order to achieve this result, the Group

entered Into Interest rate swaps to hedge aganst certain exposures to changes in interest rates of the
borrowings The management adopts a policy of ensuring that all the matenal net borrowings of the
Group are effectively on a fixed rate basss, erther through the contractual terms of the loan facilities
agreements or through the use of interest rate swaps For this purpose the “net borrowings” represent
interest-beaning borrowings less cash deposits (if any) financed by the aforesard borrowings

Detalls of the Group’s interest rate swaps and borrowings entered into by the Group at the balance sheet
date are set out in notes 24 and 29, respectively

Sensitivity analysis

At 31st December, 2007, it 1s estimated that a general increase of 100 basis points in interest rates,
with all other vanables held constant, would increase the Group's profit for the year by approximately
HK$66 million (2006 HK$39 million) Other components of consolidated equity would increase by
approximately HK$30 million (2006 HK$38 millon) in response to the general increase in interest rates
A decrease of 100 basts points in interest rate would have had an equal but opposite effect on the
Group’s profit for the year and other components of consolidated equity
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Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies {(Cont’d)

(b)

(c)

Interest Rate Risk (Cont'd)
Sensitrvity analysis (Cont'd)

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined assuming that the change in interest rates had
occurred at the balance sheet date and had been applied to the exposure to interest rate nsk for both
dervative and non-denvative financial instruments m existence at that date The 100 basis point increase
represents management's assessment of a reascnably possible change In interest rates over the period
until the next annual balance sheet date The analysis 1s performed on the same basis for 2006

Credit Risk

The Group’s credit nisk 1s primantly attributable to interests In infrastructure project investments, debt
secunties investments, denvative finanaial Instruments entered into for hedging purposes, bank balances
and deposits, and trade debtors

In respect of interests In infrastructure project Investments and trade debtors, local management teams
of subsidianes are responsible for monitoring the procedures to ensure that follow-up actions are taken
1o recover overdue debts of the subsidianies tn addition, the teams review the recoverable amount of
each mdmdual debt at each balance sheet date to ensure that adequate impawment losses are made
for irrecoverable amounts Normally, the Group does not obtain collateral covening the outstanding

balances

Debt secunities investments are normally In hquid securities quoted on a recognised stock exchange

or financial nstitutions with high credit standing, except where entered into for long term strategic
purposes Transactions involving dervative financial instruments and liquid funds are also with banks or
financial institutions of high credit standing

The Group's maximum exposure to credit risk in the event of the counterparties’ failure to perform

their obligations at the balance sheet date in relation te each class of recognised financial assets 1s the
carrying amount of those assets as stated in the consolidated balance sheet Except for the guarantees
given by the Group as set out In note 39, the Group does not provide any other guarantees which would
expose the Group to credit risk The maximum exposure to credit nisk in respect of these guarantees at
the balance sheet date 15 disclosed in note 39

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group’s exposure to credit risk ansing from trade
debtors are set out In note 27

The Group has no significant concentration of credrt nsk, with exposure spread over a number of

counterparties and customers
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5. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies {Cont'd)

(d) Liquidity Risk

The Group’s treasury activities are centralised to achieve better risk control and minimise the cost of

funds Cash s generally placed 1n short-term deposits mostly denominated in Untted States dollars,

Hong Kong dollars, Australian dollars or Pounds Sterling The management aims to maintain a

balance between continuity of adequate funding and the flexility through the use of bank and other

borrowings The Group’s iquidity and finanaing requirements are reviewed regularly to mitigate the \
effects of fluctuations in cash flows The management will consider new financing while maintaning

appropnate gearing for new investments and refinancing of existing debts

The following table details the remaining contractual matunities at the balance sheet date of the Group’s
non-derivative financial liabilities and denvative financial liabilities, which are based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments computed using contractual rates or, if floating,
based on rates current at the balance sheet date) and the earliest date the Group can be required to pay

007 2006
More than
Total Morethan  2years Total More than  More than
contractual  Withind fyearbut  butless  More contractuall — Withn 1 Tyearput 2yeashut  More
Caying undiscounted yearoron lessthan2  than§  thanS  Canpng usdscoonted yeroron lessthan2 lesdan5  than 5
HKS mifion amount cashflow demand  years  yeas  yeas  amount cashfow  demand yean years e

Unsecured bank loans 5416 5500 3294 2146 457 3 738 8050 4158 1,518 2371 3

Secured bark loan 4 100 5 5 0 80 - - - - - -
Obligations under

finance leases 49 60 10 10 7 B3 7 2 16 4 12 -
Unsecueed riotes 2070 3880 72 n M7 3519 187 3765 69 69 207 3420
Trda arecitors 3 3 131 - - - 150 10 150 - - -
Amount due {6 an ’

unlsted assocas 175 17 17 - - - 14 154 T - -
Othe payables and accruals 359 /9 359 - - - ;m M - - -

8244 10606 4047 223 7113615 10,046 12573 4811 1733 2590 3413

Derwvatwves settled gross,

Forv,ato foregn exchange

contracts hekd as cash

flow hedging nstruments

{note 24)

- outflow 5706 5932 1586 1,046 3,300 - 3709 377 503 12 3261 -

- nflow (5530) (5.664) (1,584) (1,035) {3.045) - (3414 (34299 (379 (3,045 - .

I

176 268 2 1" 255 - 295 352 124 2 216 -

{e)  Equity Price Risk

The Group 1s exposed to equity price risk through its investments in securities as set out in note 23
The management manages this exposure by maintaining a portfolio of investments with different nsks
For strategic purposes, the Group holds primarily equity or debt instruments operating in energy or
transportation sectors

134 CHEUNG KONG INFRASTRUCTURE HOLDINGS LIMITED




5.

Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies (Cont’d)
(e) Equity Price Risk {Cont'd)
Sensitivity analysis

At 31st December, 2007, it 1s estimated that a 5 per cent decrease in the prices of the respective
istruments, with all other vanables held constant, would decrease the Group's profit for the year by
approximately HK$52 mullion (2006 HK$53 mullion) Other components of consolidated equity would
decrease by approximately HK$96 million {2006 HK3$86 million) in response to the decrease in the
prices A5 per cent increase In prices would have had an equal but opposite effect on the Group’s profit
for the year and other components of consolidated equity

The sensitvity analysis above has been determined assurning that the change in prices had occurred at
the balance sheet date and had been applied to the exposure to price risk for the Group’s investments
In securiies n existence at that date (as set out in note 23) The 5 per cent decrease in prices represents
management's assessment of a reasonably possible change in the prices of those instruments over the
period until the next annual balance sheet date The analysis 1s performed on the same basis for 2006

) Fair Value

Except for certain nvestments in secunties which are stated at cost and long term bank loans, the
carrying values of all financial assets and financial liabilities approximate to their fair values

Group Turnover and Share of Turnover of Jointly Controlled Entities

Group turnover represents net sales of infrastructure materials, Income from the supply of water, return from
infrastructure project investments, interest Income from loans granted to associates, and distrbution from
nvestments in securrties classified as infrastructure investments

In addition, the Group presents its proportionate share of turnover of jointly controlled entities Turnover of
assoclates s not included

The Group turnover and share of turnover of jointly controlled entities for the current year 15 analysed as

follows
HK$ mullion 2007 2006
Sales of infrastructure materials 896 1,015
Income from the supply of water 292 250
Return from infrastructure project investments 139 99
Interest income from loans granted 1o associates 432 392
Distnibution from investments in listed securities 106 66
Group turnover 1,865 1,822
Share of turnover of jointly controlled entities 4,024 2,977

5.889 4,799
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7. Other Income

Other income includes the following

HK$ million 2007 2006
Interest income from banks 538 384
Gan on disposals of interests 1n an associate 79 -
Change in farr values of investment properties 25 3
Change in fair values of investments In securities (35) (24}
Change in fair values of derivative financial instruments (247) (49)
Gain on disposals of hsted secunties 80 -
Gain on disposals of infrastructure project nvestment - 115

Finance lease ncome

8. Operating Costs

HK$ milhon 2007 2006
Staff costs including directors’ emoluments 315 290
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment . 51 52
Amortisation of prepayment for leasehold land 9 10
Raw matenals and consumables used - 416 438

: Changes in inventones of finished goods and work-in-progress - 24 (12}
Other operating expenses . . 854 809 ,
Total 1,669 1,587

9, Finance Costs

HK$ mullion 2007 2006
Interest and other finance costs on .

Bank borrowings wholly repayable wathin 5 years 488 454
Notes repayable after 5 years 72 69
Total 560 523
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10.

11.

12.

Gain on Disposal of a Jointly Controlled Entity

HK$ mullion 2007 2006

Disposal of 44 4% nterests in Guangzhou E-S-W Ring Road Company Limited 815 -

In August 2007, the Group disposed of its entire equity and loan interests in Guangzhou E-5-W Ring Road
Company Limited, a jointly controlled entity of the Group, at a consideration of HK$1,160 millien

Impairment Losses

During the current year, the Group recognised impairment losses of the following assets

HKS$ million 2007 2006
Interests in asscciates (note 20} - 279
interests in a jontly controlled entity (note 21) Nn -
investments in securittes (note 23) ! 623 -
Total 654 279

Profit Before Taxation

HK$ million 2007 2006
Profit before taxation 1s arrived at after (crediting}/charging.

Contract revenue - : (s4) (290)
Loss on disposals of property, plant and equipment 10 2

Net exchange gamn (88) (171)
Operatng lease rental for land and buiidings 8 12

Directors’ emoluments {(note 37) . 41 35

Auditors’ remuneration 6 5

Share of tax of associates 719 707

Share of tax of jointly controlled entities 181 163
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13. Taxation

Hong Kong Profits Tax 15 provided for at the rate of 17 5 per cent (2006 17 5 per cent) on the estimated
assessable profits less avallable tax losses Overseas tax 1s provided for at the applicable tax rate on the
estimated assessable profits less avallable tax losses

HK$ million 2007 2006
|
Current taxation '
-~ Hong Kong Profits Tax 3 6
— Qverseas tax - 22 9
Deferred taxation (note 31) (19) (11}
Total 6 4

Reconciliation between tax charge and accounting profit at Hong Kong Profits Tax rate

HK$ milhon 2007 2006
Profit before taxation 4,785 3,677
Less share of results of associates (3.554) (2,751)
share of results of jomntly controlled entities (700) (737)

. 531 189

Tax at 17 5% (2006 17 5%} 93 33

Tax impact on.

Different domestic rates of subsidiaries operating in other tax Junisdictions (211) {188)
Income not subject to tax {199) (42)
Expenses not deductible for tax purpose 304 199
Tax losses and other temporary differences not recogmised . 30 29
Others ' (11) (27)
Tax charge 6 4
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14. Profit for the Year and Segment Information

In accordance with the Group's internal financial reporting, the Group has determined that bustness segments
be presented as the prmary reporting format and geographic regions as the secondary reporting format

By business segment
for the year ended 31st December

Investment in Infrastructure Infrastructure
Hongkong Electric*  investments related business  Unallocated items  Consolidated
HK$ millkon 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006
Group turnaver - - 969 807 896 1,015 - - 1,865 1,822
Share of turngver of
jointly controlled entities - - 3,447 2,371 577 606 - - 4,024 2,977
- - 4,416 3,178 1,473 1,621 - - 5,889 4,799
Segment revenue
Group tumnover - - 969 807 896 1,015 - - 1,865 1,822
Others - - 69 55 57 75 - - 126 130
- - 1,038 862 953 1,090, - - 1,991 1,952
Segment result - - 762 633 {41} (28) - - m 805
Net gain on disposals of
infrastructure preject
investment and listed securtties - - 13 115 - - 67 - 80 115
Change in fair values of
investments In secunties and
darvative financial nstruments - - - - {5}, {26) (277) {47) (282) {(73)
Interest and finance lease income - - 55 2 140 126 343 257 538 385
Exchange gain - - - - - - 88 i 88 "
Corporate overheads and others - - - - - - {294) (212} (294) (212)
Finance costs - - (83) {20} - - (a17) {503} (560) {523)
Gain on disposals of mterests ’
In &n associate - - 79 - - - - - 79 -
Gain on dispesal of a jointly
controlled entity - - 815 - - - - - 815 -
Impaiment losses - - {654) (279) - - - - {654} (279}
Share of results of associates '
and jantly controfled enties 2,864 2,632 1,335 820 55 36 - - 4254 3,488
Profit/(Loss) before taxation 2,864 2,632 2,322 1,271 149 108 {550} (334) 4,785 3,677
Taxation - - {8) (3) 1 5 (3} (6) (8 [CY
Profit/(Loss) for the year 2,864 2,632 2,318 1,268 150 13 (553) (340) 4,779 3,673
Attnibutable to
Sharehotders of the Company 2,864 2,632 2,318 1,268 143 110 {553) (340) 4,772 3,670
- - 7 3 - - 7 3

Minonty interests - -

2,864 2,632 2,318 1,268 150 113 {553} (340) 4779 3,673

Other information
Capital expenditure - - 164 35 19 10 -
Depreciation and amortisation - - 30 26 30 16

- 183 45
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By business segment (Cont’d)

as at 31st December

14. Profit for the Year and Segment Information {Cont‘d)

Investment n Infrastructure Infrastructure
Hongkong Electric*  investments related business  Unallocated items  Consolidated

HK§ million 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006
Assets
Segment assets - - 6,826 3,937 2,725 2,547 - - 9,551 6,484
Interests in associates and intly

contralled entities 19,844 18313 13,553 15,106 168 20 - - 33565 33620
Unallocated corporate assets - - - - - - 6,326 7,518 6,326 7,518
Total assets 19,844 18,313 20379 19,043 2,893 - 2,748 6,326 7.518 49442 47622
Liabilities
Segment habilities - - 2,339 845 261 270 - - 2,600 1,115
Taxation, deferred taxation and

unallocated corporate labilities - - 361 361 133 143 6,891 10,138 71,385 10,642
Total liabilrties - - 2,700 1,206 394 413, 68931 10,138 9,985 11,757

*  During the year, the Group has a 38 87 per cent equity interest in Hongkong Electric Holdings Limited (' Hongkong

Electric*), which 1s ksted on Hong Kong Stock Exchange

140 CHEUNG KONG INFRASTRUCTURE HOLDINGS LIMITED




By geographtc region

for the year ended 31st December

14. Profit for the Year and Segment Information (Cont’'d)

United Canada and  Unallocated
Hong Kong Mamland Cluna  Australia Kingdom Others Items Consolidated
HK$ million 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006
Group turnover 652 728 380 279 538 458 292 250 3 107 - - 1,865 1,822
Share of turnovar of
. Jointly controlled
entriies 441 475 3,583 2,502 - - - - - - - - 4,029 2977
1,093 1,203 3,963 2,781 538 458 292 250 3 107 - - 5889 4799
Segment revenue
Group turnover 652 728 380 278 538 458 292 250 3 107 - - 1,865 1,822
Others 12 46 70 50 - - 43 36 1 (2) - - 126 130
664 7i4 450 329 538 458 335 286 4 105 - - 1,991 1,952
Segment result (66) (29) 177 87 538 465 94 97 {22) ' {1 5)’ - - 721 605
Net gain on disposals of
infrastructure project
investment and listed
securities - - - 115 13 - - - - - 67 - 80 115
Change In fair values of
irvestments in secunties
and dervatve fmancal
nstruments - - - - - - - - (59 {260 @ (@n (82 (73
Interest and finance N *
lease income 140 126 - - - - 55 2 - - 343 257 538 385
Exchange gain - - - - - - - - - - 88 N 88 17
Corparate overheads
and others - - - - - - - - - - (294) (22) (294} (212}
Finance costs - - - - - - (83) {(20) - . - (1 (503 (560} (523}
Gain on disposals of
Interest in an associate - - - - 79 - - - - - - - 79 -
Gain on disposal of a
Jontly controlled entrty - - 815 - - - - =" - - - - 815 -
Impairment losses - - (31) - (623) (279) - - - - - — {B54) (279)
Share of results of
associates and jointly
controlled entibies 2,939 2,692 643 696 282 (122) 392 240 {2) {18} - - 4,254 3,488
Profit/{Loss) before
taxation 3,013 2789 1,604 B98 289 64 458 319 (29) (59) (550) {334) 4,785 3,677
Taxation 1 5 ) - - - - (3) - - 3 6) (6) )
Profit/{Loss) for the
year 3,014 2794 1,600 B398 289 64 458 3i6 (29) {59) (553) {340} 4,779 3,673
Attributable to
Shareholders of the
Company 3,014 2794 1593 B35S 289 64 458 316 (29) (59 (553) (340) 4,772 3,670
Minonity interests - - 7 3 - - - - - - - - 7 3
3,014 2,794 1,600 898 289 64 458 316 {29) (59) (553) (340) 4,779 3673
Other information
Capial expendture 3 7 16 3 - - 164 35 - - - - 183 45
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14. Profit for the Year and Segment Information {Cont’d)

By geographic region {Cont'd)
as at 31st December

Mainland United Canada and Unallocated

Hong Kong China Australia Kingdom Others tems Consolidated
HK$ million 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006
Assets
Segment assets 1,441 2,213 736 869 2,451 2,193 3,908 1,160 1,015 49 - - 9,551 6,484
Interests 1n assoCiates
and jointly
controlled entities 20,169 18,668 3,029 4,058 6,932 7,554 3,424 3,340 1 - - - 33,565 33,620
Unallocated )
corporate assets - - - - - - - -t - - 6326 7518 6,326 7518,
Total assets 21,610 20,881 3,765 4,927 9,383 9,747 17,312 4,500 1,026 49 ' 6,326 7.518 49,442 47,622

15. Earnings Per Share

The calculation of earmings per share (s based on the profit attnbutable to shareholders of the Company of
HK$4,772 million (2006 HK$3,670 million) and on 2,254,209,945 shares (2006 2,254,209,345 shares) In 1ssue

during the year

16. Dividends

HK$ mitlion 2007 2006
interim dividend paid of HK$0 27 (2006 HK30 25) per share 609 564
Proposed final dividend of HK$0 83 (2006 HK$0 75) per share 1,871 1,680
Total ‘ E 2,480 2,254
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17.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Mains,
Freehold land pipes, other Furniture,
outside plant and fixtures
HK$ millon Hong Kong Buldings  machinery  and others Total
Cost
At 1st January, 2006 3 740 2,788 33 3,569
Additions - - 41 4 45
Disposals - (9) (130) {7} (146}
Exchange translation differences - 15 159 1 175
Transters * - {4) (6) - (10)
At 31st December, 2006 3 742 2,852 36 3,633
Additions - 4 177 2 183
Disposals - (31 (265} 2 (298)
Exchange translation differences - 22 83 2 107
Transfers * - {n - - (1)
At 31st December, 2007 3 736 2,847 38 3,624
Accumulated depreciation
and impairment loss
At 1st January, 2006 - 680 1,932 38 2,650
Charge for the year - 5 46 1 52
Disposals - (8) (117) (7 (132)
Exchange translation differences - 13 60 1 74
Transfers* - 3 (5 - (2)
At 31st December, 2006 - 693 1,916 33 2,642
Charge for the year - 5 45 1 51
Disposals - {29} (250} (3) (282}
Exchange translation differences - 21 69 2 92
At 31st December, 2007 - 690 1,780 33 2,503
Carrying value
At 31st December, 2007 3 46 1,067 5 1,121
At 31st December, 2006 3 49 936 3 991

During the year, certain properties of the Group were transferred to investment properties with revaluation gain of

HK$3 milhon (2006 HK$44 million)
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17. Property, Plant and Equipment (Cont'd)

The carrying value of the Group's mains, pipes, other plant and machinery includes an amount of

HK$263 million (2006 HK$225 million) in respect of assets held under finance leases, and another amount of

HK$67 million (2006 nul} in respect of assets pledged as secunity for certain bank loans of the Group

The Directors reviewed the Group’s property, plant and equipment based on value in use calculation The
discount rate used was 8 5 per cent (2006 8 5 per cent) No impairment loss has been recogrised for the

property, plant and equipment dunng the year

18. Investment Properties

HK$ milion

Medium term leases in Hong Kong, at fair value

At 1st January, 2006 5%
Transfer from property, plant and equipment and leaseheld land 68
Change m farr values 3
At 31st December, 2006 130
Transfer from property, plant and equipment and leasehold land 5
Change in fair values 25

160

At 31st December, 2007

The fair values of the Group’s investment properties at 31st December, 2007 are determined based on a

valuation carried out by DTZ Debenham Tie Leung, independent qualified professional valuers not connected

with the Group DTZ Debenham Tie Leung 1s a member of the Institute of Valuers with appropnate

gualifications and recent experiences In the valuation of similar locations The valuation, which conforms to
International Valuation Standards, was completed by reference to market evidence of transaction prices for

similar properties
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18, feasehold Land

Medium term

Medium term leasehold
leasehold land in land outside
HK$ million Hong Kong Hong Kong Total
Operating lease prepayment
At 1st January, 2006 430 46 476
Transfers * (27} - (27}
Exchange transiation differences - 2 2
At 31st December, 2006 403 48 451
Transfers * (1 - {1)
Exchange translation differences - 3 3
At 31st December, 2007 402 51 453
Accumulated amortisation and impairment loss
At 1st January, 2006 118 32 150
Charge for the year 9 1 10
Transfers * (11 - (11)
Exchange translation differences - 1 1
At 31st December, 2006 . 116 34 150
Charge for the year T 8 1 9
Exchange translation differences - 2 2
At 31st December, 2007 124 37 161
Carrying value
At 31st December, 2007 278 14 292
At 31st December, 2006 287 14 30

* During the year, certain leasehold land of the Group was transferred to investment properties with no
revaluation gam (2006 nif}

The Directors reviewed the Group’s leasehold land based on value in use calculation The discount rate used was
8 5 per cent (2006 8 5 per cent) No impairment loss has been recogrised for the leasehold land during the
year
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20. Interests in Associates

HK$ million 2007 2006
Investment costs
- Listed in Hong Kong 8,687 8,687
- Unlisted 5,960 7,444
Share of post-acquisition reserves 12,049 9,871
26,696 26,002
Impatrment losses (857) (857)
\ 25,839 25,145
Amounts due by unlisted associates 4,550 4,237
At 315t December ' 30,389 29,382
Market value of iInvestment in a listed associate 37,208 31,608

Included in the amounts due by unlisted associates are subordinated loans of HK$4,006 million

(2006 HK$3,644 million) The rights in respect of these loans are subordinated to the nghts of any other
tenders to the associates

The Directors reviewed certain assoclates’ operations and financial positions as at 31st December, 2007 based
on value In use calculation No further impairment loss (2006 HK$279 million) against interests in associate was

recognised In current year

Summansed financial information in respect of the Group’s associates 1s set out befow

RK$ million 2007 2006
Total assets 169,655 170,012

Total habilities {104,880) {108,538)
Net assets ) 64,775 61,474

Total turnover 30,203 26,480

Total profit for the year 8,718 7.036

Shared by the Group:

Net assets of the associates 26,696 26,002

Profit of the associates for the year 3,554 2,751

Particulars of the principal associates are set out In Appendix 2 on pages 173 and 174
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21.

Interests in Jointly Controlled Entities

HK$ million 2007 2006
Investment costs 3,079 3,456
Share of post-acquisition reserves {54) (380}
3,025 3,076
Impairment losses (245) {214}
2,780 2,862
Shareholders’ loans to jointly controlled entities 396 1,376
3,176 4,238

At 31st December

The Group's interests in a jointly controlled entity with carrying value of HK$2,082 million as at
31st December, 2007 (2006 HK$1,773 million) have been pledged as part of the secunty to secure certain

bank borrowings granted to the jointly controlled entity

The Directors reviewed certain jontly controlled entities’ operations and financial positions as at

315t December, 2007 based on value in use calculation Due to unsatisfactory operating performance, an
imparrment loss of HK$31 million (2006 i) was made against interest in a jointly contralled entity, which
operated Tangshan Tangle Road in Hebel province, China A discount rate of 9 per cent (2006 9 per cent) was
applied on projected cash flows for value In use calculation

Summarnised financial nformation 1n respect of the Group’s jointly controlled entities 1s set out below

HK$ million 2007 2006
Total assets 18,567 19,490
Total habdities {11,947) (13,295)
|
Net assets 6,620 6,195 |
Total turnover 9,155 6,738
Total profit for the year 1,761 1,410
Shared by the Group:
Net assets of the jointly controlled entrties 3,025 3,076
700 737

Profit of jointly controlled entities for the year

Particulars of the principal jomtly controlled entities are set out in Appendix 3 on page 175
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22. Interests in Infrastructure Project Investments

HK$ million 2007 2006
Classified as.

Non-current assets . 377 490
Current assets . R ; 125 127
At 315t December 502 617

Interests in infrastructure project mvestments carry effective interest rates which range from 13 7 per cent
to 16 2 per cent (2006 range from 13 7 per cent to 16 5 per cent) The interests in infrastructure project

investments were not past due as at 31st December, 2007 (2006 nil)

The Directors reviewed certain mfrastructure projects’ operations and finanaal posiions as at
31st December, 2007 based on the present values of estimated future cash flows from those investments,
discounted at the original effective interest rates No impatrment loss against the interests in infrastructure

project Investments was recognised in current year

23. Investments in Securities

HK$ million 2007 2006
Financial assets at fair value through profit or foss*

Notes, unlisted £ o ‘ 5 . 787 777
Equity securities, unlisted ; , e 240 262
Equity securities, listed overseas ) o 14 19
Available-for-sale financial assets ; .
Stapled securities, listed overseas, at fair value 2,113 2,006
Equity securities, unlisted, at cost . . L. 706 ’ -
Debt secunities, unlisted, at fair value ’ ’ 265 -
Equity secunties, unlisted, at fair value -~ 62 -
Total 4,187 3,064

* designated as at far value through profit or Joss In accordance with HKAS 39

A stapled security comprises various subordinated loan notes and fully paid ordinary shares 1t 1s quoted at a

single combined price and cannot be traded separately

Neither the subordinated loan notes, debt securities nor the unhsted notes are past due or impaired, which are

1ssued by corporate entities with credit ratings ranging from AA to BBB-

As at 31st December, 2007, the Group’s avallable-for-sale equity securities amounting to HK$623 million

(2006 mil) were individually determined to be fully impaired due to unsatisfactory operating performance which
ind:cated that the cost of the Group's investment in the investee may not be recovered Impairment loss on such

investment was recognised in the consalidated income statement for the current year
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24. Derivative Financial Instruments

2007 2006

HK$ rmullion Assets Liabthties Assets Liabilities
Forward foreign exchange contracts 428 {604) 369 {664)
Interest rate swaps . 55 - 38 i -
At 31st December 4383 (604) 407 (664)
Portion classified as:
Non-current - 55 (187) 3R (179
Current . - 428 (417) 369 . (485}

483 (604) 407 (664}

Currency Denvatives

During the current year, the Group utilised currency derivatives to hedge significant future transactions and
cash flows The Group 1s a party to a vanety of foreign currency forward contracts in the management of its

exchange rate exposures

The following contracts are outstanding as at the balance sheet dates and the major terms of these contracts

are as follows

As at 31st December 2007

Notional amount Maturity
' Sell AUD155 5 million* S LT 9th May, 2008
Sell GBP26 6 million o - : 30th April, 2008

t 21st December, 2009

Selt GBP62 6 miflion* |
24th May, 2010

Sell GBP212 4 milhon*

As at 31st December 2006

Noticnal amount Maturity

Selt AUD179 7 million™® 23rd March, 2007
Sell GBP26 6 million 30th Apnl, 2007
Sell GBP212 4 millien* 24th May, 2010

* designated as hedging instrument in accordance with HKAS 39
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24. Derivative Financial Instruments (Cont'd)

Currency Denivatives (Cont'd)

The fair values of the above currency dervatives that are designated and effective as cash flow hedges totalling
HK$128 million (net liabilities to the Group) (2006 HK$255 million (net habilities to the Group)} have been
deferred in equity at 31st December, 2007

Change In farr values of currency denvative not designated for hedging amounting to HK$247 million
{2006 HK$49 million) has been debited to the consolidated incame statement for the current year

The Group utilised currency derivatives to hedge long term foreign investments No matenial cash flow 1s
expected to occur in the coming year

Interest Rate Swaps

During the current year, the Group utilised interest rate swaps to manage its exposure 10 interest rate
movements on its bank borrowings by swapping a proportion of those borrowings from floating rates to fixed
rates The notional principal amounts of the interest rate swap contracts outstanding as at

31st December, 2007, their remaining terms and estimated total fair value are as follows

Weighted Notional

Floating average fixed principal Estmated
HK$ million interest rate  interest rate amount fair value
Contracts maturing in 2010 BBSW or LIBOR* 562% 1,872 55
Fair value deferred in equity at 31st December, 2007 ' 55
Contracts matuning in 2010 BBSW or LIBOR* 562% 1,726 38

Far value deferred in equity at 31st December, 2006 38

*  BBSW - Australian Bank Bill Swap Reference Rate

LIBOR — London Interbank Cffered Rate
The fair value estimation covering the above interest rate swap contracts 1s based on the fair value estimated
by independent professionals for equivalent instruments at 31st December, 2007 All of the above interest rate
swaps are designated and effective as cash flow hedges and the fair values (net assets to the Group) have been

deferred in equity
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25. Goodwill

HK3$ mullion 2007 2006
At 1st January 205 175
Exchange difference 4 30
At 31st December 209 205

The goodwill was recognised on acquisttion of 100 per cent interest in Cambridge Water PLC ("Cambridge
Water"), the water suppler in South Cambndgeshire of the United Kingdom

The Group tests goodwill annually for impairment, or more frequently if there are indications that the goodwill
might be impaired

The recoverable amount of Cambridge Water, which covers the above goodwill, 15 determined from a value

in use calculation The key assumptions for the value in use calculation are those regarding the discount rate,
growth rates, and expected changes to selling prices and direct costs during the period The Group estimates
discount rate using the rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specrfic to Cambridge Water The growth rates are based on industry growth forecasts Changes in selling prices
and direct costs are based on past practices and expectations of future changes in the relevant markets

The Group prepares cash flow forecasts derived from Cambridge Water’s approved budget for 2008 to 2012
and extrapolates cash flows for the subsequent 10 years using the same cashflows as that in 2012 The rate
used to discount the forecast cash flows is 8 per cent (2006 8 per cent) per annum

As Cambrnidge Water's principal operation is supply of water which is regulated in nature, the Group considers
that cash flow projection for 15 years and low growth rates are appropriate for the impairment test review

The results of the reviews undertaken as at 31st December, 2007 indicated that no further impairment charge

Wwas necessary for current year
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26. Inventories

HK$ million 2007 2006
Raw materals 42 42
Work-in-progress 10 20
Stores, spare parts and supphes 9 9
Finished goods 14 28
Total 75 99

The cost of inventories charged to the consolidated income statement during the year was HK$896 million

(2006 HK3$948 million)

27. Debtors and Prepayments

HK$ milion 2007 2006
Trade debtors 235 240
Prepayments, deposits and other recewables 372 215
Total 607 455
The aging analysis of the Group's trade debtors 15 as follows

HK$ milhon 2007 2006
Current 144 114
Less than 1 month past due 55 55
1 to 3 months past due 24 29
More than 3 months but less than 12 months past due 24 65
More than 12 months past due 71 99
Amount past due 174 248
Allowance for doubtful debts (83) (122)

235 240

Total after allowance

152 CHEUNG KONG INFRASTRUCTURE HOLDINGS LIMITED




27. Debtors and Prepayments (Cont'd)

Trade with customers for infrastructure materials 1$ carried out largely on credit, except for new customers and
customers with unsatisfactory payment records, where payment in advance 1s normally required Trade with
metered customers for water supply is carried out largely on credit and with unmetered customers largely by
payment in advance Invoices are normally due within 1 month of issuance, except for certain well-established
customers, where the terms are extended to 2 months, and certain customers with disputed items, where the
terms are negotiated indwidually Each customer has a maximum credit hmit, which was granted and approved
by senior management In accordance with the laid-down credit review policy and procedures

The movement in the allowance for doubtful debts dunng the year s as follows

HKS million 2007 2006
At 1st January - 122 127 ‘
Impatrment loss recognised 8 24
Impairment loss written back (37 27)
Uncollective amounts wrtten off | {(14) (7)
4 5

Exchange translation differences

At 315t December . 83 122

At 31st December, 2007, gross trade debtors’ balances totalling HK$92 million (2006 HK$171 million)

were indwidually determined to be impatred, which related to customers that were in financial difficuluies

The management assessed that only a portion of the trade debtors’ balances 1s expected to be recovered
Consequently, specific allowance for doubtful debts of HK$83 miltion (2006 HK$ 122 milhon) was recognised as
at 315t December, 2007 The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances

The aging analysis of trade debtors that are neither ndividually nor collectively considered to be impaired are as

follows
HKS million 2007 2006
Nerther past due nor impaired 138 110
Less than 1 month past due 49 39
17 13

1 to 3 months past due

More than 3 months but less than 12 months past due 20 27
More than 12 months past due 2 2
Amount past due 88 &1

226 191

Total
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27. Debtors and Prepayments (Cont’d)

The trade debtors that were neither past due nor impaired related to customers for whom there was no recent

history of default

The trade debtors that were past due but not imparred related to customers that had good track records with
the Group Management believes that no iImpairment allowance 15 necessary in respect of these balances as
there has not been a significant change in credit quality and the balances are stilt considered fully recoverable

The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances

28. Bank Balances and Deposits

Bank balances and deposits carry effective interest rate at 5 85 per cent (2006 4 66 per cent)

29. Bank and Other Loans

HK$ million 2007 2006
Unsecured bank loans repayable
Within 1 year 2,964 3.800
In the 2nd year 2,019 1,285
In the 3rd to Sth year, inclusive 430 2,241
After 5 years 3 3
5,416 7.329
Obligations under finance leases repayable
within 1 year 8 13
In the 2nd year 8 3
In the 3rd to 5th year, inclusive 23 1
After 5 years 10 -
49 27
Unsecured notes, 3 5%, repayable after 5 years 2,070 1,971
Secured bank loan, repayable after 5 years (note 17} 44 -
Total 7,579 9,327
Portion classified as
Current liabiities 2,972 3,813
Non-current habilities 4,607 5,514
Total 7,579 9,327
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29. Bank and Other Loans {Cont’'d)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s borrowings are denominated in the following currencies

HK$ AUS GBP JPY Total
HK$ million 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006
Bank loans - 3,800 3432 3121 2,028 408 - - 5,460 7,329
Finance leases - - - - 49 27 - - 49 27
Notes - - - - - - 2,070 1971 2,070 1971
Total - 3,800 3,432 3,121 2,077 435 2,070 1,971 7,579 9,327

The average effective interest rates of the Group’s bank loans and finance leases are 5 20 per cent
(2006 4 93 per cent) and 7 87 per cent (2006 3 19 per cent), respectively

The Group’s notes of HK$2,070 million {2006 HK$1,971 million) and an unsecured bank loan of HK$3 mithon
as at 31st December, 2007 were arranged at fixed interest rate and exposed the Group to fair value interest rate
rsk Other borrowings were arranged at floating rates, thus exposed the Group to cash flow interest rate nsk

Bank loans (except for the fixed rate notes) carried interest at floating rate, which determined with reference to
Hong Kong interbank Offered Rate, Australian Bank Bul Swap Reference Rate or London Interbank Offered Rate
plus a margen less than one per cent

Fixed rate notes, other loans and finance leases carried interest at 3 5 per cent to 13 3 per cent
(2006 35 per cent to 13 3 per cent)

Detalls of the present value of the minimum finance lease payments are shown below

HK$ midlion 2007 2006
Minimum lease payments
Within 1 year 10 15
In the 2nd year 1 4
In the 3rd to 5th year, Inclusive 27 13
After 5 years 13 -
61 32
Less future finance charges (12) (5)
Present value of lease payments 49 27
Less Amount due for settfement within 12 months (8) {13)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months a 14
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29. Bank and Other Loans (Cont'd)

At 31st December, 2007, the remaining weighted average lease term was 5 8 years (2006 28 years) All
leases are denominated in GBP on a fixed repayment basis and no arrangements have been entered into for
contingent rental payments The Group's obligations under finance leases are secured by the lessars’ charge

over the leased assets (note 17)

30. Creditors and Accruals

HK$ million 2007 2006

Trade creditors 131 150

Amount due to an unlisted associate i 175 147
Other payables and accruals 986 948
Total 1,292 1,245
The aging analysis of the Group’s trade creditors 15 as follows
HK$ million 2007 2006
Current 98 103
1 month 12 22
2 to 3 months 6 8
Over 3 months 15 17
Total 131 150
31. Deferred Tax Assets [ Liabilities
HK$ million 2007 2006
Deferred tax assets 5 -
Deferred tax habilities (373) {401}
Total (368) (401)
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31. Deferred Tax Assets / Liabilities (Cont’'d)

The following are the major deferred tax assets and habilities recognised by the Group and movements thereon
duning the current and pnor years

Accelerated Fair value
tax Tax changesin
HK$ mullion depreaation losses securities Others Total
At 1st January, 2006 224 m 145 (6) 362
(Credit) / Debit to profit for the year (13) - - 2 (11)
Charge to equity for the year - - 18 - 18
Exchange translation differences ) 21 - 12 (0 32
At 31st December, 2006 232 (1) 175 (5) 401
Credit to profit for the year (10) (9) - - {19)
Charge to equity for the year - - (38) - (38)
Exchange translation differences 3 - 17 - 20
Qthers . - 4 - - 4
At 31st December, 2007 225 (6) 154 (5) 368

Apart from the unused tax losses of which the deferred tax assets were recognised as presented above, the
Group had unused tax losses and other unused tax credits totalling HK$1,748 milion (2006 HK$1,618 mullion)
at 31st December, 2007 No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of these tax losses and tax credits
due to the unpredictability of future profit streams to utilise the available tax losses and tax credits An analysis

of the expiry dates of the tax losses and tax credits 1s as follows

HK$ million 2007 2006
Within 1 year 29 38
in the 2nd year 37 27
in the 3rd to Sth year, incusive 88 98
No expiry date 1,594 1,455
Total i 1,748 1,618
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32.

Retirement Plans

(a)

(b)

Defined Contnibution Retirement Plans

The Group provides defined contribution retirement plans for its eligible employees except for 2 defined
benefit plans for the employees of certain subsidiaries as detalled in (b} and (¢} below

Contributions to the defined contribution plans are made by either the employer only at 10 per cent
of the employees’ monthly basic salaries or by both the employer and the employees each at 10 or

15 per cent of the employees’ monthly basic salartes The Company and its Hong Kong subsidiaries
also participate in master trust Mandatory Provident Fund ("MPF") schemes operated by independent
service providers Mandatory contributions to these MPF schemes are made by both the employers and
employees at 5 per cent of the employees’ monthly refevant income each capped at HK$20,000

As the Group’s retirement plans :n Hong Kong, including the defined benefit plan mentioned in {b)
befow, are all MPF-exempted recognised occupational retirement schemes (“ORSO schemes™), except for
certain subsidiaries of which the new Hong Kong employees have to join the MPF schemes, the Group
offers an option to tts new Hong Kong employees to elect between the ORSO schermes and the MPF

schemes

The Group's costs in respect of defined contribution plans for the year amounted to HK$11 milhon
(2006 HK$10 million) Forferted contributions and earnings for the year under the defined contribution
plans amounting to HK$2 million (2006 HK$1 million) were used to reduce the existing level of
contributions At 31st December, 2007, there was no forferted contributions and earnings available to
the Group to reduce its contnbutions to the defined contribution plans in future years (2006 nif)

Defined Benefit Retirement Plan operating in Hong Kong

Certamn subsiciaries of the Group operate a defined benefit retirement plan n Heng Kong for their
eligible employees Contributions to the defined benefit plan are made by the employees at erther

5 or 7 per cent of the employees' salaries and contributions made by the employer are based on the
recommendations of an independent actuary according to a penodic actuanal valuation of the plan

Actuanal valuation of the defined benefit plan according to HKAS 19 “Employee Benefits” was carried
out at 31st December, 2007, by Mr Billy YL Wong of Watson Wyatt Hong Kong Limited, who s a
Fellow of the Society of Actuanes The present value of the defined benefit obligations, the related
current service cost and past service cost, If any, were measured using the Projected Unit Credit Method
The principal actuanal assumptions used are as follows

2007 2006
Discount rate at 31st December 3 3% per annum 3 75% per annum
Expected rate of salary increase 5% per annum 5% per annum
Expected return on plan assets 6 25% per annum 6 5% per annum
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32. Retirement Plans (Cont’d)

(b) Defined Benefit Retirement Plan operating in Hong Kong {Cont'd)

The following amounts in respect of the defined benefit plan have been charged/(credited) to the

consohdated income statement under operating costs

HK% rrullion 2007 2006
Current service cost 2 2
Interest cost 2 2
Expected return on plan assets @ @

Ameortisation of transitional liability

Net amount charged to consclidated income statement -

The actual return on plan assets for the year ended 31st December, 2007 was a gan of HK$10 million

(2006 HK$11 million)

The amount included in the consolidated balance sheet at 31st December, 2007 arising from the Group’s

obligations in respect of its defined benefit plan in Hong Kong 1s as follows

HK$ million 2007 2006
Present value of defined benefit obligations 55 62
Fair value of plan assets (74) (75)
Employee retirement benefit assets classified as other non-

current assets included in the consolidated balance sheet (19) (13)

Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligations are as follows

HK$ million 2007 2006
At 1st January 62 56
Current service cost 2 2
interest cost 2 2
Actual benefits paid (13) (2)
Actual employee contributions 1 1
Actuanal loss on obligation 1 3
At 31st December 55 62
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32. Retirement Plans {(Cont'd)
(b) Defined Benefit Retirement Plan operating in Hong Kong (Cont'd)

Changes In the fair value of the plan assets are as follows

HKS$ million 2007 2006
At 1st January 75 62
Expected return 4 4
Actuanal gain on plan assets 6 7
Actual company contributions 1 3
Actual employee contributions 1 1
Actual benefits paid (13) (2)
At 31st December 74 75
Major categories of the plan assets at the balance sheet date are analysed as follows
As at 31st December 2007 2006
Equity instruments 49% 52%
Debt instruments 51% 48%
100% 100%

Total

The expected rate of return on assets was 6 25 per cent per annum (2006 6 5 per cent per annum) This
rate 1s derived by taking the weighted average of the long term expected rate of return on each of the

asset classes invested

The expenence adjustment is as follows

HK$ mullion 2007 2006
Present value of defined benefit obligations 55 62
Fair value of the plan assets (74) (75}
Surplus (19) (13)

6 7

Experience adjustment on plan assets

160

The Group recognised actuarial gains amounting to HK$5 million {2006 HK$4 milion} for the year
ended 31st December, 2007 directly in the consolidated statement of recognised income and expense
The cumulative amount of actuanal gans recognised directly in the consolidated statement of recognised
income and expense amounted to HK$20 million (2006 HK$15 million} as at 315t December, 2007

CHEUNG KONG INFRASTRUCTURE HOLDINGS LIMITED




32. Retirement Plans (Cont'd)

(b}

{0

Defined Benefit Retirement Plan operating in Hong Kong (Cont'd)

On 1st January, 2002, the Group adopted Statement of Standard Accounting Practice 34 “Employee
Benefits” and determined the transitional hability for its defined benefit plan to be HK$13 million This
amount I1s being recogmised on a straight-line basis over a pertod of 5 years from 1st January, 2002 No
charge for transitional hability (2006 HK$1 milion} was recognised in the current year

Another actuarial valuation was completed at 1st January, 2007 by Mr Billy YL Wong, the same
actuary as mentioned above, to determine the funding rates to be adopted by the Group in accordance
with requirements of Occupational Retirement Schemes Ordinance The actuanial methed adopted

was Attained Age Funding Method The major assumptions used were the long-term average annual
rate of investment return on the plan assets at 6 per cent per annum, and the average annual salary
Increases at S per cent per annum The actuarial valuation showed that the fair value of the plan assets
attnbutable to the Group of HK$75 million at 31st December, 2006 represents 135 per cent of the
present value of the abligations as at that date Contnbutions to fund the obligations are based upon
the recommendations of actuary to fully fund the retirement plan on an ongoing basis The funding
rates will be reviewed no later than 1st January, 2010 as required by Occupational Retirement Schemes
Ordinance

The Group expects to make a contribution of HK$1 million to the defined benefit plan during the next
hinancial year

Defined Benefit Retirement Plan operating in the United Kingdom

Cambridge Water PLC, a wholly-owned subsidiary acquired by the Group on 28th Apnl, 2004, operates
a defined benefit retirement plan in the United Kingdom The retirement plan 1s covered under the
Water Companies Pension Scheme of which the Company 1s a member Contributions to the defined
benefit plan are made by the employees at 6 per cent of the employees’ salaries and contributions made
by the employer are based on the recommendations of an independent actuary according to a periodic
actuanal valuation of the plan

Actuarial vatuation of the defined benefit plan was updated to 31st December, 2007, by Mr Paul Metcalf
of Lane Clark & Peacock LLP who is a Fellow of the Institute of Actuares The principal actuanal
assumptions used are as follows

2007 2006
Discount rate at 31st December 6 1% per annum 5 0% per anaum
Expected rate of pension increase 3 4% per annum 3 1% per annum
Expected rate of salary increase 5.4% per annum S 1% per annum
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32. Retirement Plans (Cont'd)

(c) Defined Benefit Retirement Plan operating in the United Kingdom {Cont'd)

The following amounts in respect of the defined benefit plan have been charged/(credited) to the

consolidated income statement under operating costs

HK$ milhon 2007 2006
Current service cost 9 9
Interest cost 25 20
Expected return on plan assets {29) 23)
Others - 8
Net amount charge / (credited) to consohdated income statement 5 {2)

The actual return on plan assets for the year ended 31st December, 2007 was a gain of HK$32 million

(2006 HK$35 million)

The amount included in the consolidated balance sheet at 31st December, 2007 arising from the Group’s
obhgations in respect of its defined benefit plan in the United Kingdom s as follows

HK$ million 2007 2006
Present value of defined benefit obligations 513 478
Fair value of plan assets {(497) {(463)
Employee retirement benefit habilities classified as other non-

current habilities included 1n the consolidated balance sheet’ 16 15

Changes m the present value of the defined benefit obligatians are as follows

HK$ million 2007 2006
At 1st Januéry 478 3‘95
Current service cost 9 9
Interest cost 25 20
Employee contnbutions 2 2
Actuanal (gain) / loss {62) 7
Benefits paid (14) (12)
Exchange translation differences 75 57
At 31st December 513 478

162 CHEUNG ONG INFRASTRUCTURE HOLDINGS LIMITED




32. Retirement Plans {Cont'd)

{c} Defined Benefit Retirement Plan operating in the United Kingdom (Cont'd)

Changes in the farr value of the plan assets are as follows

HK$ million 2007 2006
At 1st January 463 374
Expected return 29 23
Actuarial gain 4 12
Employer contributions 7 6
Employee contributions 2 2
Benefits pad (14) (12)
Exchange translation differences 6 58
497 463

At 31st December

Major categories of the plan assets at the balance sheet date are analysed as follows

As at 31st December 2007 2006

Equity instrurments 47% 63%

Debt instruments 53% 37% ¢+
100% 100%

Total

The expected rate of return on assets was 6 3 per cent per annum (2006 6 O per cent per annum) This
rate is derived by taking the weighted average of the long term expected rate of return on each of the

asset classes invested

The experience adjustments are as follows

HK$ mullion 2007 2006
Present value of the defined benefit obligations 513 478
Fatr value of the plan assets (497) (463)
Defiat i 16 15
Expertence adjustment on plan habilities (1) -

(3) (12)

Experience adjustment on plan assets
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32. Retirement Plans (Cont'd)
{c) Defined Benefit Retrrement Plan operating in the United Kingdom (Cont'd)

The above actuarial valuation showed that the fair value of the plan assets attnbutable to the Group of
HK$497 million (2006 HK$463 milion) at 31st December, 2007 represents 97 per cent {2006 95 per cent)
of the present value of the obligations as at that day The Group’s future annual contribution 1s designed
to fund the shortfall over a penod of time and the employer funding rates have been increased since 1st
April, 2005 The funding rates are subject to annual review

The Group expects to make a contribution of HK$8 million to the defined benefit plan during the next
financial year

33. Share Capital

HK$ milhon 2007 2006
Authornised
4,000,000,000 shares of HK$1 each 4,000 4,000

Issued and fully paid*
2,254,209,945 shares of HK$1 each 2,254 2,254
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34. Reserves and Minority Interests

Attributable to shareholders of the Company

Property  Investment Exchange
Share Contrbuted mevalustion revaluabon  Hedging tanslaton  Retamed Minonty

HKS milion premum  suplis  meserve  reserve reserve reserve profits  Subetotal  nterests Total
At Ist faruany, 2006 383 6,062 12 u i 153 2,46 31244 38 31,28
Surplues on revaluztion of properties upan

transfer to nvestment properties - - 44 - - - - 44 - 44
Gain from fa value changes of

avalable-forsale financial assets - - - 41 - - - 42 - 42
Loss from fair value changes of dematrves

desgnated & effectve Gsh fow hedges - - - - (149) - - {147) - (147)
Actunal gans of defined] benefit

resrement schemes - - - - - - 190 190 - 190
Exchange d fferences on translation of

finanaal statements of foreign operatans - - - - - 828 = 828 - 828
Cumudatrve impact from adoption of

Amendrent to HXAS 19 - - - - - - (141) (141) - (141)
Nt gan /oss) mcogased drecty in equey - - 4 1)) {147) 828 49 816 - 816
Profit for the year - - - - - - 1670 3,670 3573
Totaf recogaised income and expense for the year - - 4 LY (147 828 N9 4,486 3 4,489
firal diwdend for the year 2005 pad - - - - - - {1,506)  (1,596), - {1,596)
intenm drodend paid - - - - - - {564) {o64) - (564)
At 315t Decermbe, 2006 3,836 6,062 56 i3 {146) 981 22,705 33570 LY 33,611
Seaphis on revaliation of properbes upon

transfor 10 mvesiment properties - - 3 - - - - 3 - 3
Gain from fawr vahue changes of

avallable-forsale financial assats - - - 65 - - - 65 - 65
Gan from faw value changes of denvaives

desgnated s effective cash flow hedges - - - - 4 - 2 28 - b/
Actuand gaies of defined benefit

retrement schemes - - - - - - 9 9 - 9%
Exchange diffivences on transation of

financial statements of fareign operations - - - - - 682 - 682 - 682
Shere of other resenve movement of an assonats - - - - - - 31 E))] - {31}
Net gasa recagresed duectly in equity - - 3 65 4 682 ] 843 - 843
Reserves released upon disposdl of

imvestraent it saqunty - - - 3 - - - 3 - 3
Reserves released upon dispesaks of

Interests 1n an asso0ate - - - - 96 {57) - by - 29
Reservz released retatng 10 cash fow hedge - - - - 137 - - 31 - 237
Profit for fhe year - - - - - - 41 4102 7 4,779
Total recognised ingome and expense for the year - - 3 68 337 615 4861 5,884 7 5,891
Firal ddend for the year 2006 pad - - - - - - (1,690)  {1,690) - {1,690)
Irterun diadend paid - - - - - - {608) (609) - (609}
At 315t December, 2007 3,836 6,062 59 14 191 1,596 5,267 3115 43 37,203
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35. Capital Management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, so that it can expand and generate attractive and predictable returns for shareholders and
benefits for other stakeholders, by establishing and maintaining a quality tnvestment pertfolio with stable
earnings and appropriate level of rnisks that the management are comfortable with

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts, which includes bank borrowings, notes and obligations
under finance leases as detailed 1n note 29, bank balances and deposits, and equity attributable to shareholders
of the Company, comprising 1ssued share capital and reserves as detaled in note 34

The management actively and regularly reviews and manages the Group’s capital structure to maintain a
balance between high shareholders’ returns and strong capital position, and makes adjustments to the capital
structure in hght of changes in the global market conditions

The Group maintained low net debt to shareholders’ equity ratio of less than 5 per cent from late December
2005 and has turned Into net cash position as at 31st December, 2007 The management targets to maintan
a solid capital position to pursue more new investment opportunities The Group’s overall strategy remains
unchanged from 2006

The net debt to shareholders’ equity ratio at 31st December, 2007 and 2006 was as follows

HKS$ million 2007 2006
Total debt . 7,579 9,327
Bank balances and deposits (8.217) (7.720)
Net {cash)/debt (638) 1,607
Shareholders’ equity . 39,409 35,824
Net debt to shareholders’ equity ratio . N/A 4%

During the current year, the Company acted as the guarantor in respect of certain loan faciliies granted
to Its subsidiaries and an associate, and fully complied with the capital requirements under the loan facility

agreements
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36. Notes to Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

HKS rmullion 2007 2006
Profit before taxation 4,785 3,677
Impairment osses 654 279
Share of results of associates (3.554) (2,751)
Share of results of jointly controlled entities (700) (737}
Interest income from loans granted to associates (432) {392)
Interest income from banks (538) (384)
Interest ncome from investment in securities (97) (63)
Finance lease income - (1)
Return from infrastructure project investments (139) (39)
Finance costs ) 560 523
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 51 52
Amortisation of prepayment for leasehold land 9 10
Change in fair values of Investment properties (25) (3)
Loss on disposals of property, plant and equipment 10 2.
Gain on disposals of infrastructure project investment - {115)
Gain on disposals of interests In an associate (79) -
Gan on disposal of a jointly controlled entity (815) -
Gain on disposal of listed secunities (80) -
White back on allowance for investment In a jointly controlled entity - 27)
Change In fair values of investments in securities 35 24
Change in fair values of derwative financial instruments . 247 49
Dividend from nvestment in secunties i 9) 3)
Pension costs of defined benefit retirement plans - m
Unrealised exchange loss / {gain) . ’ ' 99 (24)
Returns received from jointly controlled entities - 572 660
Returns receved from infrastructure project investments 254 147
Distribution recewved from investment in securities 106 66
Interest receved from associates 334 212
Contributions to defined benefit retirement plans )] (9
Net cash (paid) / received at close of dervative financial instruments (238) 12
Operating cash flows before changes in working capital 1,009 1,104
Decrease in inventories 24 6
Decrease / (iIncrease) in debtors and prepayments 75 (60)
Increase in creditors and accruals 56 136
Exchange translation differences @ @
Cash generated from operations 1,162 1,182
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37. Emoluments of Directors and Five Highest Paid individuals

Directors’ emoluments comprise payments to the Company’s directors by the Group i connection with

the management of the affarrs of the Group The independent non-executive directors {"INED") receive an
annual director’s fee of HK$75,000 each, and for those acting as the audit comrmittee members (“ACM") and
remuneration cammittee members {“RCM*”), additional annual fee of HK$80,000 each s paid for the former
and HK$25,000 each 15 paid for the latter The emoluments of each of the Company’s directors for the current
year, excluding emoluments receved from the Group's associates, are as follows

Basic Salanes,

Allowances Provident Inducement or Total Total
and Other Fund Compensation  Emoluments  Emoluments
HK$ million Fees Benefits Bonuses  Contributions Fees 2007 2006
L1 Tzar Kuan, Victor 04975 - 11000 - - 11.075 8070
Kar Hing Lam 0075 4200 4800 - - 3075 8140
In Tak Chuen, Edmond 0475 1800 5 500 - - 7315 6020
Fok Kin Ning, Canning 0075 - - - - 0075 0070
Andrew John Hunter 0675 6025 3706 0602 - 10408 1680
Chow Woo Mo Fong, Susan ™ 0075 - - - .- 0.075 0070
Frank John St 0075 - - - - 0075 0070
Tso Kai Sum ™ 0075 - - - - 0075 0070
Cheong Ying Chew, Henry @ 0180 - - - - 0180 0160
Barne Cook 0G5 - - - - 0075 6070
Kwan Bing Sing, Enc 0018 1815 - 0180 - - 2013 g610
Kwok Eva Lea @ 0155 - - - .- 0155 0140
Lan Hong Tsung, Davd 2@ 0155 - - - - 0.155 4140
Lee Pur Ling, Angelina 0075 - - - - 0075 0070
George Colin Magrus 0075 - - - T . [0 075 ¢ 070
Colin Stevans Russel @ 0180 - - - - 0180 0160
Sng Sow-Mel @ 0155 - - - - 0.155 0140
Total for the year 2007 1668 13 840 25,006 0782 - 41296
Total for the year 2006 1520 13700 19060 0770 - 354950

Notes

(1 During the current year, Mr Li Tzar Kuol, victor, Mr Kam Hing Lam, Mr Andrew John Hunter,
Mrs Chow Woo Mo Fong, Susan, Mr Frank John Sixt, Mr Tso Kai Sum and Mr George Colin Magnus each
receved directors’ fees of HK$70,000 (2006 HK$70,000), Mr Fok Kin Ning, Canning recewved director's fees of
HK$120,000 (2006 HK$120,000) from Hongkong Electric Except for HK$70,000 (2006 HK$70,000) recelved by
Mr George Colin Magaus and HK$70,000 receved by Mr Andrew John Hunter in 2006, the directors’ fees totalling
HK$540,000 (2006 HK$470,000) were then paid back to the Company

(2 INED, ACM and RCM - During the year, Mr Cheong Ying Chew, Henry, Ms Kwok Eva Lee, Mr Lan Hong Tsung,
David, M Colin Stevens Russe! and Ms Sng Sow-Mei have acted as INED and ACM of the Company
Mr Cheong Ying Chew, Henry and Mr Colin Stevens Russel have acted as RCM of the Company dunng the year The
total emoluments paid to these INED, ACM and RCM durning the current year are HK$825,000 (2006 HK$740,000)
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37. Emoluments of Directors and Five Highest Paid Individuals (Cont’d)

Of the 5 individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group, 4 (2006 4) are directors whose emoluments
are disclosed above The aggregate of the emoluments In respect of the remaining 1 (2006 1) indwidual falls
within the band of HK$4,500,001 to HK$5,000,000, details of which are set out below

HK$ mullion 2007 2006 :
Safaries and benefits in kind 3 2
Contributions to retirement plan - 1
Bonuses 2 2
Total 5 5

38. Commitments

(a)  The Group's capital commitments outstanding at 31st December and not provided for in the financial

statements are as follows

Contracted but not Authonised but not
provided for contracted for
HK$ milhon 2007 2006 2007 2006

Investments in associates and
jomntly controlled entities 831 13 - - .

Plant and machnery 12 4 97 - 33

Total 843 17+ 97 33

(b} At 31st December, the Group had outstanding commitments under non-cancellable operating leases In
respect of land and buildings, which fall due as follows

HK$ miliion 2007 2006
Within 1 year 3 4
In the 2nd to Sth year, inclusive - 3

3 7

Total

ANNUAL REPORT 2007 169




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

39, Contingent Liabilities

HKS mullion 2007 2006
Guarantee in respect of bank loan drawn by an associate 2,522 -
Guarantee in respect of bank loans drawn by a jointly controlled entity - 586
Guarantee n respect of performance bonds 59 141
Total 2,581 727

40. Material Related Party Transactions

Dunng the year, the Group advanced HK$30 millon (2006 HK$90 million) to 1ts unlisted associates The Group
received repayments totalitng HK$1 militon (2006 HK$3 rmiilion) from unlisted associates The total cutstanding
loan balances as at 31st December, 2007 amounted to HK$4,550 million (2006 HK$4,237 million), of which
HK$31 million (2006 HK$29 million) bore interest with reference to Australian Bank Bill Swap Reference Rate
and HK$4,186 million (2006 HK$3,791 million) at fixed rates ranging from 10 5 per cent to 11 19 per cent

(2006 from 10 5 per cent to 20 0 per cent) and HK$333 million (2006 HK$417 million) was interest-free
The average effective interest rate of the loan granted to associates 1s 10 5 per cent (2006 10 8 per cent)

As stated In note 6, interest from loans granted to associates dunng the year amounted to HK$432 million
{2006 HK$392 million) Except for a loan of HK$94 mullion (2006 HK$94 million} which was repayable within

fourteen years (2006 fifteen years), the loans had no fixed terms of repayment As stated in note 30, the

amount due to an unlisted associate of HK$175 mitlion (2006 HK$147 milhon} include HK$155 million (2006
HK$ 147 million) bore interest at HIBOR plus O 75 per cent (2006 HIBOR plus 0 75 per cent) and HK$20 million

{2006 nl} with no fixed terms of repayment and interest-free

During the current year, the Group received repayments totalling HK$825 million (2006 HK$270 milhon) from

jointly controlled entities The total outstanding loan balances as at 31st December, 2007 amounted to

HK$396 million (2006 HK$1,376 million), of which HK$251 million (2006 HK$251 million) bore interest with
reference to Hong Kong dollar prme rate, and HK$145 million (2006 HK3$1,125 million} was interest-free The

loans had no fixed terms of repayment

Moreover, the Group’s sales and purchases of infrastructure matenals to/from a jointly controlled entity for the
current year amounted to HK$186 million {2006 HK$190 mullion) and HK$9 mullion (2006 HK3$37 million),

respectively

The emoluments of key management have been presented in note 37 above
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41.

42,

43.

Balance Sheet of the Company

as at é;;t D—ecember

HK$ million 2007 2006
Total assets 30,729 30,701

Total liabilities (202) {(182)
Net assets 30,527 30,519

Representing

Share capital 2,254 2,254
Reserves 28,273 28,265

Total equity 30,519

= 30,527

Of the Group’s profit attributable to shareholders of the Company for the current year, HK$2,308 millicn
(2006 HK$2,177 millien) has been dealt with in the financial statements of the Company

Comparative Figures

As a result of adopting HKFRS 7 “Financial Instruments Disclosures” and HKAS 1 (Amendment) “Capital
Disclosures”, certain comparative figures have been adjusted to conform with changes in disclosures i the
current year and to show separately comparative amounts in respect of items disclosed for the first tme in

2007 Further details are disclosed In note 3

Approval of Financial Statements

The financial statements set out on pages 117 to 175 were approved by the Board of Directors on

17th March, 2008
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PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

APPENDIX 1

The table below shows the subsidiaries as at 31st December, 2007 which, in the opinion of the Directors, principally
affected the results or assets of the Group To give details of all the subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the Directors,

result in particulars of excessive length

Issued share capital

Proportion
of nommnal

value of 1ssued

capital held by

Par value the Group Principal
Name Number pershare (per cent) activities
Incorporated and operating in Hong Keng
Anderson Asia (Holdings) Limited 2 ordinary HK$0 5 100 Investment holding
65,780,000 HK$0 5
non-voting
deferred
Anderson Asphalt Limited 36,000 HK$100 100 Production and
ordinary laying of asphalt
and investment
holding
Cheung Kong China Infrastructure Limited 2 ordinary HK$1 100 Investment holding
and investment
i infrastructure
projects in
Mainland China
China Cement Company {International) Limited 1,000,000 HK$1 70 Investment holding
crdinary
Green Island Cement Company, Limited 76,032,000 HK$2 100 Manufacturing, sale
ordinary and distribution
of cement and
property investment
Green Island Cement (Holdings) Limited 101,549,457 HK$2 100 Investment holding
ordinary
Incorporated in British Virgin Islands
and operating in Hong Kong *
Cheung Kong Infrastructure Finance (BVI) imited 1 ordinary UsH1 100 Financing
Daredon Assets Limited 1 ordinary us$? 100 Treasury
Green Island International (BVI) Limited 1 ordinary Us$1 100 Investment holding
Incorporated and operating in Austraha
Cheung Kong Infrastructure Finance (Australia) 1 ordinary A$1 100 Financing
Pty Ltd
Incorporated and operating in the
United Kingdom
Cambridge Water PLC 14,621,152 £005 100 Water supply
ordinary

Note The shares of all the above subsidianes are indirectly held by the Company
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PRINCIPAL ASSOCIATES

APPENDIX 2

The table below shows the associates as at 31st December, 2007 which, i the opinion of the Directors, principally
affected the results or assets of the Group To qive details of all the associates would, in the opiion of the Directors,

result in particulars of excessive length

Approximate

share of equity
Issued share capital shares held by
Par value the Group Principal
Name Number per share (per cent) activities
Incorporated and operating in Hong Kong -
Hongkong Electnic Holdings Limited 2,134,261,654 HK$1 39 Electncity
{note t) ordinary generation and
distnbution
Eastern Harbour Crossing Company Limited 35,000,000 HK$10 50 Exercise of a
ordinary franchise to
operate the rall
section of a tunnel
Incorporated and operating 1n Australia )
ETSA Utiities Partnership (note 2) N/A N/A 23 Electricity
distribution
CKUHEI Electricity Distrbution Pty Limited 810,000,000 Af1 23 Electricrty
{note 3) ordinary distnbution
CKIHE! Electnicity Distnibution Two Pty 180,000,000 A1 ., 23 Electnicity
Limited {note 4) ordinary distribution
37,188,524,600 A0 01
ordinary
Incorporated and operating in the
United Kingdom
Northern Gas Networks Holdings Limited 571,670,979 £1 40 Gas Distribution
ordinary
1 Special £1
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PRINCIPAL ASSOCIATES

APPENDIX 2 (Cont'd)

Notes

1

2

The assocate 15 isted on Hong Kong Stock Exchange
ETSA Utilities Partnership, an unincorporated body, 1s formed by the following companues

CKI Utilities Development Lemited
HEI Utiities Development Limited
CKI Utilities Holdings Lirmited
CKIHEI Uthities Distnibustion Limited
HEI Utilities Holdings Limited

CKl Utthities Development Limited and HEl Utilties Development Limited, both of which are associates of the Group, own 51
per cent interests in ETSA Utilitres Partnership

The partnership aperates and manages the electnicity distnbution bustness in the State of South Austrahia of Australia

CKIHEI Electnaity Distnbution Pty Limited owns 100 per cent interests in the following companies (“the Powercor Group”)

Powercor Proprietary Limited

Powercor Australia Limited Liabiity Company
Powercor Australia Holdings Pty Limited
Powercor Australia Limited

The Powercar Group operates and manages an electncity distnbution business in the State of Victornia of Australia

CKIHEI Electniaty Distnbution Two Pty Limited owns 100 per cent interests in CitiPower | Pty Ltd, which 1s one of five
electricity distnbutors in the State of Victoria of Australia
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PRINCIPAL JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITIES

APPENDIX 3

The table below shows the jointly controlled entities as at 31st December, 2007 which, in the opimon of the Directors,
principally affected the results or assets of the Group To give detalls of all the jointly controlled entities would, in the
opimon of the Directors, result in particulars of excessive length

Percentage of
interest held Profit sharing
Name by the Group percentage Principal activities

Incorporated and operating in Mainland China

Guangdong Shantou Bay Bnidge Co Ltd 30 30 Operation of
Shantou Bay Bridge

Guangdong Zhuhal Power Station Co, Ltd 45 45 Operation of Zhuhai
Power Station

Guangdong Shenzhen-Shantou ’ 335 335 Operation of
Highway (East) Co , Lid Shenzhen-Shantou
Highway (Eastern

Section)

Incorporated and operating in Hong Kong

Alhance Construction Matenats Limited 50 50 Quarry operation
and production and

sale of concrete and
aggregates
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SCHEDULE OF MAJOR PROPERTIES

APPENDIX 4
Approximate
floor/site area
Group's  attnbutable to
Interest the Group  Existing
Location Lot Number (per cent) {sq.m.) Usage Lease Term
14-18 Tsing Tim Street, Tsing Y1 TYTL 98 100 3,355 I Medium
TMTL 201 Tap Shek Kok TMTL 201 100 152,855 | Medium
Certain units of Harbour Centre Tower 2,
8 Hok Cheung Street, Hunghom KML113 100 5,528 C Medium

| Industnal € Commercial
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PROJECT PROFILES

HONGKONG ELECTRIC HOLDINGS LIMITED

' HONG KONG
Business

Installed capacty
Consumer coverage
CKI's sharehoiding

. e T m— e E T ot e =

: #

Exclusive generator and distnbutor of
electricity to Hong Kong Isfand and Lamma
Istand

3,756 MW

550,000 customers

38 87%

EIT!POWER I”PT\'Z- LTD .
VIcT ORIR"fAUSTRALiA 5 i
Busnness AR R -

Electr|c|ty dlstrlbutmn network 4 013 km A
Consumer coverage .

'Cl(l‘s sharehoidlng

ST

aOperates the electnaty dlstnbutlon network
e "f‘mg‘the central business dlsmct and Jnner 9

AT T R e e S

-

- o
'
? ;%*‘ugs
M

«

B or
L - *

FEREA

o
suburban aréas of, MelbournEaethona N
hd r

.

300 000 customers =
23'07% (another 27 93% held by Hongkong
Electrnic)

USTRALIA
usiness

L
FNVESTRA LIMITED

Australia's largest distnbutor of natural gas

Jatural gas distfibution network 20,000 km

sonsumer coverage
i:l(l's shareholding

1 mullion custormers
16 8%

‘STSA UTLLITIES

30UTH AUSTRALIA, AUSTRALIA

lusiness

ilectnaity distribution network

-onsumer coverage
ZKI’s shareholding

Pnmary electricity distribution business for
the state of South Australia

85,500 km

792,000 customers

23 07% {another 27 93% held by Hongkong
Electric)
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Sparkinfrastructure
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NORTHERN GAS NETWORKS LIMITED

THE UNITED KiNGDOM

Business One of the eight major gas distnbution
networks in the United Kingdom

Natural gas dlstrlbutlon nétwork 36,000 km

Consumer coverage 25 million consumers.
CKI's shareholding 40% (another 199% held by Hongkong
R : Electric) '

POWERCOR AUSTRALIA LIMITED

VICTORIA, AUSTRALIA

Business > Operates a major electricity distnbution
network, covering an area of over
150,000 sqg km in the state of Victornia

Electncity distnbution network 80,000 km

Consumer coverage 673,000 customers
CKI's shareholding 23 07% {another 27 93% held by Hongkaong
Electrnic)

SPARK INFRASTRUCTURE GROUP

AUSTRALIA

Business An infrastructure fund hsted in Austraha with
seed assets being a 49% stake in each of
CitiPower, ETSA Utilities and Powercor

Manager CK! owns 50% interest in the management
company

CKi's shareholding 87%

STANLEY POWER INC,

CANADA

Business Owns 49 99% share of TransAlta
Cogeneration which operates power plants
in the provinces of Ontano, Alberta and
Saskatchewan in Canada

Generation capacity Six power plants with total gross capacaity of
1,362 MW

CKI's shareholding 50% {another 50% held by Hongkong
Electric)
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PROJECT PROFILES

LIAONING, CHINA
Location

Generatign capacty ~

Joint venture contract date
Joint venture expiry date
Total project cost -
CKl's investment
CKI's interest in IV

H

- - -

FUSHUN COGEN PCWER PLANTS

Fushun, Uaoﬁmg Province
150 MW

1997

2017

HK$690 million

HK$414 milion

60%

SIPING COGEN POWER PLANTS

JILIN, CHINA

Location

Generation capacity
Joint venture contract date
Joint venture expiry date
Total project cost

CKl's investment

CKl's interest in JV

Siping, Jilin Province
200 MW

1997

2019

HK$1,610 million
HK$725 rrillion
45%

ZHUHAI POWER PLANT
GUANGDONG, CHINA
Location

Generation capacity

Joint venture contract date
Joint venture expiry date
Total project cost

CKI's investment

CKlI's interest in JV

Zhuhar, Guangdong Province
1,400 Mw

1995

2019

HK$9,493 million

HK$1,284 mithon

45%

JINWAN PHASE 1 POWER PLANT

GUANGDONG, CHINA
Location

Generation capacity

Joint venture contract date
Joint venture expiry date
Total project cost

CKI's iInvestment

CKlI's interest tn JV

Zhuhai, Guangdong Province
1,200 MW

2005

2035

HK$5,741 milhon
HK3$650 million
45%
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INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENTS

TRANSPORTATION
::::g:__‘:_: R e —‘-"'"7"' T - -

'HANGSHA WUJIALING AND WUYILU BRIDGES

JUNAN, CHINAY 5, *
[ocatnon ; " " . Changsha, Hunan Province

load type o * Bridge

-ength 5km '

o of lanes Dual two-lane

oint venture contract date 1997
Joint venture expiry date 2022
Total project cost HK$465 rmillion
CKI's iInvestment HK$206 rmillion ;

JCKl's Interest in IV 44 2%

JIANGMEN CHAOLIAN BRIDGE
GUANGDONG, CHINA

Location Jiangmen, Guangdong Province
Road type Bridge :
Length 2km

No of lanes Dual two-lane

oint venture contract date 1997

loint venture expiry date 2027

Ffotal project cost HK$130 mullion

CKI's investment HK$65 million

1CKI's interest in JV 50%

JIANGMEN JIANGSHA HIGHWAY

GUANGDONG, CHINA
Location Jiangmen, Guangdong Province
Road type Class 1 highway

i Length 21km
No. of lanes Dual two-lane

— o Joint venture contract date 1996

T !Joint venture expiry date 2026
Total project cost HK$207 mullion
CKI's investment HK$103 million
CKI's interest in JV 50%

NATIONAL HIGHWAY 107 (ZHUMADIAN SECTIONS)
HENAN, CHINA

Location Zhumadian, Henan Province
Road type Class 2 highway
Length 114 km
No of lanes Dual two-lane
Joint venture contract date 1997
Joint venture expiry date 2024
Total project cost HK$461 million
. CKI's Investment HK$304 million
CKi's interest in JV 66%
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PROJECT PROFILES

INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENTS

TRANSPORTATION

[=-= - i ot 1 el - - -
R %

PANYU BEIDOU BRIDGE

GUANGDONG, CHINA : '
Location : + -Panyu, Guangdong Province :
Road type o ‘Bridge i
Length, ., : ' 3%km !
No of lanes " Dual three-lane
Joint venture contract date 1959
Joint véhture expiry daté - © 2024 .
Total project cost .- HK3$164 millon
CKI's mvestment HK$66 rmillion
CKI's interest in IV B 40%
SHANTOU BAY BRIDGE. o .
GUANGDONG, CHINA ‘
- ] Location Shantou, Guangdong Province

Road type Bridge
Length 6 km
No of lanes Dual three-lane
Joint venture contract date 1993 .
Joint venture expiry date 2028 .
Totalproject cost HK3$665 million ‘
CKI’'s investment HK$200 million

, CKI's interest in IV 30%

SHEN-SHAN HIGHWAY (EASTERN SECTION)
GUANGDONG, CHINA

Locatton Lufeng/Shantou, Guangdong Province
Road type Expressway
Length 140 km
No of lanes Dual two-lane
T 77 77 7] Joint venture contract date 1993
Joint venture expiry date 2028
Total project cost HK$2,619 million
CKI's investment HK$877 million
CKI's interest in JV 335%

TANGSHAN TANGLE ROAD
HEBEI, CHINA

Location Tangshan, Hebei Province
Road type Class 2 highway

Length 100 km

No of lanes Dual one-lane

Joint venture contract date 1997

Joint venture expiry date 2019

Total project cost HK$187 million

CKi's iInvestment HK$95 million

CKI's interest in JV 51%

182 CHEUNG KONG INFRASTRUCTURE HOLDINGS LIMITED




INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENTS

WATER

- — o — e [P

AQUATOWER PTY LIMITED

~ VICTORIA, AUSTRALIA

Business AguaTower has the exclusive nghts until

- - 2027 to provide potable water to four towns
In Victoria

Consumer coverage Serves a total population of 25,000 ‘

' i

CKlI's shareholding 49%

P

CAMBRIDGE WATER PLC
CAMBRIDGESHIRE, THE UNITED KINGDOM

Business - Supphes fresh water to an area of

1,175 s ke in South Cambridgeshire |
Water distribution system 7 service reservolrs, 10 water towers |
and 2,200 km of water mains
Consumer coverage Serves a total population of 300,000
CKI's shareholding 100% !
SOUTHERN WATER GROUP
THE UNITED KINGDOM
Business Supplies water and waste water services to
the South of England
Length of mains/sewers Water mains 13,568 km
Length of sewers 21,455 km
Consumer coverage Served papulation water - 2 3 million

sewerage — 4 3 milion
CKI's shareholding 475%
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PROJECT PROFILES

INFRASTRUCTURE RELATED BUSINESS
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ALLIANCE CONSTRUCI'ION MATERIALS LIMITED

, HONG KONG

Concrete Division
Business .
Total capacity
CKI's interest
Quarry Division
Business

Total capacity (aggregates)
CKI's interest

Hong wKong‘s iaFgest concrete producer
4 million cubic meters per annum
50%

3 quarries In Hong Kong, 2 quarnes in
Marmnland China

7 million tonnes per annum

50%

ANDERSON ASPHALT
HONG KONG

Business

Total capacity

CKI's interest

—_—

One of Hong Kong's largest asphalt
producers, pavement contractors and
recyclers

Asphalt -1 0 milhon tonnes per annum
Recycling — 0 5 miliion tonnes per annum
100%

GREEN ISLAND CEMENT
HONG KONG

Business

Total capacity

CKl's interest

Only integrated cement producer in Hong
Kong with about one-third market share
Chnker — 1 5 million tonnes per annum
Cement grinding — 2 S million tonnes per
annum

100%
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INFRASTRUCTURE RELATED BUSINESS
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GUANGDONG GITIC GREEN ISLAND CEMENT CO. LTD.
| GUANGDONG, CHINA

E Location Yunfu, Guangdang Province
Bustness Cement production
Total capacity 800,000 tonnes per annum
CKlI's interest T67%

SIQUUOR LIMESTONE QUARRY

o . __{ PHILIPPINES
! Location Siquijor, Philippines
Business Limestone quarry
Total capacity 2 milion tonnes per annum
CKI's interest 40%
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CORPORATE INFORMATION AND KEY DATES

DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

LI Tzar Kuot, Victor (Chairmany)

FOK Kin Ning, Canning (Deputy Chairmany)
CHOW WOOD Mo Fong, Susan*

Frank Jochn SIXT

TSO Kai Sum

* also alternate to FOK Kin Ning, Canning and Frank John SIXT

Independent Non-executive Directors
CHEONG Ying Chew, Henry

KWOK Eva Lee

SNG Sow-mer alias POON Sow Mel

Colin Stevens RUSSEL

LAN Hong Tsung, David

Non-executive Directors
LEE Pu Ling, Angelina
Barre COOK

George Colin MAGNUS

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Colin Stevens RUSSEL {Chairman)
CHEONG Ying Chew, Henry
KWOK Eva Lee

SNG Sow-met alias POON Sow Mel
LAN Hong Tsung, David

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Li Tzar Kuol, Victar {Chairman)
Colin Stevens RUSSEL
CHEONG Ying Chew, Henry

COMPANY SECRETARY
LAW Kai Chung, Edmund

QUALIFIED ACCOUNTANT
CHAN Lol Shun, Dominic

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

IP Tak Chuen, Edmond
Eirene YEUNG

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Bank of Chtna (Hong Kong) Limited

Bank of Nova Scotia

Barclays Bank PLC

Bayerische Landesbank

BNP Paribas

Deutsche Bank AG

The Hongkong and Shanghal Banking
Corporation Limited

The Royal Bank of Scotland plc
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KAM Hing Lam {Group Managing Director)
IP Tak Chuen, Edmond (Deputy Chairman)
Andrew John HUNTER (Chief Operating Officer)

Alternate Directors
MAN Ka Keung, Simon

(alternate to IP Tak Chuen, Edmond)
Erene YEUNG

(alternate to KAM Hing Lam})

AUDITORS
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

LEGAL ADVISERS
Woo, Kwan, Lee & Lo

REGISTERED OFFICE

Clarendon House, Church Street,
Hamilton HM11, Bermuda

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

12th Floor, Cheung Kong Center,
2 Queen’s Road Central, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRARS AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Butterfield Fund Services (Bermuda) Limited,

Rosebank Centre,

11 Bermudiana Road,

Pembroke HMOS,

Bermuda

BRANCH SHARE REGISTRARS AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited,
Rooms 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopeweli Centre,
183 Queen's Road East, Hong Kong

STOCK CODES

Stock Exchange of Hong Kong 1038
Bloomberg 1038 HK

Reuters 1038 HK

WEBSITE

www cki com hk




INVESTOR RELATIONS

For further information about Cheung Kong Infrastructure Holdings Limited,

Ivan CHAN

Cheung Kong Infrastructure Holdings Limited,

12th Floor, Cheung Kong Center,
2 Queen’s Road Central,

Hong Kong

Telephone (852} 2122 3986
Facsimile (852} 2501 4550
Emait contact@cki com hk

KEY DATES
Annual Results Announcement

Closure of Register of Members

Annual General Meeting
Record Date for Final Dividend

Payment of Final Dividend

please contact

17th March, 2008

8th to 15th May, 2008
{both days inclusive)

15th May, 2008
15th May, 2008
20th May, 2008

ANNUAL REPORT 2007

187




This annua! report 2007 (¥ Annual Report”) 1s available in both
English and Chinese Shareholders who have received erther
the English or the Chinese version of the Annual Report

may request a copy In the language different from that
received by writing to the Company’s Branch Share Regstrars,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at
Rooms 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s
Road East, Hong Kong

The Annual Report {in both Enghsh and Chinese versions) has
been posted on the Company’s website at www cki com hk
Shareholders may at any time choose to change your

choice of the language of the Company’s corporate
communication {including but not imited to annual report,
interim report, notice of meeting, arcular and proxy

form} by notice In wniting to the Company’s Branch

Share Registrars
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